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Began participation in the
Enhanced Bought Place
Scheme
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Previous Tsz Wan Shan 1SO 9001 : 2008
Pine Care Elderly Home A AR - CC 2352
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Obtained ISO 9001
certification
ER{31SO 900137

Pinecrest Elderly Centre
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Pine Care’s first care and
attention home — Previous
Pine Care Centre
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Established Quality Assurance
Monitoring Committee
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Previous New Pine Care
Centre
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Chairman’s Statement

ERERE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Pine Care Group Limited
(the “Company”), | am pleased to present this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017.

A YEAR IN REVIEW

The Group is a leading operator of care and attention homes, having served
the elderly in Hong Kong since 1989. Since 1989, we have always emphasised
on the quality and innovation of our services, and have always operated based
on our guiding principles, which include: (i) competence: attracting the best
staff members possible and having the right system in place to help them
reaching their full potentials; (i) respect: respecting the elderly residents like
our families; and (jii) priority: putting the best interests of the elderly residents
above all other matters. In the past 28 years, through good and bad times, we
have always held firmly to these principles, and these are the principles that
have guided us to where we are today.

The Group established its first care and attention home in Hong Kong in 1989,
and now operates a network of nine care and attention homes with over 1,000
residential care places, across five districts in Hong Kong. Our next care and
attention home, Pine Care Place in Yoho Mall | (Extension), is expected to
commence its operation in late 2017.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

The past year has been a significant one for the Group. Since the listing of
shares of the Company (“Shares”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange” or “HKEX”) on 15 February
2017 (the “Listing”), our management team has been focusing on pursuing
growth opportunities and strengthening our operational capabilities in
preparation for the rapidly changing competitive landscape of the industry.

We are pleased to present our first consolidated annual financial results
following the Listing. Our business has performed well and has delivered a
year-on-year revenue growth of approximately 2.6% to HK$177.3 million for
the year ended 31 March 2017 (“FY2017”) from HK$172.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2016 (“FY2016").

Our profit for the year from continuing operations, however, has decreased by
approximately 51.9% to HK$12.4 million in FY2017 from HK$25.8 million in
FY2016, primarily due to the non-recurring listing expenses. We have therefore
presented our results by core EBITDA and core profit for the year to illustrate
our on-going strategy of maintaining and growing core business. Core EBITDA
has decreased by approximately 9.2% to HK$41.3 million in FY2017 from
HK$45.5 million for FY2016 which was primarily driven by the increase in
repair and maintenance expenses of HK$1.0 million for improving facilities of
our care and attention homes, and the increase in medical and professional
fees of HK$3.8 million for obtaining additional temporary workforce to solve
the problem of short-term labour shortage of the Group and for engaging
more physiotherapists through agencies for the preparation of upgrade from
EA2 (Note) to EA1 (Note) under the Enhanced Bought Place Scheme (Note)
for three of our care and attention homes. Core profit for the year has
decreased by approximately 12.9% to HK$24.0 million in FY2017 from
HK$27.5 million in FY2016, which was primarily driven by the increase in post-
tax repair and maintenance expenses of HK$0.8 million, and increase in post-
tax medical and professional fees of HK$3.2 million.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREE

As at 31 March 2017, our net gearing ratio was approximately 1%,
representing a decrease of 283 percentage points compared the net gearing
ratio of 284% as at 31 March 2016. With a steady cash flow from operations,
the Board has resolved to declare an interim dividend of HK1.68 cents per
ordinary share, representing a total of approximately HK$15.2 million, for the
year ending 31 March 2018. The Board does not recommend the payment of
a FY2017 final dividend.

Note:

“Enhanced Bought Place Scheme” or “EBPS”: the scheme under which the Social
Welfare Department of the Hong Kong Government (the “SWD”) has purchased
residential care places (beds) from private homes for the elderly since 1998, with a view
to upgrading the service standard of these homes through enhanced service
requirements in terms of staffing and space standard. This also helps to increase the
supply of subsidised places so as to reduce elderly’s waiting time for subsidised care and
attention home places. Elderly homes under the EBPS are split into two categories,
namely EA1 and EA2 with different space standards and staffing requirements.

“EA1”: one of the two categories under the EBPS. EA1 homes have higher requirements
in terms of staffing and per capita net floor area as compared to EA2 homes. As required
under the EBPS, the staffing requirement for an EA1 home with 40 places is 21.5,
calculated on the basis of eight working hours per staff per day, including relief staff, and
its per capita net floor area are 9.5 square metres.

“EA2”: one of the two categories under the EBPS. EA2 homes have lower requirements
in terms of staffing and per capita net floor area as compared to EA1 homes. As required
under the EBPS, the staffing requirement for an EA2 home with 40 places is 19,
calculated on the basis of eight working hours per staff per day, including relief staff, and
its per capita net floor area are 8 square metres.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Demand

Hong Kong’s demand for elderly care services is primarily driven by factors
such as an increase in average life expectancy, a decrease in birth rate, and
an increase in incidence of chronic diseases and psychological deterioration
among the elderly. In the past year, demand for quality elderly care services
has remained strong, as reflected in our occupancy rates. Our overall average
occupancy rate in FY2017 is 92.7%, compared with 94.3% in FY2016. The
slight drop in occupancy rate was due to the renovation of several of our care
and attention homes, and the upgrade from EA2 to EA1 for three of our care
and attention homes, during which some residential care places were kept
vacant during the preparation for the upgrade. Looking forward, we expect the
market demand for our services to remain robust. Additionally, the government
has announced an extension of the Pilot Scheme on the Residential Care
Service Voucher, where eligible private care and attention homes are allowed
to receive service vouchers. We expect the Group to benefit from this new
initiative by the government, as it represents an additional stream of subsidised
customers for our residential care places purchased by individual customers.

Acquisition and Disposal

In early April 2017, the Group completed its acquisition of Tsuen Wan Elderly
Care Services Limited, an operating company of a care and attention home
located in Tsuen Wan. The purpose of the acquisition was to accommodate
the majority of the existing residents of Pine Care (Po Tak Branch) Elderly
Centre, which had to be relocated due to the early termination of the lease by
the landlord. We are pleased to report that the relocation of the residents has
been completed successfully. The new care and attention home was named
Pine Care Chun King Elderly Centre. The premises has a net floor area of
approximately 1,072.5 square metre (equivalent to approximately 11,544.39
square feet), and accommodates 113 residents. A new EBPS agreement with
the SWD for the new care and attention home has also been duly executed.
For details of the acquisition, please refer to the section headed “History,
Development and Reorganisation — Possible Acquisition after the Track
Record Period” and the section headed “Business — Possible Acquisition for
relocation of Pine Care (Po Tak Branch) Elderly Centre” in the prospectus
issued by the Company dated 27 January 2017 (the “Prospectus”) and the
announcement of the Company dated 5 April 2017.

The Group has also entered into a formal agreement to dispose of Pine Care
Centre Limited, the operating company of Pine Care Centre located in Kwun
Tong, in response to the non-renewal of the lease by the landlord. The
transaction is subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions precedent and has
not been completed up to the date of this report. Further details of the
transaction were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 25 April
2017.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREE

EA1 Upgrade

As part of our continual effort to increase service standards, we have applied
to the SWD to upgrade all of our care and attention homes currently classified
as EA2 under the EBPS to EA1 status. We are pleased to report that all of our
upgrade applications have been approved. The requirements for EA1 include
a higher labour ratio and floor area per residential care place, which represent
an improvement in service quality. As a result of the upgrade, the number of
residential care places in Pine Care (Tak Fung) Elderly Centre and Pinecrest
Elderly Centre will be decreased by 17 and 13 places, respectively. However,
the decrease in the number of residential care places and the increased labour
costs will be offset by higher monthly fees. As a result, we expect the overall
financial impact resulting from the upgrade to be immaterial. It is expected that
the upgrade will be completed in the third quarter in 2017.

New Upscale Care and Attention Home — Pine Care
Place

The fitting out of our new upscale care and attention home, Pine Care Place,
located at Yoho Mall | (Extension) in Yuen Long, is well underway. The new
care and attention home has a floor area of 3,105 square metre (equivalent to
approximately 33,424 square feet) and is designed to accommodate 68
residential care places. Pine Care Place is positioned as an upscale care and
attention home. In addition to a higher standard of accommodation and a
higher labour ratio compared to EA1 standards, Pine Care Place will also offer
more individualised services and lifestyle-oriented facilities. The timeline for our
launch has been slightly affected due to a delay in obtaining the occupation
permit by the developer. However, we are still on schedule for commencing
operations in the fourth quarter of 2017. Pine Care Place is the Group’s first
foray into the upscale segment which represents one of the major directions of
the Group’s future growth strategy. Based on our operational capabilities, our
proven track record of delivering quality elderly care services, and the trend for
increasingly higher levels of service, the Group is optimistic about the growth
potentials of the emerging upscale market segment.

Outlook

Looking ahead, the market demand for elderly care services is expected to
remain robust and grow at a faster pace than supply. Together with the
favorable policy environment and our track record as an industry leader, the
Group has every reason to believe that we are well positioned to capture the
opportunities that lie ahead. Nevertheless, as a result of the shifting
competitive landscape and customer expectations, the Group also believes
that reputation, hardware and service quality will become increasingly
important for competitive differentiation in the future. In the short-run, the
labour shortage of the industry is also expected to bring challenges to the
Group.
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Chairman;é Statement

ERBE

In order to facilitate our future developments, the emphasis in the coming year
will be placed on: (j) renovation of our existing care and attention homes for
giving them a fresh look and a betterment of the facilities; (ii) continued
development in our IT system, including launching a new mobile app to allow
family members to access key information of the elderly resident easily; (iii)
strengthening our HR efforts to recruit and retain qualified staff, with the aim to
reduce hiring qualified staff through employment agency; (iv) horizontal
expansion through the acquisition of properties suitable for replicating our
proven business model using the listing proceeds; and (v) entry into the
upscale elderly care segment through Pine Care Place.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank all of our
dedicated staff members for their contributions during this milestone year.
They are truly the foundation on which our business is built. | would also like to
thank our elderly residents and their families for their continued trust and
support over the years. We will continue to work relentlessly to provide
industry-leading elderly care services to our residents. Lastly, | would like to
thank our shareholders for their support in making our IPO a success. We are
excited by the opportunities that lie ahead and are confident in our ability to
execute our business plan to capture these opportunities.

Yim Ting Kwok
Chairman and Executive Director
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Financial Summary

I EE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Revenue

Profit before tax from continuing
operations

Income tax expense

Profit for the year from continuing
operations

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

¢
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Net debt
Net gearing ratio (%)

Note: Net gearing ratio is measured by the net debt (representing interest-bearing bank ffEE -
and other borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) over net assets.
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2
mEHEE
BZ3A3HLEE
Year ended 31 March
2017 2016 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT FHET FHET
177,286 172,749 163,785 147,937
17,387 31,105 48,645 17,676
(4,956) (5,285) (5,893) (8,392
12,431 25,820 42,752 14,284
12,409 27,255 44,543 15,134
27,255 43,291 14,439
- 1,252 695
MA3A31H
As at 31 March
2017 2016 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT FAET FAT
240,988 237,715 303,213 322,335
184,308 76,412 101,874 78,939
52,128 71,789 295,044 314,659
373,168 242,338 110,043 86,615
164,959 178,419 19,500 18,300
208,209 63,919 87,618 66,642
- - 2,925 1,673
208,209 63,919 90,543 68,315
2,585 181,328 250,130 281,377
1% 284% 276% 412%
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Revenue

Profit before tax from continuing

operations
Depreciation

EBITDA

Profit for the year from continuing 3 B E K& EEM

operations

Profit for the year attributable to the xR F#ERIFHE A
equity holders of the Company

Core EBITDA
Reconciliations:

EBITDA

One-off items
Relocation expenses
Listing expenses

Other income and gains
Other expenses

One-off items

Core EBITDA

f=a+b+c+d+e

Kz

R A A
e

EBITDA

FEDRF

P4 4 B2 R

#Z/EBITDA
B -

EBITDA
—RIEIAE
B
R

E A Koz

H b~

—RIEA

ZEBITDA

f=a+b+c+d+e

CEESIE

Year ended 31 March Increase/
BESANALFE (decrease) Notes
2017 2016 i&m GRd)  MiE
HK$°000 HK$'000 %
FERT TAT

177,286 172,749 2.6%

17,387 31,105 -44.1%
(8,414) (8,721) -3.5%

29,665 44,646 -33.6% 1

12,431 25,820 -51.9%

12,409 27,255 -54.5%
2
29,665 44,646 -33.6% a
1,514 = b
18,656 1,648 [}
(9,401) (5,359) d
907 4,593 e

11,676 888

41,341 45,634 -9.2% f
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Financial Highlights -
LY EERCE S .

Year ended 31 March Increase/
BE3ASIHLEE (decrease) Notes

2017 2016 #n (R2) Bt
HK$’000 HK$'000 %
FExT FET

Core profit for the year B FEBF 3
Reconciliations: E5 3
Profit for the year from continuing REFBESEEBLDN

operations FEF 25,820 -51.9% at
One-off items, after tax BrBiig— R IEE B
Relocation expenses IRBRIS - b1
Listing expenses Wil 53 1,648 cl
Other income and gains H A R Mzs (4,556) a1
Other expenses EmFs 4,593 el
One-off items, after tax BE#E—K4ES 1,685
Core profit for the year T 27,505 -12.9% f1
fi=al+b1+ci+d1+el fi=a1+b1+c1+d1+el
1 EBITDA represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. 1 EBITDAIEIIG A B « T8 - I E KEIERTRAN -

2 Core EBITDA is adjusted for one-off items including (i) expenses incurred for the 2 ZOEBTDAE A T — X BB (EHH AZ « ()iRE

relocation of Pine Care (Po Tak Branch) Elderly Centre, (i) listing expenses, (iii) MR (RE)EEPOORELEMRX » () EHMAX -
other income and gains and (iv) other expenses. (i) L WA B s A R (iv) A B S o

3 Core profit for the year is adjusted for post-tax one-off items including () expenses 3 BOEEHENERA TR —RIEER (EH R

incurred for the relocation of Pine Care (Po Tak Branch) Elderly Centre, (i) listing ()VRBRR(REB)EEZROPRELENMY (i) £
expenses, (iii) other income and gains and (iv) other expenses. RS (i) B A URA R U ES A R (iv) B Atb B SL o

Core EBITDA and core profit for the year are not standard measures under  #/0» EBITDA A% /0 2 0% K W SEE 7S B 75 S &5 £ A
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) and therefore should ([ FE B EHMEAER ) THELEE - Bt NER
not be considered in isolation or constructed as substitutes for analysis of BB ZEEHREBF BV KRG ENFABAEDHT -
HKFRSs financial measures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERETRE DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue was generated from (i) rendering of elderly home care
services including the provision of residence, professional nursing and care
taking services, nutritional management, medical services, psychological and
social care, and individual care plans; and (i) sale of elderly home related
goods and provision of health care services, in Hong Kong.

Revenue generated from rendering of elderly home care services increased by
approximately 3.3% to HK$151.8 million in FY2017 from HK$146.9 million in
FY2016, which accounted for approximately 85.6% of FY2017 revenue and
85.0% of FY2016 revenue respectively. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in average monthly residential fee despite the slight decrease in
overall average occupancy rate.

Revenue generated from sale of elderly home related goods and provision of
health care services remained stable at HK$25.5 million in FY2017 compared
with HK$25.8 million in FY2016.

Total revenue delivered a year-on-year revenue growth of approximately 2.6%
to HK$177.3 million in FY2017 from HK$172.7 million in FY2016.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains increased by approximately 75.6% to HK$9.4 million
in FY2017 from HK$5.4 million in FY2016, primarily contributed by the gain on
disposal of a warehouse of HK$8.6 million in FY2017.

Depreciation

Depreciation represents depreciation charges for our property, plant and
equipment which comprise land and buildings, leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and other equipment. Depreciation decreased by
approximately 3.5% to HK$8.4 million in FY2017 from HK$8.7 million in FY2016,
which represents approximately 4.7% of FY2017 revenue and 5.0% of FY2016
revenue respectively. The decrease in depreciation was primarily due to certain
facilities of care and attention homes were fully depreciated in FY2017.

Bt 5 [l 8

DE:

A LB Eﬁiaﬁééok1ﬁ%ﬁ%m%'
DEREER SRR RBHRY - BREE -
BRRTS - LR R BRI REAS ﬁﬁ% R i)

HERERAEE R RRHERRERTS

REZERERFEENHREN 2016 FER
146.98 & B L 1E 11 #93.3% £ 20178 I F £ /Y
15188 BB L 2 BIE20178 By & & W = 4
85.6% K A5 2016 B B1 F € 25 £ 85.0% © & h1Th &
ZHRFHEAABEEEN  BEEBEHAMER
BEM T -

HELTEZRABE R RREBEERERSELENK
AL 2016 I B E 258 B E B T 20178 K
FREMEFET  B25588BTT -

BB H2.6%MEFWHILR - #£2016 8 K
FEMI72.7 58T INE 2017 M BREER177.3
BEBI -

Hag A R s
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BETe

e
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TR 2017 B FEZHIE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BT 5T

Staff costs

Staff costs remained to be the largest component of our operating expenses.
Our staff costs include wages, salaries, bonuses, retirement benefit costs, and
other allowances and benefits payable to all employees of the Group. Our
gross staff costs, before netting off with government grants of HK$10.3 million
in FY2017 and HK$9.2 million in FY2016 respectively for hiring specialised
professionals for our elderly residents with dementia or infirmary, increased by
approximately 3.8% to HK$88.6 million in FY2017 from HK$85.4 million in
FY2016, which represents approximately 50.0% of FY2017 revenue and
49.4% of FY2016 revenue respectively. The increase was primarily contributed
by a general salary increment and an increase in the average headcounts
during the year.

Property rental and related expenses

Our property rental and related expenses primarily represent rental payments
under operating leases, government rent and rates and management fees in
respect of our leased properties. Property rental and related expenses
increased by approximately 13.3% to HK$18.8 million in FY2017 from
HK$16.6 million in FY2016, which represents approximately 10.6% of FY2017
revenue and 9.6% of FY2016 revenue respectively. The increase in the
expenses was primarily contributed by the property rental and related
expenses incurred during the renovation period of Pine Care Chun King Elderly
Centre before relocating the residents from Pine Care (Po Tak Branch) Elderly
Centre.

Food and beverage costs

Our food and beverage costs represent costs of all food ingredients and
beverages used for the provision of meals to our residents. The costs
decreased by approximately 2.3% to HK$8.3 million in FY2017 from HK$8.5
million in FY2016, which represents approximately 4.7% of FY2017 revenue
and 4.9% of FY2016 revenue respectively. The decrease in food and beverage
costs was mainly due to the strengthened supply chain management in the
procurement processes.

Utility expenses

Our utility expenses represent costs of water and electricity for our care and
attention homes and office. The costs decreased by approximately 1.5% to
HK$6.9 million in FY2017 from HK$7.1 million in FY2016, which represents
approximately 3.9% of FY2017 revenue and 4.1% of FY2016 revenue
respectively. The decrease in utility expenses was mainly due to the continual
application of efficient consumption strategies to save water and electricity
and reduce energy consumption.
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Supplies and consumables

Our supplies and consumables represent costs of medical consumable
materials used for our operation. The costs decreased by approximately 2.4%
to HK$5.5 million in FY2017 from HK$5.6 million in FY2016, which represents
approximately 3.1% of FY2017 revenue and 3.3% of FY2016 revenue
respectively. The decrease in supplies and consumables was mainly due to
the strengthened supply chain management in the procurement processes.

Repair and maintenance

Our repair and maintenance expenses are incurred for daily repair and
maintenance works in our care and attention homes to ensure the quality and
safety of the premises and facilities. The expenses increased by approximately
75.7% to HK$2.4 million in FY2017 from HK$1.3 million in FY2016, which
represents approximately 1.3% of FY2017 revenue and 0.8% of FY2016
revenue respectively. The increase in repair and maintenance expenses was
primarily driven by initiatives for improving facilities of our care and attention
homes.

Other operating expenses

Our other operating expenses primarily consist of (i) medical and professional
fees incurred for engaging external visiting medical officers, dietitians and
pharmacists, and additional manpower of physiotherapists, care workers and
health workers through employment agencies; (ii) insurance policies for all of
our care and attention homes such as business interruption, malicious attack,
professional indemnity and employment compensation; (jii) cleaning expenses
for our care and attention homes; (iv) legal and professional fees, and audit
fee; and (v) various operating expenses.

The expenses increased by approximately 45.3% to HK$17.3 million in
FY2017 from HK$11.9 million in FY2016, which represents approximately
9.8% of FY2017 revenue and 6.9% of FY2016 revenue respectively. The
increase in other operating expenses was primarily driven by an increase in
medical and professional fees of HK$3.8 million for obtaining additional
temporary workforce to solve the problem of short-term labour shortage of the
Group and from engaging more physiotherapists through employment
agencies for the preparation of upgrade from EA2 to EA1 under the EBPS for
three of our care and attention homes.

Other expenses

Other expenses decreased by 80.3% to HK$0.9 million in FY2017 from
HK$4.6 million in FY2016, primarily because net fair value loss on investment
properties, impairment loss on disposal groups classified as held for sale, and
loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments which was one-off in
FY2016. Other expenses in FY2017 mainly represented stamp duty in relation
to the reorganisation of the Group for the purpose of the Listing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Listing expenses

Listing expenses represent fees to various professional parties in connection
with the Listing. Listing expenses increased by approximately 11.3 times to
HK$18.7 million in FY2017 from HK$1.6 million in FY2016, primarily because
most of work by professional parties was performed in FY2017.

Finance costs

Our finance costs mainly represent interest expenses on bank loans. The
finance costs decreased by approximately 19.8% to HK$3.9 million in FY2017
from HK$4.8 million in FY2016, which represents approximately 2.2% of
FY2017 revenue and 2.8% of FY2016 revenue respectively. The decrease in
finance costs was primarily due to the net repayment of bank loans of
approximately HK$15.3 million in FY2017.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense represents Hong Kong profits tax of 16.5% on
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. The income tax expense
decreased by approximately 6.2% to HK$5.0 million in FY2017 from HK$5.3
million in FY2016. The decrease in income tax expense was primarily
attributable to the decreased current tax due to decreased assessable profits,
partially offset by an increase in deferred tax charge.

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company and Core profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company decreased by
approximately 54.5% to HK$12.4 million in FY2017 from HK$27.3 million in
FY2016, primarily due to one-off listing expenses.

After deduction of the post-tax one-off items including expenses incurred for
the relocation of Pine Care (Po Tak Branch) Elderly Centre, listing expenses,
other income and gains, and other expenses, the core profit for the year has
decreased by approximately 12.9% to HK$24.0 million in FY2017 from
HK$27.5 million in FY2016 which was primarily driven by the increase in post-
tax repair and maintenance expenses of HK$0.8 million for improving facilities
of our care and attention homes, and increase in post-tax medical and
professional fee of HK$3.2 million as a result from obtaining additional
temporary workforce to solve the problem of short-term labour shortage of the
Group and from engaging more physiotherapists through agencies for the
preparation of upgrade from EA2 to EA1 under the EBPS for three of our care
and attention homes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Property, plant and equipment

Our property, plant and equipment consist of land and buildings, leasehold
improvements, furniture, fixtures and other equipment, motor vehicles and
construction in progress. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the Group’s net property, plant and
equipment amounted to HK$195.7 million and HK$193.4 million respectively.
The increase of HK$2.4 million was primarily due to net effect of the renovation
works of Pine Care Place which led to an increase in construction in progress
of HK$10.4 million in FY2017, and depreciation of HK$8.4 million provided in
FY2017.

The Group’s land and buildings, which were stated at cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position, were valued at HK$553.3 million as at 30
November 2016 in the Prospectus in connection with the listing of the
Company’s shares on 15 February 2017. Had the Group’s land and buildings
been included in the consolidated financial statements at such valuation
amount throughout the year ended 31 March 2017, an additional depreciation
charge of HK$10.0 million would have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in FY2017.

Goodwill

Goodwill primarily represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the Group carried goodwill of
HK$33.8 million in the consolidated statement of financial position, which
arose from the acquisition of controlling interests in companies principally
engaged in the provision of elderly home care services. No impairment was
noted based on the goodwill impairment assessment performed by our

management.

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, our interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings mainly represented bank loans which consisted of mortgage loans
for financing mortgage payments for our care and attention home premises
and working capital loans for our working capital.
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The effective interest rates pertaining to our bank loans ranged from 1.18% to
3.38% as at 31 March 2017 and from 1.04% to 3.24% as at 31 March 2016;
with the maturity up to year 2035 as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.
Despite an increasing trend of interest rates is expected in the foreseeable
future, we are confident in managing our finance costs through repayments of
the bank loans via our steady cash inflows generated from operations.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our net assets amounted to HK$208.2 million and HK$63.9 million as at 31
March 2017 and 31 March 2016 respectively. The increase in net assets was
primarily due to the cash proceeds of HK$149.0 million and HK$26.8 million,
from the initial public offering of the Company which was completed on 15
February 2017 and the completion of issue of 38,880,000 additional shares of
the Company (the “Over-allotment Shares”, as defined in the announcement
of the Company dated 20 February 2017) on 23 February 2017 respectively.
After the deduction of direct costs associated with the Listing and the issue of
the Over-allotment Shares, the total net proceeds generated from the initial
public offering of the Company and the issue of the Over-allotment Shares
amounted to HK$137.5 million.

As at 31 March 2017, our cash and bank balances amounted to HK$175.2
million (31 March 2016: HK$17.3 million) and were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars; and our net current assets were HK$132.2 million (31 March
2016: HK$4.6 million). The current ratio, being current assets over current
liabilities, was approximately 3.5 times as at 31 March 2017, which increased
from approximately 1.1 times as at 31 March 2016.

As at 31 March 2017, our interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounted to HK$177.8 million (31 March 2016: HK$198.6 million), among
which HK$32.0 million, HK$54.4 million, HK$42.7 million, and HK$48.7 million
were repayable within one year or on demand, in the second year, in the third
to fifth years (both years inclusive), and beyond five years respectively (31
March 2016: HK$31.3 million, HK$22.9 million, HK$81.4 million, and HK$62.9
million respectively). As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, all of our
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and the majority of our interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
were secured by the land and buildings of the Group.

Net gearing ratio is measured by the net debt (representing interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) over net assets.
As at 31 March 2017, our net gearing ratio was 1%, representing a decrease
of 283 percentage points as compared with the net gearing ratio of 284% as
at 31 March 2016.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 February 2017 (the
“Listing Date”), and the Over-allotment Shares were issued on 23 February
2017. There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company
since then. The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other

reserves.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates principally to the Group’s
bank loans which are based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The
Group mitigates the risk by monitoring closely the movements in interest rates
and reviewing its banking facilities regularly. The Group has not used any
interest rate swap to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2017, if the interest rates on borrowings had been 25 basis
points higher/lower, which was considered reasonably possible by
management, with all other variables held constant, the profit after tax for the
year would decrease/increase by HK$0.4 million (FY2016: HK$0.5 million) as a
result of higher/lower interest expenses on bank borrowings.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding
and flexibility through the use of bank loans. In addition, banking facilities have
been put in place for contingency purposes.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an on-going basis.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets comprise cash and bank
balances arising from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
that equals to the carrying amounts of these instruments. There is no
significant concentration of credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial
assets.

Foreign currency risk
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk, and hence the
Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The capital expenditure during the year was primarily related to additions of
construction in progress incurred by the renovation for Pine Care Place and
additions of facilities in various care and attention homes. In FY2017, the
Group incurred capital expenditure in an aggregate amount of HK$10.7 million
(FY2016: HK$14.1 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not have any material off-balance sheet
arrangements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Acquisition and Disposal” in this
report, there were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries in
FY2017.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not have any significant investments held.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 March 2017, the Group has capital commitments of HK$3.3 million,
for the renovation of Pine Care Place.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2017, land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$181.4 million (31 March 2016: HK$190.0 million) and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount of HK$2.9 million (31
March 2016: HK$7.6 million) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group. At 31 March 2016, the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$29.9 million were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had a total of 465 full-time and part-time
employees (31 March 2016: 457 employees). Our staff costs (excluding
government grants) were HK$88.6 million in FY2017 (FY2016: HK$85.4
million).

The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees are competitive, and
employees are rewarded on a performance related basis, together with
reference to the profitability of the Group, prevailing remuneration benchmarks
in the industry, and market conditions within the general framework of the
Group’s remuneration system.
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In addition, the Group also adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of motivating eligible participants to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract
and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going business relationship with such
eligible participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include, but not limited to, the directors including independent non-executive
directors of the Group, full-time or part-time employees of the Group, and
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, and such other persons who in
the sole opinion of the directors will contribute or have contributed to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme was conditionally adopted on 23 January
2017. From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to
the date of this report, no share option has been granted or agreed to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

The remuneration of the directors are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board, according to the relevant director’s
experience, responsibility, workload and the time devoted to the Group, the
Group’s operating results and comparable market statistics.

INTERIM DIVIDEND

The Board resolved to declare an interim dividend of HK1.68 cents per
ordinary share for the year ending 31 March 2018 to the Company’s
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on a record date of Friday, 23 June 2017. The interim dividend will
be paid to the shareholders on Friday, 7 July 2017.

In order to be entitled for the said interim dividend, unregistered holders of
shares of the Company should ensure that all share transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, are lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong,
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 June 2017.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, aged 67, is one of the co-founders of the Group. He
was appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 and was
designated as the Chairman of the Board and an executive director of the
Company on 7 September 2016. He is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yim is also a director of the Hong Kong
subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for formulating business
strategies, managing the business operations of the Group and overseeing the
general performance of the Group.

Mr. Yim co-founded the Group in 1989 with Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, a non-
executive director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, through the
establishment of the first care and attention home. He has over 27 years of
experience in the residential care home for the elderly (the “RCHE”) industry in
Hong Kong. Mr. Yim also holds the following positions of responsibilities in the
following organizations, which are relevant to the business of the Group: the
industry consultant of The Elderly Services Association of Hong Kong since
2009, and the Review Board Member of Hong Kong Association of
Gerontology Management Review Board since 2013.

Apart from his experience in the RCHE industry, Mr. Yim also had over 30
years of experience in education and had been founders, principals and
supervisors of a number of schools in Hong Kong. Currently, he is one of the
school managers of Cherish English School & Kindergarten and the supervisor
of James Anglo-Chinese Kindergarten, both of which are founded by him. Mr.
Yim is a director of each of Pine Active Care Limited, Silverage Pine Care
Limited and Silverage Pillar Limited (controlling shareholders of the Company),
the spouse of Ms. Cho Wing Yin (an executive director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company), and the father of Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei (the chief
executive officer of the Group, an executive director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin (head of operations
of the Group, an executive director and a controlling shareholder of the
Company).

Ms. Cho Wing Yin, aged 66, was appointed as a director of the Company on
18 August 2015 and was designated as an executive director of the Company
on 7 September 2016. She joined the Group in September 1994 as a director
of Hinta Enterprises Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Ms. Cho is a director of the Hong Kong subsidiaries of the
Company. She is responsible for the administration affairs of the Group. She
has over 21 years of experience in the RCHE industry in Hong Kong.
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Apart from her experience in the RCHE industry, Ms. Cho also had over 20
years of experience in education and had been principals of a number of
schools in Hong Kong. Ms. Cho completed a two-year part-time course of in-
service training for kindergarten teachers in October 1978. She was granted
the status of qualified kindergarten teacher by the Education Department of
Hong Kong in October 1978. She also obtained a certificate of registration as
a teacher issued by the Director of Education in Hong Kong in May 1981 and
a certificate of registration as a manager of a school issued by the Director of
Education in Hong Kong in January 1985 in respect of James Anglo-Chinese
School Kindergarten (Tuen Mun Branch).

Ms. Cho obtained a Certificate in Kindergarten Education (Chinese) from The
Hong Kong Institute of Education (now known as The Education University of
Hong Kong) in December 1998, a degree of Bachelor of Education in Early
Childhood Education from Hong Kong Baptist University in November 2005,
and a Diploma in Applied Gerontology from Hong Kong Association of
Gerontology and Hong Kong Institute of Gerontology in September 2010. She
also completed the Principal-ship Training Course for Kindergarten Principals
and Child Care Centre Supervisors at The University of Hong Kong in June
2003 and Health Worker Training Course from Hong Kong Institute of
Gerontology in April 2007. She was registered as a health worker by the SWD
in June 2007. Ms. Cho is a director of Silverage Pine Care Limited (a
controlling shareholder of the Company), the spouse of Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (an
executive director, the Chairman of the Board and a controlling shareholder of
the Company), and the mother of Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei (the chief executive
officer of the Group, an executive director and a controlling shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin (head of operations of the Group, an
executive director and a controlling shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, aged 39, the chief executive officer of the Group, was
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 and was
designated as an executive director of the Company on 7 September 2016.
He is also a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He
joined the Group in May 2009 as a director. Mr. Billy Yim is a director of the
Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for formulating
business strategies, managing the business operations of the Group and
overseeing the general performance of the Group.
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Mr. Billy Yim obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering in
Industrial and Operations Engineering from The University of Michigan in the
U.S. in April 2000, a degree of Master of Science in Electronic Commerce
from Carnegie Mellon University in the U.S. in May 2003, and a degree of
Master of Business Administration from INSEAD (Fontainebleau (France) &
Singapore) in December 2007. He was a member of the executive committee
of The Elderly Services Association of Hong Kong from 2009 to 2013.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Billy Yim worked for United Airlines Inc. in
Chicago, the U.S., from August 2000 to February 2002, with his last position
being business analyst, Research and Development. He also worked at Best
e-Solutions Limited in Hong Kong from November 2003 to July 2005, with his
last position being assistant vice president, business development, and HSBC
Private Bank (Suisse) SA in Hong Kong from March 2008 to February 2009,
with his last position being assistant vice president. Mr. Billy Yim is a director
of Silverage Pine Care Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company), a
son of Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (an executive director, the Chairman of the Board
and a controlling shareholder of the Company) and Ms. Cho Wing Yin (an
executive director and a controlling shareholder of the Company), and a
brother of Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin (head of operations of the Group, an
executive director and a controlling shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Chan Yip Keung, aged 34, has been appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group since April 2015. He was appointed as a director of the
Company on 30 April 2016 and was designated as an executive director of
the Company on 7 September 2016. Mr. Chan is responsible for accounting
and finance matters, business and operation analysis, and cost control
measures of the Group.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
(Professional Accountancy) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2005 and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2009.

He worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers from September 2005 to November
2011 with his last position being manager, assurance, institutional group. Prior
to joining the Group, from November 2011 to April 2015, Mr. Chan was the
finance manager of Mapletree Hong Kong Management Limited under
Temasek of Singapore, specialised in real estate investment trusts sector.
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Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin, aged 29, the head of operations of the Group, was
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 and was
designated as an executive director of the Company on 7 September 2016.
He joined the Group in June 2011 as an operation manager. Mr. Edwin Yim is
a director of the Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible
for overseeing the daily operations of the Group’s care and attention homes.

Mr. Edwin Yim has over five years of experience in the residential care home
for the elderly industry in Hong Kong. Apart from being responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Group’s care and attention homes, he is
responsible for overseeing the development, deployment and maintenance of
the Group’s in-house operational software, accreditation of the Group’s care
and attention homes, management and standardisation of documents and
operating procedures, internal audits on the operations of the Group’s care
and attention homes, and compliance with regulatory requirements. Mr. Edwin
Yim graduated from The University of Manchester in the United Kingdom with
a degree of Bachelor of Science in Computer Science with Business and
Management in July 2011. Mr. Edwin Yim is a director of Silverage Pine Care
Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company), a son of Mr. Yim Ting
Kwok (an executive director, the Chairman of the Board and a controlling
shareholder of the Company) and Ms. Cho Wing Yin (an executive director
and a controlling shareholder of the Company), and a brother of Mr. Yim Billy
Pui Kei (the chief executive officer of the Group, an executive director and a
controlling shareholder of the Company).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, aged 71, one of the co-founders of the Group, was
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 and was
designated as a non-executive director of the Company on 7 September
2016. Mr. Ng is also a director of the Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company.
He is responsible for providing advice on the business strategies of the Group.

Mr. Ng co-founded the Group in 1989 with Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, an executive
director, the Chairman of the Board and a controlling shareholder of the
Company, through the establishment of the first care and attention home. He
has over 27 years of experience in the RCHE industry in Hong Kong.
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Apart from his experience in the RCHE industry, Mr. Ng also had about 30
years of experience in education and had been the principal of a secondary
school in Hong Kong from 1978 to 1993. Mr. Ng completed a two-year part-
time course of in-service training for teachers and was granted the status of
qualified teacher (ICTT Certificate) by the Education Department of Hong Kong
in November 1970. In August 1980, he obtained a Diploma of Management
for Executive Development from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ng
is a director of each of Pine Active Care Limited, Silverage Pine Care Limited
and Silverage Pillar Limited (controlling shareholders of the Company).

Mr. Ma Wing Wah, aged 66, was appointed as a director of the Company on
18 August 2015 and was designated as a non-executive director of the
Company on 7 September 2016. Mr. Ma joined the Group as a director of
Pine Care Elderly Home Development Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, in January 2006. Mr. Ma is also a director of the
Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for providing
advice on the business strategies of the Group.

Mr. Ma obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Architectural Studies from The
University of Hong Kong in November 1974, and a Diploma in Architecture
from Oxford Polytechnic (currently known as Oxford Brookes University) in the
United Kingdom in 1977. He was admitted a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Architects in December 1983 and is a Registered Architect in Hong
Kong. He is an Authorized Person under the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter
123 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and is currently in the Authorized Persons’
Register (List of Architects). Mr. Ma worked at CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
from May 1981 to September 2001, with his last position being a civil
engineering manager, civil engineering branch of the asset management
department. From December 2001 to December 2014, Mr. Ma worked as a
senior architect in The Architects’ Mission, an architectural design and project
management firm. Mr. Ma is a director of Silverage Pine Care Limited (a
controlling shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Lam Yat Hon, aged 57, was appointed as a director of the Company on
18 August 2015 and was designated as a non-executive director of the
Company on 7 September 2016. Mr. Lam joined the Group as a director of
Besting Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in September 1998. Mr. Lam is also a director of the Hong Kong
subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for providing advice on the
business strategies of the Group.

Since 1994, Mr. Lam has been a shareholder and a director of Aplica Pacific
Limited, a company principally engaging in the business of trading of
household appliances and investment holding. Mr. Lam is responsible for the
day-to-day business operations of Aplica Pacific Limited. Mr. Lam is a director
of Silverage Pine Care Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Ping San John, aged 71, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 23 January 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Dr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Medicine and a degree of Bachelor of Surgery (MB BS (HK)) in
October 1971, and obtained a degree of Master of Philosophy from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1994. Dr. Wong is a medical
practitioner with full registration with the Medical Council of Hong Kong.

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 23 January 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Liu has been practicing as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong with
more than 25 years of experience. Mr. Liu graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy in
November 1997, and obtained a degree of Master of Business Administration
from University of Lincoln in the United Kingdom in November 2002. He is a
fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
a fellow member of the Institute of Financial Accountants, the United Kingdom
and a fellow member of the Institute of Public Accountants, Melbourne,
Australia. Mr. Liu is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong, a Registered Financial Planner and a fellow member of the
Society of Registered Financial Planners.

Mr. Liu currently acts as an independent non-executive director of China
National Culture Group Limited (stock code: 745) and Polytec Asset Holdings
Limited (stock code: 208), the securities of both companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He also acts as an independent non-
executive director of abc Multiactive Limited (stock code: 8131), the securities
of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Liu was an independent non-executive director of Dragonite International
Limited (Stock code: 329) from April 2010 to September 2014, the securities
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and an
independent non-executive director of Evershine Group Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 8022) from May 2014 to December 2016, the securities of which
are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.
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Dr. Liu Yuk Shing, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 23 January 2017. He is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Dr. Liu obtained a Higher Diploma in Structural Engineering and a degree of
Bachelor of Engineering in Civil Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1990
and November 1994, respectively. He also obtained a degree of Master of
Science in Engineering from The University of Hong Kong in December 1998,
and a degree of Doctor of Business Administration from Tarlac State University
in the Philippines in December 2013 through distance learning.

Dr. Liu is a professional engineer and has over 25 years of experience in civil,
structural and geotechnical consultancy, as well as project management for
civil and building projects. He is currently a Registered Structural Engineer and
a Registered Inspector, and has the capacity to carry out statutory duties in
Hong Kong under the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). Dr. Liu holds various professional qualifications and memberships in
various professional organisations: a fellow member of The Geological Society
of London, Chartered Association of Building Engineers, The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers, Hong Kong Institute of Steel Construction, Hong Kong
Concrete Institute, and The Society of Operations Engineers; and a member of
The Institution of Structural Engineers, London, The Welding Institute, England,
The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, and The Institution of Civil Engineers;
and a senior member of The Chinese Mechanical Engineering Society. He is
also a Chartered Engineer of Engineering Council, and a Chartered
Environmentalist of Society for the Environment.

Dr. Liu has been working in the construction industry and delivered various
residential, industrial and commercial developments in public and private
sectors under his supervision. Dr. Liu also serves as a committee member and
the chairman of various government and institutional bodies.

Mr. Liu Walter Joseph, aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 23 January 2017. He is also a member
of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Liu obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering (Industrial and
Operations Engineering) and a degree of Master of Science in Engineering
from The University of Michigan in the U.S. in April 2000 and April 2001,
respectively. After graduation, Mr. Liu has been working for American Express
since July 2001 and is now working as the chief credit officer of Asia Region in

American Express.

30 Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2017

BEREL - 485 N20174F1 A23 BEZEAB
UERITESR - WAL RRBEZRZEGRIEEE
BEgKE -
BEIRN1990F 11 AKX 1994 F 11 A D RIESREE
BTERABEBEIAB)NEBIRESHUR
MERTIRHTIREEBEL BN o FIN1998F 12
PRESEBANSHN TIZEPEELTEM - 2013
FI2ABPBEEREESFREAER I AEMNT
REEE LB -

BELR-REXTRA  £LAK BBRELT
RHRAAREEAEMEAR EAR5FER - WAR
A TR EEMERAS  CERMERES
EDIEA2BECGREM G BT REAERT - Z1E
ITRHAESEEERBOTAZEERRSE  RA
WEZ2E  HBEFAEFIEMEBE  BEIIREM
2g FRNERESe FABERLES BET
RENEGNEREGE  KEEBIRENEE  RE
BiEEe  ZERFTFHERE  KEITKITIZA
Zegnes RTPEERIEZ2ENSAEE - K
MREETZERMNETIEZE  REBRRREN
RFRFIRIEAD o

BET-BERERERX YERZIEETZRA
RAAHMMEZETE TEREEREER - B
BEITEEZEBRNREEERNZEEKEME
o

W O

ZIBELAE - 3858 - N2017F 1 A3 AEZEARR
REVBIUIFATES - WRITRARABRREER
FHEZEEKE -

2|5 £ R 2000 4 A 2001 F4 A5 BIESEEZ
ARASHIRB(TEREETIR)BEE T2
kI EEELBi - 2E%  2X4EH2001F
7TAR—EABRNERER  RAEZHEATMNEE

EiRE -



Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EEREREEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chu Lai King, aged 64, is the head of human resources of the Group.
She joined the Group in July 1989 as home manager. Ms. Chu is responsible
for recruitment and human resources matters of the Group. Ms. Chu was also
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 but resigned as a
director of the Company on 30 April 2016 to streamline the structure of the
Board and to focus on the day-to-day operation of the Group.

Ms. Chu obtained a Diploma in Gerontology from School of Professional and
Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong in August 2005.

Ms. Pun Shuk Kan Pisa, aged 52, is one of the nursing directors of the
Group. She joined the Group in January 1998 as an enrolled nurse. Ms. Pun is
responsible for the quality control of the elderly care services provided by the
Group.

Ms. Pun has been a registered nurse since June 2006. Prior to joining the
Group, she worked for Sik Sik Yuen Elderly Service from June 1993 to August
1997. She obtained a Higher Diploma in Nursing from The Open University of
Hong Kong in June 2006 and completed the Assessors Training Course (2015)
1st Class organised by the Hong Kong Association of Gerontology in
November 2015 under the Residential Aged Care Accreditation Scheme.

Ms. Yam Hau Kam, aged 50, is one of the nursing directors of the Group.
She joined the Group in February 1990 as an enrolled nurse. Ms. Yam is
responsible for the quality control of the elderly care services provided by the
Group.

Ms. Yam has been a registered nurse since June 2006. Prior to joining the
Group, she worked for United Christian Hospital from February 1989 to
October 1989. She obtained a Higher Diploma in Nursing from The Open
University of Hong Kong in June 2006 and completed the Assessors Training
Course (2015) 1st Class organised by the Hong Kong Association of
Gerontology in November 2015 under the Residential Aged Care Accreditation
Scheme.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance in
maintaining its corporate transparency and accountability. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) since the Listing Date (i.e. 15 February 2017).

The Board considers that during the period from the Listing Date to 31 March
2017 (the “Report Period”), the Company has complied with all the code
provisions set out in the CG Code. Key corporate governance principles and
practices of the Company are summarised below.

A THE BOARD
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control and
management of the Company and oversees the Group’s
business, strategic decision and performances in the attainment
of the objective of ensuring effective functioning and growth of
the Group and enhancing value to investors. All the directors
carry out their duties in good faith, take decisions objectively and
act in the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all
times.

The Board has power to make its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All directors have timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the Company Secretary and senior
management, with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any director
may request for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.
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A2.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the
above-mentioned officers. The Board has the full support of the
senior management to discharge its responsibilities.

Board Composition
The composition of the Board during the Report Period is as

follows:

Non-executive directors

FUTES

Executive directors

BITES

A2.

EESCOHRASENAEERREE
MERAEEEZUENIRBE - EZIR
WITHBS R TIEE R MBS miT - &
MERE BRI LERAERRSA]
BELEERSHE SREEERN
SHESSRBITHBE -

EEEMAER
REHBERSNARNT

Independent non-executive directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (Chairman)
Ms. Cho Wing Yin
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Yip Keung
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex
Mr. Ma Wing Wah
Mr. Lam Yat Hon

BEBRLE (&) REEELE
Bkt B/oKERSE
BOmESE (TTHARE) MIRESLE
BREE® L
BOmEr A

Throughout the Report Period, the Board has met the
requirements of the Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of having a
minimum of three independent non-executive directors
(representing at least one-third of the Board) with at least one of
them possessing appropriate professional qualifications and
accounting and related financial management expertise.

Dr. Wong Ping San John

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang
Dr. Liu Yuk Shing
Mr. Liu Walter Joseph
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A3.

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of the
Group. Each executive director is responsible for different
business and functional division of the Group in accordance with
his/her expertise. The non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) bring different business
and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement
to the Board and they are invited to serve on the Board
committees of the Company. Through participation in Board
meetings, and taking the lead in managing issues involving
potential conflicts of interests, the independent non-executive
directors have made contributions to the effective direction of the
Company and provided adequate checks and balances to
safeguard the interests of both the Group and the shareholders.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
relationships between Board members, if any, are set out under
“Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual report.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director of his independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive directors to be
independent in light of the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Company supports the division of responsibility between the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer in order to
ensure a balance of power and authority and preserve a
balanced judgement of views. Currently, Mr. Yim Ting Kwok
takes up the role of the Chairman of the Board and is responsible
for the management of the Board and ensuring that all major and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely and
constructive manner; whereas Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei is the Chief
Executive Officer, who takes care of the day-to-day management
of the Group’s business and implementing the Group’s strategic
plans and business goals.
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A4.

A5.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term.
Each director is engaged for an initial term of 3 years. The
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than
3 months’ written notice.

The procedures and process of appointment and removal of
directors are laid down in Company’s Articles of Association (the
“Articles”). According to the Articles, one-third of the directors
for the time being (if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation at each annual general meeting (the “AGM”)
provided that every director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The retiring directors
shall be eligible for re-election at the relevant AGM. In addition,
any new director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the first general meeting of shareholders
after his/her appointment, and any director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following AGM. The director appointed by the
Board as aforesaid shall be eligible for re-election at the relevant
general meeting.

Training and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed director shall receive formal induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that
he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

The existing directors are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, and the business and market changes
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefings and professional development for directors are arranged
whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials on new or
changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to the Group
are provided to directors from time to time for their studying and
reference.
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The directors of the Company are required to submit to the ARBEFERSHRFERAR TR
Company details of the training they received in each financial THDESHIEIFE LSRR AT%
year for the Company’s maintenance of proper training records BEEREE Y% - RIEAARE
of the directors. According to the training records currently BT AISIREEE  RAREERIRE
maintained by the Company, during the Report Period, the R ETFREERTASTRIEXE
directors of the Company have complied with the code provision AB5{E  2MAFEZHEZINT

A.8.5 of the CG Code on participation in continuous professional

training as follows:

Type of training
FIER
Reading materials

Attending seminars/ provided by
conferences and/ the Company or
Name of director or forums external parties
HEWHE BIERALQTR
EEpE BER RRE  INPEBRANTE
Executive directors: HITESE -
Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (Chairman) BEBSE () 4 v
Ms. Cho Wing Yin ikt v/ v/
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei BomELAE v v
(Chief Executive Officer) (T A )
Mr. Chan Yip Keung BREESR A& v 4
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin BOBEF A 4 4
Non-executive directors: HHITESE
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex REELE v/ v
Mr. Ma Wing Wah BKERE v 4
Mr. Lam Yat Hon MRE A 4
Independent non-executive directors: B IEHITEE -
Dr. Wong Ping San John H5TILEE v/ v/
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang BEERE v 4
Dr. Liu Yuk Shing BEKEL v 4
Mr. Liu Walter Joseph RE@mEE v v
Note: These seminars/conferences/materials are related to regulatory M REMHEG GE MEDEREE
development/updates, directors’ duties, corporate governance or BREH EERE EEAN
other relevant topics HihHRE £ 8
In addition, the directors have attended, prior to the Report AN - BERRERFEAE 2 MEAR
Period, a training session conducted by the Company’s then AEREEERBRNNEEESN LT
legal advisor on directors’ duties and responsibilities under the 17 BI) B H 38 R BOE A T VB S )
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations. BEHIEFIERE -
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A6.

Board meetings

Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the board of
directors of any issuer should meet regularly and board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals and under code provision A.2.7 of the Code,
the chairman of the board should at least annually hold meeting
with the non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) without the executive directors present.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 15
February 2017, no Board meeting was held during the Report
Period.

Subsequent to the Report Period, the Board has held 2
meetings. During the said 2 meetings, the Board, among others,
has (i) discussed and approved the overall strategies and policies
of the Company, (i) reviewed the business performance of the
Group for the quarter ended 31 December 2016, (iii) reviewed
and approved the audited annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2017, (iv) discussed/approved on the
reporting and proposals of all Board committees, and (v)
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group.

The Board would meet at least four times a year in the future, at
approximately quarterly intervals, and the Chairman of the Board
would hold at least one meeting a year with the non-executive
directors (including the independent non-executive directors)
without the executive directors present.

Schedules for regular Board meetings are normally agreed with
directors in advance to facilitate their attendance. At least 14
days’ notice for all regular Board meetings will be given to all
directors and all directors are given the opportunity to include
items or businesses for discussion in the agenda. For all other
Board meetings, reasonable notice will be given. Relevant
agenda and accompanying meeting papers will be sent to all
directors in a timely manner and at least three days in advance of
every regular Board meeting.

No general meeting was held by the Company during the Report
Period.
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A7. Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding the directors’ dealings in the Company’s
securities. Specific enquiries have been made to all the directors
and all directors have confirmed that they have complied with the

Model Code throughout the Report Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”), governing securities transactions by employees
who are likely to possess inside information of the Company and/
or its securities. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by relevant employees was noted by the

Company.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for
dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify its

directors and relevant employees in advance.

A8. Corporate Governance Functions

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the
CG Code. The Board has reviewed and monitored the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, the
training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and the Employees Written
Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code

and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 3 Board committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees have been established with defined written terms
of reference which are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and
the Company’s website. All the Board committees should report to the

Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

B1. Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of 3 members,
being one executive director, namely Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, and
two independent non-executive directors, namely Dr. Wong Ping
San John (chairman of the Committee) and Mr. Liu Walter
Joseph. Throughout the Report Period, the Company has met
the Listing Rules requirements of having the majority of the
Remuneration Committee members being independent non-
executive directors, as well as having the Committee chaired by
an independent non-executive director.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure, and the
remuneration packages of directors and members of senior
management (i.e. the model described in the code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code is adopted). The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by the Board with reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as
market practice and conditions.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 15
February 2017, no Remuneration Committee meeting was held
during the Report Period.
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Subsequent to the Report Period, the Remuneration Committee
has held one meeting, in which the existing remuneration policy
and structure of the Company and the remuneration packages of
directors and senior management of the Company were reviewed
and relevant recommendations were made to the Board.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band

RiERRE  FHEEERITT —
& TLBIATAR ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁ
&m’fﬁb‘/{&ﬁi"ﬂ%%&%ﬁ&%fﬂﬁﬁﬁ

HNEE 0 YMEFESELARERR
a% °

RIREE AT RISFANESCEB..50 -
HEC017TFE3ABNBILEESRER

for the year ended 31 March 2017 is set out below: [ Rk B 1% & [E 2] 5 &) F E 7 B & 71 40
T
Number of
Remuneration band (HK$) individual(s)
FrNEEE (B A
500,000-750,000 500,000& 750,000 1
750,001-1,000,000 750,001 £1,000,000 2

Details of the remuneration of each director of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements contained in this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of 3 members,
being the Chairman of the Board, namely Mr. Yim Ting Kwok
(chairman of the Committee), and two independent non-
executive directors, namely Dr. Wong Ping San John and Dr. Liu
Yuk Shing. Throughout the Report Period, the Company has met
the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code of having a majority of
the Committee members being independent non-executive
directors, and having the Committee chaired by the Chairman of
the Board.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity perspectives) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy; identify qualified and suitable individuals to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
directors and succession planning for directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Chief Executive of the Company.
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In selecting candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to certain criteria
such as the Company’s needs, the diversity on the Board, the
integrity, experience, skills and professional knowledge of the
candidate and the amount of time and effort that the candidate
will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities.
External recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry out
selection process when necessary.

The Company also recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
To comply with the code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, a
Board diversity policy was adopted by the Company on 23
January 2017, pursuant to which the Nomination Committee is
responsible for monitoring the implementation of the Board
diversity policy and assessing the Board composition under
diversified perspectives (including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, or professional experience).
The Nomination Committee shall report its findings and make
recommendation to the Board, if any. Such policy and objectives
will be reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness
in determining the optimum composition of the Board. The
Nomination Committee considered that an appropriate balance
of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained during the
Report Period.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 15
February 2017, no Nomination Committee meeting was held
during the Report Period.

Subsequent to the Report Period, the Nomination Committee
has held one meeting, in which the Committee members has (i)
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board to
ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements for the business of the Group; (i)
assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
directors; and (iiij recommended the re-election of the retiring
directors at the forthcoming AGM.
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Audit Committee

The Company has met the Listing Rules requirements regarding
the composition of the Audit Committee throughout the Report
Period. The Audit Committee comprises a total of 4 members,
being the 4 independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Liu
Kwong Sang (chairman of the Committee), Dr. Wong Ping San
John, Dr. Liu Yuk Shing and Mr. Liu Walter Joseph. Mr. Liu
Kwong Sang possesses the appropriate professional
qualification, and accounting and financial management expertise
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
financial information and reports of the Group, and considering
any significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers of
the Group or external auditor before submission to the Board;
reviewing the relationship with and the terms of appointment of
the external auditor and making relevant recommendation to the
Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system,
internal control system and risk management system.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 15
February 2017, no Audit Committee meeting was held during the
Report Period.

Subsequent to the Report Period, the Audit Committee has held
2 meetings. During the said 2 meetings, the Audit Committee
has (i) reviewed and approved the audit plan of the Company’s
external auditor, including the nature and scope of audit, audit
methodology, remuneration and terms of engagement in respect
of the audit on the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2017; (ii) considered major audit findings from the auditor;
(iii) reviewed and considered the draft audited consolidated
financial statements, draft annual results announcement and
draft annual report; (iv) reviewed the financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function of the Group; (v) reviewed the compliance of the Deed of
Non-Competition by the Company’s controlling shareholders; (vi)
considered the re-appointment of auditor; and (vi) made relevant
recommendations to the Board.

The external auditor has attended the above meetings and
discussed with the Audit Committee members on the above
audit planning and financial reporting matters. Besides, there is
no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment of external auditor.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2017.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The management has
provided such explanation and information to the Board as necessary
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
information and position of the Group put forward to the Board for
approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Group’s risk management and internal control systems have been
designed to protect assets from misappropriation and unauthorised
transactions and to manage operational risks.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company'’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the interests of the Company’s shareholders and the
Group’s assets. The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems, and makes relevant
recommendations.
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The management, in coordination with department heads and operation
teams, regularly assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, ranked
these risks according to the likelihood and the severity of the impact on
the Group, provided treatment plans, and monitored the risk
management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on any findings and measures to address the variances and
identified risks. Such internal audit function aims to examine key issues
in relation to the accounting practices and all material controls, identify
deficiencies and ineffectiveness in the design and implementation of
internal controls, and propose recommendations for improvement.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 March 2017. Significant internal control
deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a
timely basis to ensure that prompt remediation and subsequent actions
are taken to improve the situations.

Based on the reports submitted by the management and the various
management controls put in place, the Board, with the support of the
Audit Committee, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems (including the financial, operational and compliance controls)
for the year ended 31 March 2017, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. Such review of the risk management and
internal control systems is conducted annually. The annual review also
covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has procedures and internal controls measures for the
Company’s directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been
implemented to ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside
information are strictly prohibited.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chan Yip Keung (also
an executive director of the Company), who fulfils the qualification
requirements laid down in the Listing Rules. Biographical details of Mr.
Chan are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profiles” of this annual report. During the year ended 31
March 2017, Mr. Chan has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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F. EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S F. MERBERZBEME
REMUNERATION
The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their AARINEZEMERERA AR EHE 2017
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements for the FIABILFEMBRRNBREEER
year ended 31 March 2017 is set out in the section headed R ARETR [ B AZBENRE | —&0 -

“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, in FEHE2017F3A31 HIEFENZERE X
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 IR B RIE T B AT,/ FE A AR &) A% Bam % ok
March 2017 are analyzed below: FEAEFANEROTAT ¢
Fees paid/
Type of services provided by the external auditor payable
SPEERZ B IR M Y AR A R A et BB
HK$
BIT
Audit service — audit fee for the year ended ZERYG — B E2017F3A8318IFE
31 March 2017 ZIZEEA 1,280,000
Non-audit services — services provided in connection IEERT RS — AR R B R AFBEERME
with initial public offering of the Company iy 3,196,000
TOTAL: HET 4,476,000

G. COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND G. BERRRREELEESE

INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders AABIMAE BEREMNEREBERERE
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding ERARRMAREEHAEEEBRERSE
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also O THREZFEEE - XEBETHABREER
recognises the importance of transparent and timely disclosure of ERERBEEAREHNEEN  BEBF
corporate information, which enables shareholders and investors to RRRIEEEELREIRERE -

make the best investment decision.
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The Company maintains a website at www.pinecaregroup.com as a
communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s business developments
and operations and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to
the Company as follows:

Address: G/F, 1 Koon Wah Lane, 68-72 Yuk Wah Street, Tsz Wan
Shan, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: investorrelations@pinecaregroup.com
Tel: (852) 2813 8102
Fax: (852) 3020 8779

Enquiries and requests will be dealt with by the Company in an
informative and timely manner.

Besides, shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. Board
members and senior staff will be available to answer questions raised
by the shareholders at general meetings of the Company. In addition,
the Company will invite representatives of the auditor to attend its
annual general meeting to answer shareholders’ questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors, for shareholders’
consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders’
meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after each shareholders’ meeting.
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Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must provide their full
names, contact details and identification, in the originally signed written
requisition, notice or statement (as the case may be), in order to give
effect thereto. Information of shareholder(s) may be disclosed as
required by law.

With respect to the shareholders’ right in proposing persons for election
as directors of the Company, please refer to the procedures available
on the website of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to a special resolution of the shareholders passed on 23
January 2017, the amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company was adopted with effect from the Listing
Date. Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March 2017,
there was no significant change in the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company.

The amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.
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The Board recognises the importance of strong Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) performance in meeting the changing expectations of
stakeholders and enhancing the performance of the Group. The Board has
taken overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting and has
a strong commitment to environmental protection with the mission to promote
an environmental culture among our staff, which will help to maintain
sustainable development of the Group.

With the aim to strengthening and complying with ESG disclosures, as
required under the Listing Rules (ESG Guide, Appendix 27, Main Board Listing
Rules) of HKEX and other relevant rules, the Company has taken the initiative
to formulate policies, monitor progress and report to investors and other
stakeholders on the works in the ESG area.

This ESG Report describes the compliance and progress made by the Group
on our environmental journey during the reporting period. The reporting scope
covers the head office and nine care and attention homes in Hong Kong.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL SUBJECT AREA

Aspect A1: Emissions

As the Group operates care and attention homes for the elderly in Hong
Kong offering a comprehensive range of residential care services,
emissions such as air pollutants arising from the fuel usage of company
cars, are insignificant as compared to companies in certain industries
such as manufacturing. Non-hazardous wastes (chemical wastes,
clinical wastes and the disposal of pharmaceutical products) produced
by the Group are also minimal.

The Group handles pharmaceutical products at our care and attention
homes on a day-to-day basis and disposes chemical and clinical
wastes with care. We deal with the disposal of pharmaceutical products
in accordance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General)
Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Waste
Disposal (Clinical Waste) (General) Regulation (Chapter 3450 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

We have implemented a set of internal policies and guidelines to ensure
that the disposal of chemical and clinical wastes and pharmaceutical
substances are carried out in a safe manner. We have engaged
chemical and clinical waste collection service providers to dispose of
our chemical and clinical wastes. In relation to hazardous waste such
as expired and unwanted pharmaceutical products, we have engaged
qualified waste disposal and recycling companies licensed by the
Environmental Protection Department to handle the disposals.
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In addition, to improve the air quality, the Group has installed high
performance air purifier equipment such as germicidal air deodorisers
for smell control and purification.

During the reporting period, indirect emissions from the Group’s offices
and homes were mainly generated from the consumption of purchased
electricity and electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage.
The Group has been persistent in conducting business in an
environmentally responsible manner and has taken measures to reduce
resources consumption, as reported in the next section.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
The Group has always placed great emphasis on energy and resources
conservation and advocates environmental protection in our daily
operations. To achieve this, the Group has adopted environmental
friendly practices on our office premises.

Resources used in the office are mainly printing paper, electricity, water
and fuel gas for car. Staff are encouraged to minimise paper, water and
electricity consumption.

The Group has implemented energy and water saving practices,
resulting in low consumption levels. To reduce energy consumption, the
Group has installed the CarbonCare LED, which combines LED lighting
with un-validated carbon offset programmes to offer a climate-friendly
solution to the usage of lighting. The workplace temperature has been
maintained at a comfortable level of 23-25°C to encourage energy
conservation and to reduce emissions.

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is principally engaged in providing residential care services,
thus its operations will not consume much natural resource and will not
cause much impact on the environment. Sewage, chemical and clinic
wastes generated from operations are properly processed before
discharge or collection by qualified service providers for processing.

The Group endeavours to comply with applicable environmental laws
and regulations and has adopted effective measures to reduce
wastage, such as using more energy-efficient equipment and adopting
environment-friendly disposal procedures. Our employees are fully
aware that it is important to minimise the impact on the environment
and natural resources when conducting Group operations.
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SOCIAL SUBJECT AREA

Aspect B1: Employment

The Group highly values its employees, as the workforce is not only the
most valuable asset of the Group but is also the solid foundation of
sustainable development. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations regarding employment in Hong Kong and ensures
employees are reasonably remunerated.

A Staff Handbook provides the necessary information and guidelines on
codes of conduct, equal opportunity, termination of service, rewards
and penalties, leave entitlement, and other relevant matters.

Employees are recruited, remunerated and promoted on the basis of
merit, including qualifications, competence, matching expertise to
requirements of the post, and contribution to the Group. No limits are
imposed on age or gender, and there is no discrimination in favour or
against any group of employees. The Group has participated in the
“BY - BERREEBAE” job campaign (“B{EE”) to offer job opportunities to
people with certain disabilities to work in the Group.

In addition, the Group employs imported workers through the
Supplementary Labour Scheme (“SLS”) of the Labour Department. We
confirm that, all imported workers employed by the Group have valid
visa/entry permit to work in Hong Kong and there is no breach of any of
the conditions imposed under the SLS.

Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep within standard
working hours. Overtime compensation and paid leave entitlement are
provided in accordance with relevant labour laws and regulations.

The Group has implemented an annual self-appraisal program to
provide incentives to staff to attain periodic goals. Promotion and
internal transfer will be offered to employees who have shown potential
to rise to the next level at annual review of remuneration packages.

Employees enjoy rights as provided for by laws and the systems of the
Group. Employees of different backgrounds and qualifications enjoy
equal promotion opportunity, salary adjustment, training and
development provision. The Group respects and protects these rights,
and will not tolerate any discriminatory acts in the Group.

During the reporting period, there was no non-compliance or breach of
legislation related to applicable employment laws and regulations.
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy
working environment for all employees. We endeavour to comply with
all relevant laws and regulations on health and safety by routine
evaluation of the hazards and safety of our care and attention homes.
We have instituted internal safety policies and systems to ensure strict
compliance with such requirements.

Due to the nature of our business, incidents at our care and attention
homes could have detrimental effects on the health and safety of our
employees and residents. Accordingly, we have established
standardised workplace health and safety procedures and all
employees are required to comply with such in the operation of our care
and attention homes. These procedures are part of our customised
safety management system, with our Executive Director, Mr. Yim Edwin
Pui Hin, in charge. Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin oversees compliance with all
workplace health and safety measures.

We provide occupational health and safety training to all employees, to
ensure that they have received basic occupational safety knowledge
and to reduce accidents. Besides, we have implemented effective
maintenance procedures to ensure the safe use of equipment in the
Group, including fire protection facilities, furniture and electrical
appliances.

The Group has set up an Occupational Health and Safety Committee,
to conduct regular review of staff health and safety issues, assess latent
crisis possibility, identify risks and suggest solutions to ensure a safe
working environment and minimizing the probability of accidents. We
have developed an effective mechanism to improve the procedures for
reporting industrial injury accidents so that injured employees could
obtain support and follow-up labour compensation. Contingency
procedures and review mechanisms have been set up to provide
appropriate measures to prevent similar accidents.

The Group complies with the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (“BO”) and subsidiary legislation relating to the
planning, design and construction of buildings and associated works
and regular inspection of buildings and associated repairs to prevent
buildings from becoming unsafe.

The Group complies with requirements and specifications for fire service
installations and equipment to be provided for Residential Care Homes
for the Elderly (RCHE), based on Codes of Practice for Minimum Fire
Service Installations and Equipment and Inspection, Testing and
Maintenance of Installations and Equipment issued by the Fire Services
Department from time to time.
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Al fire service installations and equipment installed in the Group’s care
and attention homes are maintained in efficient working order at all
times and inspected by a registered fire service installation contractor at
least once every 12 months, in accordance with the Fire Service
(Installations and Equipment) Regulation (Chapter 95B of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

In the reporting period, the Group has complied with relevant laws and
regulations on health and safety and there were no recorded work-
related injuries or fatalities.

Aspect B3: Development and Training
The Group places great importance on continuing development of
professional knowledge and skills for employees.

The Group has established policies on staff development and training.
The Group provides both internal and external training opportunities for
various levels of employees, including management, operations and
back office supporting staff. The operator and home manager of each
care and attention home is expected to encourage and facilitate
continuous development of staff through internal or external training.

Selected training sessions on occupational safety, stress management,
infection control, drug management, nursing care, mid-career study
and job-related seminars are conducted by professional training
organizations or consulting companies. These enable our staff to keep
abreast of the latest developments in care for the elderly and safety and
health at work. Skills covered include proper manual handling
technique, enhancing awareness of drug safety management and
effective infection control measures.

The Group aims to retain a skilled workforce through systematic training
and professional development and training, which is a recognised
attribute of our dedicated management and workforce.

We believe that our commitment to employee excellence will lead to the
continued growth of our business and enhancement of the quality of
services provided to our residents. Accordingly, we will continue to
increase efforts in human resources management and retention. We are
confident that such efforts will enhance our reputation and appeal as an
employer of choice in the RCHE industry.

52 Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2017

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERERRE

RBER CGRE R RE) RO (FEZEDIE 958
B) MAREKRAREEEE ) E R
RREEEEFNEEENRE U2
P 12EA BN REARERE R -

RS HE ARBEETRERZ2MNEH
EPIRRG) - BEESE TERENZER
BT °

B3EMH : #ERIIK
AEESEEREESARRAGENBR
T

[\YAy
o

o

AEERBRTETERRIIROBEK - RNEH
RSN R AR FI AR & T T R AL R 89 8
8§ BREEE 2ERKRHPET - BE#E
ERMEEERTENEERBAMBRINE
REBRTEE THREERE -

ERXJRHESERATIRBELZD  BH
IR RRRAES  EYEE - EE - hHRE
BB R TR & & 1S P8 FogE 1Tl SRR
i BMERMOETRARTENIELSE
EFEETHEMRNER RERERELE
MENERBERDT RAENLZEZEREER
o N B R PR R R R T

AEEEEEBRGMEIMEXERRIF
FITE— AR E TEE - It RRMEE
MEERE KRB T ARHFME

HAEERARIEEESE S EBHENR
NEREFETRAEPHRBER - it
AP A AL hn A S BIRE IR R AR A0S
He BMBEELRENHER L ERERE
RETERFTHFANBEERERRIREN
LGPk



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HERELRE

The Group will continue to implement an internal rotation system for
management personnel to provide them with greater exposure to our
operations; to develop a career advancement programme with a clearly
identifiable long-term career path to motivate our employees; and to
devise rewards programmes which would encourage our staff to attend
training courses offered by external institutions. We intend to fund this
strategy through our internal resources and/or bank borrowings, as
appropriate.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group attaches great importance to and strictly abides by all
applicable labour laws and regulations on employment such as
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter
608 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and their respective subsidiary
legislations in Hong Kong.

The Group considers child and forced labour unacceptable and must
be strictly prohibited. The Group has instituted a comprehensive
screening and recruiting process to prohibit the use of child labour.

Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep within standard
working hours. All employees are provided with appropriate leave
entitlements, including annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave,

paternity leave and compassionate leave.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group relies on suppliers for food, medical care products,
nutritional milk, other general goods and groceries. Our major suppliers
include traders of groceries, intermediaries referring professional and
qualified staff, and medical care product companies. The Group adopts
an internal quality evaluation system for supplier selection. Standard
procedures and screening criteria are used. The procurement of
equipment, products and services is undertaken through open and fair
competition.
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The Group is keen on selecting suppliers that are socially responsible
and operate in an environmentally sustainable manner. In selecting
suppliers, we perform an assessment on a range of factors, including
the past history of the quality of the supply, timing of delivery, source of
products, price and supplier reputation in the industry. Upon approval
by our Chief Executive Officer, suppliers that meet our criteria are
admitted to our list of approved suppliers. We periodically evaluate the
performance of our approved suppliers. We generally do not enter into
long-term agreements with suppliers. Each supplier has to fill in a
“Supplier Preliminary Assessment Form” for re-evaluation annually. In
respect of the referral of professional and qualified staff, we arrange
interviews with the candidates referred and verify their qualifications by
requesting the referral intermediaries to provide the certifications of
such candidates.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to quality excellence and recognises that
continual improvements are vital to enhancing competitiveness as well
as customer satisfaction. We aim to ensure the delivery of quality

services.

The Group has implemented standardised management and operational
procedures across our network of care and attention homes to ensure
consistency of service quality and to enhance resident experience.
These management and operational procedures cover areas that are
required under the RCHE Code of Practice, Residential Care Home
(Elderly Persons) Ordinance (RCH(EP)O) and its subsidiary legislation,
the Service Quality Standards issued by the SWD, ISO 9001 quality
management system and the ISQua standards accredited by the Hong
Kong Association of Gerontology.

We conduct regular evaluation and peer review of the performance of
our care and attention homes and our employees to ensure compliance
with our standardised operational procedures in the delivery of services
to our residents.

We believe that the qualifications and experience of our qualified staff
are crucial to the competitiveness of the Group. Therefore, we place
significant emphasis on recruitment, training and retention of our
qualified staff.

We recruit our qualified staff based on their qualifications, experience,
reputation and previous compliance records. Suitability and credentials
are assessed through interviews conducted by managers of the relevant
care and attention homes.
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Our human resources department will verify qualifications and conduct
background checking procedures such as reference checks on our
nurses, physiotherapists, social workers and health workers.

Quality Assurance Monitoring Committee

The Group has established a Quality Assurance Monitoring Committee
(“QAMC”) to oversee the quality of the elderly care services provided to
our residents. The composition of the QAMC includes the management
team, employees, families of residents and parties independent of the
Company.

The QAMC s responsible for conducting surprise audits on our care
and attention homes and subsequent to such audits, providing
objective feedbacks to improve our operation processes. The audit
system includes review of the bedrooms, facilities, meal provision
service, medicine dispensation, nursing service, provision of social
activities and attitude of employees. On-site inspections are also
conducted from time to time by QAMC members.

Residential Aged Care Accreditation Scheme

The Group is accredited under the Residential Aged Care Accreditation
Scheme of the Hong Kong Association of Gerontology. Such
accreditation programme promotes best practices in the RCHE
industry, and is currently the only scheme in Hong Kong recognised
internationally, by The International Society for Quality in Health Care.
Accreditation under this scheme ensures that our care and attention
homes have, among others, established effective governance; provided
a safe, hygienic and comfortable environment, facilities and services for
our residents; established a set of planning, supervision and service
improvement processes to meet the needs of residents; and
established an effective information management system.

We conduct periodic surveys with residents and their families. We then
conduct management review meetings to review the survey results and
identify key improvement areas and opportunities, and design and
implement measures to improve on identified deficiencies.

We have also participated in the “Residential Care Homes for the Elderly
Service Quality Team” plan of the SWD since 2013, pursuant to which
members of the service quality team will visit our care and attention
homes on a regular basis. After such visits, the service quality team wiill
make recommendations to the Group and the SWD will follow up on
these with us.
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Individual Care Plan

The Group understands that the specific needs of every elderly resident
are different. As a result, every one of our elderly residents has an
individual care plan that is designed specific to his/her own needs,
which is periodically reviewed and fine-tuned according to progress.

When a new resident is admitted, a three-pronged evaluation of his/her
conditions is conducted by a nurse, a social worker, and a
physiotherapist. Based on the results of the evaluation, an individual
care plan is designed to meet the specific needs of the resident. The
plan is then carried out for a period of 6 months, at which point the plan
is re-evaluated and new objectives for the next 6 months are set. This
ensures that the elderly resident always receives the best and most
appropriate care possible.

Depending on the nature of the complaints, the Group also has
standard procedures for handling complaints. A customer service team
takes immediate action on receipt of any complaint, resolving or
following up the complaint until resolution.

We have set up an email account and hotlines independent of our care
and attention homes to handle complaints from residents, their relatives
and other customers, including the SWD. Our complaint handling
hotlines allow complainants to submit their complaints on an
anonymous basis to an operator, independent of our care and attention

homes.

We treat complaints seriously and view them as a means to consistently
improve our service level and quality. Upon receiving a complaint, we
will report the details of the complaint to the home manager who will
designate the relevant department head to carry out follow-up actions.
Depending on the degree of seriousness of the complaint, we may
inform the relatives or guardian of the resident concerned. The
complaint will also be reported to our independent Complaints
Committee (“CC”), which will provide a response to the complainant.
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Members of the Group’s independent CC are selected primarily based
on their experience in the RCHE industry and the fact that they are not
directly involved in the operations of a specific care and attention home
in our Group in order to maintain a fair and unbiased view. Upon receipt
of complaints, members of the CC will carry out investigations, including
but not limited to conducting interviews with the home manager, staff,
residents and/or the resident lodging the complaint, where appropriate.
Once the investigation is completed, the CC will hold a meeting and
develop an action plan. In addition, for each complaint received, we will
promptly record the complaint in our internal records and respond to or
take necessary rectification actions. We review our internal records of
suggestions and complaints on a regular basis and provide suitable
employee training based on these records in order to improve our
operations.

Protection of Intellectual Property

The Group respects and protects intellectual property rights. Our Group
has taken active steps to protect our trademarks and other intellectual
property rights by making the necessary filing or registration. We rely on
our trademarks and other intellectual property rights, including trade
names, website, domain names which are either owned or registered
by us. We are the registered owner of five trademarks, including “fA#R”
and “Pine Care”, which are pertinent to the ordinary course of our
business operations.

During the reporting period, we were not engaged in or threatened with
any claim for infringement of any intellectual property rights, whether as
a claimant or as a defendant. We believe that we have taken reasonable
measures to prevent infringement of our own intellectual property rights.

Protection of Customer Information

The Group considers that privacy and security of information are critical
operating principles. The Group has implemented comprehensive
information privacy and information security programmes to protect
personal privacy. We are committed to the compliance of relevant laws
and regulations. We recognise the importance of keeping personal
information of the healthcare personnel and our residents in strict
confidence.

The employment contracts signed with all our staff contain clauses to
ensure that confidential information is protected and the information of
our Group will be kept in strict confidence and our staff will not disclose
any information which are protected against disclosure and have come
to their possession as a result of their employment with us to any
person without the prior approval of the designated officer(s) of our
Group.
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The right of a resident to privacy is essential in the RCHE industry, and
our residents expect us to keep their information strictly confidential.
We are subject to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486
of the Laws of Hong Kong) which restricts the use of personal data of
residents collected by us for specific purposes, such as the provision of
information on home events and activities. We obtain consent from
residents before we collect and use such personal information.

The Group is committed to complying with relevant laws and regulations
on customer data protection and privacy. Any unauthorised copying,
dissemination or disclosure of confidential information, including
identities and transaction records of customers, are strictly prohibited.

In addition, the Group has maintained reasonable controls and
safeguards of personal privacy. We have installed privacy screens to
separate residents, and make sure residents are entitled to protection in
personal privacy.

During the reporting period, the Group did not discover any serious
violation of relevant laws and regulations which would have material
effects on the Group.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty, integrity and
fairness, and has included anti-corruption policy such as giving and
taking interests and declaration of conflicts of interests in our staff
manual. Through the establishment of these policies, we encourage all
employees to discharge their duties with integrity and to comply with
relevant laws and regulations.

The Group is committed to adhering to the highest ethical standards
and maintaining a corporate culture of integrity and justice for
preventing, detecting and reporting all types of fraud, including
corruption. Employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves
with integrity, impartiality and honesty. We have established effective
anti-corruption procedures, including declaration of interests,
whistleblowing, among others.

Our whistleblowing policy facilitates staff to discreetly report any
misconduct or dishonest activities, such as suspected corruption, fraud
and other forms of criminality by email to the Company’s Audit
Committee or the Company secretary.
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The whistleblowing policy documents set out the whistleblowing
handling system for the establishment and maintenance of the highest
possible standards of openness, probity and accountability for
employees to raise their concerns in confidence without fear of
harassment, reprisal, victimization, discrimination or disadvantage.

The Group has set up a working committee, comprising the Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Head of Human Resources, to take
responsibility for evaluating every report received and decide if a full
investigation is necessary. The working committee is responsible for
reporting to the Audit Committee the issue, the result of investigation
and the corrective action taken to ensure the Audit Committee is
informed and the issue would hopefully not occur again in the future.

All entertainment, sales and marketing-related travel and expenses are
subject to the Group’s expense approval procedure and management
will review and approve each expense request in a diligent manner. The
Group’s disclosure policy requires its employees to report gifts,
entertainment and travel acceptance while conducting business on
behalf of the Group and to manage such gifts and entertainment
provided by business associates according to Group guidelines. The
Staff Handbook stipulates that if an employee receives money, gifts or
rebates as bribes, the Group has the right to terminate his/her
employment contract and reserves the right to take further legal action.

During the reporting period, there was no legal case regarding corrupt
practices nor any case of corruption found or reported by the Group.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

With the commitment to being a socially responsible corporation, the
Group has been named by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service as
a “Caring Company” since our establishment. The Group encourages
employees to contribute their time and efforts in participating in local
community activities and events. Examples are as follows:

. Pine Care (Po Tak) Elderly Centre jointly held an elderly health
body check activity with Kwai Tsing District Council Member Mr
Chow Wai Hung in January 2017, offering body check to the
elderly in the community and spreading health knowledge. It is
estimated that approximately 100 elderly people form the
community were served.
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In September 2016, Pine Care (Po Tak) Elderly Centre
participated in a flag day fundraising event organised by the
Senior Citizen Home Safety Association (the “SCHSA”). Our
elderly residents participate the flag day fundraising event with
the assistance of the volunteers of the SCHSA for donations
given to service units of provision of personal safety alarms for
the elderly living alone or for two-elderly families.

We participated in the “BXHZ” recruitment campaign co-organised
by six Hong Kong non-governmental organisations and
supported by SWD in September 2016, aiming at providing
employment opportunities for the disabled and vulnerable
groups, and creating more job opportunities.

In January 2017, New Pine Care Centre held a free body check
event for the elderly community in Shun Lee Estate. In additional
to the body check, Chinese New Year gifts were also distributed.
It is estimated that approximately 500 elderly people from the
community were served.

Pine Care (Po Tak) Elderly Centre jointly held an elderly health
body check activity with Kwai Tsing District Council Member Mr
Chow Wai Hung in January 2017, offering body check to the
elderly in the community and providing update on elderly health
care knowledge. It is estimated that approximately 100 elderly

people form the community were served.

The Group donated HK$1 million to the Community Chest via
participating in Stock Code Balloting for Charity Scheme in
January 2017.

During the reporting period, the Group had also made donations
to the Hong Kong Association of Gerontology and various
charitable organisations.

As a leading operator of care and attention homes in Hong Kong, we
are committed to advocate environmental improvements on our
operations. We will devote more resources to improve our service
quality, especially in professional staff training, retention of qualified staff
and working environment, and more time and efforts in community
involvement. We will endeavour to strengthen our ESG strategy and
uphold our sustainability values in the future.
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The directors of Pine Care Group Limited present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017
(the “Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, whilst its major
operating subsidiaries are engaged in the provision of elderly home care

services.

The business review required under Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing by the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
under review using financial key performance indicators and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business, is set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” (pages 6 to 11), “Financial Highlights” (pages
13 to 14) and “Management Discussion and Analysis” (pages 15 to 23) of this
annual report, and a description of the environmental policies and performance
is set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 48
to 60 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this “Report of the
Directors”.

An analysis of the revenues and operating segment information during the
financial year is set out in note 6 and note 5 respectively to the Consolidated
Financial Statements respectively.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

A list of principal subsidiaries, together with their places of incorporation and
particulars of their issued ordinary share capital and principal activities, is set
out in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017, and the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position of the Group as at that date are
set out in the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 84 to 87 of this
annual report.

DIVIDENDS
On 6 September 2016, the Company declared a special dividend of
HK$25,561,000 per share amounting to HK$25,561,000 in aggregate to its
then shareholder.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

On 20 June 2017, the directors resolved to declare an interim dividend of
HK1.68 cents per ordinary share to the Company’s shareholders, representing
a total of approximately HK$15,168,000, for the year ending 31 March 2018.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2017 AGM to be
held on 4 September 2017, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 30 August 2017 to Monday, 4 September 2017,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2017 AGM,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company should ensure that all share
transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, are
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 29
August 2017.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and the consolidated financial position
of the Group for the last four financial years ended 31 March 2017 is set out
on page 12 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year under review, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

We treasure our relationship with the key stakeholders which comprise
customers, employees, bankers and suppliers, and we are able to maintain
our sound relationship and obtain continuous support from the key
stakeholders.

Customers

The Group’s principal customers are individual customers, a public hospital
and the SWD, with which we entered into contractual arrangements pursuant
to which the SWD purchased residential care places from the Group under the
EBPS. All of the Group’s end-users are individual customers.

The Group is committed to quality excellence to maintain end-user
satisfaction. We aim to ensure the delivery of consistent quality services to
enhance resident experience through the accredited ISO 9001 quality
management system, standardised management and operational procedures
across our network of care and attention homes. We also conduct regular
evaluation to ensure compliance of the standardised operational procedures in
the delivery of services to our residents.
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Employees

Employees are regarded as important and valuable assets of the Group. The
objective of the Group’s human resource management is to reward and
recognise performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration package
and implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives, and to promote career development and progression by
appropriate training and providing opportunities within the Group for

employees’ career advancement.

Bankers

We have established long term relationships with our bankers who equip us
with financing flexibility. The accessibility of bank borrowings depends on our
creditworthiness as proven by timely repayment records, and our compliance
with the financial covenants of the banking facilities. With higher degree of
transparency of operational performance and financial results of the Group
after the Listing, we firmly believe that our bankers will continuously support us
with adequate banking facilities.

Suppliers

We proactively communicate with our suppliers to ensure that they are
committed to delivering high-quality food and beverages, medical products,
consumables and professional services. We effectively implement assessment
processes on suppliers through conducting regular evaluation on the
performance of contracts and other measures, to ensure the performance of
our suppliers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers were approximately 51% while the sales
attributable to the Group’s largest customer during the year under review were
approximately 50.1%.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
during the year under review were approximately 39% while the purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier during the year under review were
approximately 15.3%.

Save for Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, the Company’s controlling shareholder, the
Chairman of the Board and executive director, who was beneficially interested
in 6.8% of the issued shares in the Group’s largest supplier, none of the
directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had an
interest in the Group’s major suppliers or customers.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year under review are
set out in note 43 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Movements in the
reserves of the Group are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31
March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$148.8 million (2016: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of
the Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year under review amounted to
HK$1,069,500.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2017 are set out
in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year under review are set out in note 15 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year under
review are set out in note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed below, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that
require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year
under review or subsisted at the end of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 23 January 2017. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options
to the eligible participants to recruit and retain high-caliber employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.
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Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include, but are not limited
to, (i) any employee or director of any member of the Group or of any company
in which the Company holds, directly or indirectly, an equity interest (the
“Invested Entity”) (including any full-time or part-time employee, executive
director, non-executive director and independent non-executive director); (ii)
any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (iii) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (iv) any
person or entity that provides research, development or other technological
support to the Group or any Invested Entity.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, grant an option to eligible
participant(s) to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an exercise price
and subject to the other terms of the Share Option Scheme. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer
upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee to
the Company. Unless otherwise determined by the directors and stated in the
offer to a grantee, a grantee is not required to hold an option for any minimum
period nor achieve any performance targets before the exercise of an option
granted to him/her.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options granted to each
eligible participant in accordance with the Share Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant is subject to the shareholders’ approval
in general meeting with the participant and the close associates of such
participant (or his/her/its associates if the participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

Each grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, must be approved by
the independent non-executive directors (excluding independent non-
executive director who is the grantee of the options). Where any grant of
options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director,
or any of their respective associates, would result in the Company’s shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares of the Company in aggregate
and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of offer) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, is subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in general meeting.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the Board, but shall be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board
lots of the shares of the Company on the date of offer of the option; (i) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares.
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The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years commencing on
the date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 86,400,000 shares,
representing 10% of the Company’s shares in issue on the Listing Date and
approximately 9.57% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of this
report. No option has been granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year under review and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (Chairman)

Ms. Cho Wing Yin

Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei (Chief executive officer)

Mr. Chan Yip Keung (Chief financial officer) (appointed on 30 April 2016)
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin

Dr. Ho Chi Tim (resigned on 30 April 2016)

Ms. Chu Lai King (resigned on 30 April 2016)

Non-executive directors

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex

Mr. Ma Wing Wah

Mr. Lam Yat Hon

Mr. Shek Kam Ming (resigned on 30 April 2016)

Independent non-executive directors

Dr. Wong Ping San John (appointed on 23 January 2017)
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang (appointed on 23 January 2017)

Dr. Liu Yuk Shing (appointed on 23 January 2017)

Mr. Liu Walter Joseph (appointed on 23 January 2017)

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Chan Yip Keung and Mr. Liu Walter
Joseph shall retire by rotation at the 2017 AGM; whereas pursuant to Article
83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Ms. Cho Wing Yin, Mr. Yim Billy Pui
Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Mr. Ma Wing Wah and Mr.
Lam Yat Hon shall hold office until the 2017 AGM. All of the above nine retiring
directors are eligible for re-election at the 2017 AGM.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
PROFILES

Brief biographical details of directors and senior management of the Company
are set out on pages 24 to 31 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2017 AGM has
a service contract with the Company that is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the Board the
remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the directors. The
remuneration of all directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and
compensation are appropriate. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in
note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” and
note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
director or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from the Share Option Scheme operated by the Company as disclosed
in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, neither at the end of nor
at any time during the year there subsisted any arrangement to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and the objects of or one of
the objects of such arrangement are/is to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance (including those for provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholders) has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of the directors of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company,
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”), to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

(A) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

EERTRARRKRSG  HEROR
EnzEBERAR

R2017F3A31 B ARREZRARAEARIE
B NS GRD((RERAEMRD]) 5352165 E
FEZERMIREBERETABEMNGARA LR
Ptz Bctn ~ MBI RESNER AR IMT

(A) RELFEBRNEE

Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the Company

Name of director Capacity/nature of interest Number of shares DT REN
EEHA B EniE RBEE BRED L
Mr. Yim Ting Kwok Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
BREBILE R EERFENER (Note) (Fff3E)

Ms. Cho Wing Yin Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
Bkttt RIEE R RS (Note) (FffzE)

Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
BT RS E RIEEE R R RS (Note) (PiZE)

Mr. Chan Yip Keung Beneficial owner 1,488,000 0.16%
PREES®R S BEmEa A

Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
BOTE REEERANER (Note) (Bf&E)

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
REIE x4 R EERFANER (Note) (Bff&E)

Mr. Ma Wing Wah Beneficial owner 320,000 0.04%

BEmBEAA
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Note: These shares are held by Pine Active Care Limited (‘Pine Active Care”), ftsE -
which is owned as to 90% by Silverage Pine Care Limited (“Silverage
Pine Care”) and 10% by Silverage Pillar Limited (“Silverage Pillar”).
Silverage Pine Care is in turn owned as to an aggregate of 74.25% by Mr.
Yim Ting Kwok, Ms. Cho Wing Yin, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Suen Mi Lai
Betty (spouse of Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex), Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, Mr. Yim
Edwin Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King (senior management of the
Company); whereas Silverage Pillar is in turn owned as to an aggregate of
93.58% by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex. Therefore,
Silverage Pine Care, Silverage Pillar, Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Ms. Cho Wing
Yin, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty, Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei,
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King are deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company held by Pine Active Care pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO.

* The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares involved divided *
by the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2017.

#Z % 1% 17 8 Pine Active Care Limited ([ Pine
Active Care ) 35 & * ifi Pine Active Care i
Silverage Pine Care Limited ([ Silverage Pine
Care ) [ Silverage Pillar Limited ([ Silverage
Pillar ) 73 51455 90% & 10% A% # ° Silverage
Pine Care RERTEBI 5o 4 ~ Bakfie £+ - RE
BhE  REBRT(REEEEMNERR) -
BOMESA - BTEH A RABRLLT (KA
AEREERE) AR ERT4I26%KE : M
Silverage Pillar B E Bt R REE T ES
HPEH 93.58% I - ALt - IREFHFRBAE
1&1%8 XV ED + Silverage Pine Care  Silverage
Pillar + BRE B E - Bokifix+ - REE X
£ BREBLL - BRTESLE - BOTEEAE
R ARBIZ T /BR Pine Active Care 58
WZEARARBRMDPHEE B

EBEDLIEMPSREBREE BRIAKRAR
R20174F3 B 31 HHEETRMHEE -

(B) Long position in the shares of associated (B) RAAFMELIERANE S

corporations of the Company

Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the associated

Name of associated Number of corporation
corporation Name of director Capacity/nature of interest shares {hEE: L@ AR RERY
W EE AR EEpE B RERME ROEE BHOBE DL
Silverage Pine Care Mr. Yim Ting Kwok Beneficial owner 32,584,558 43.00%
BE RS A EmBEA
Interest of spouse 4,993,649 6.59%
fo (B M s
Interest held jointly with another person 18,685,316 24.66%
HE— ANTHERENER
56,263,523 74.25%
Ms. Cho Wing Yin Beneficial owner 4,993,649 6.59%
Bkt BEREAA
Interest of spouse 32,584,558 43.00%
e
Interest held jointly with another person 18,685,316 24.66%
S — ATHEFENER
56,263,523 74.25%
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Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the associated

Name of associated Number of corporation
corporation Name of director Capacity/nature of interest shares {LIEEEERERN
HEEE SRS EEHA 51 EmtE R EE BYBEo
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei Beneficial owner 4,826,657 6.37%
BOmE A BERBEREA
Interest held jointly with another person 51,436,866 67.88%
H5— A THEREOER
56,263,523 74.25%
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin  Beneficial owner 139,300 0.19%
BOHEF S EmBEEA
Interest held jointly with another person 56,124,223 74.06%
B 5 — AT HERENER
56,263,523 74.25%
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex  Beneficial owner 7,491,591 9.89%
REEEE ERBEAEA
Interest of spouse 550,306 0.73%
o (B s
Interest held jointly with another person 48,221,626 63.63%
B 5 — AT HRERENER
56,263,523 74.25%
Mr. Lam Yat Hon Beneficial owner 3,502,826 4.62%
MIREST A EREAA
Mr. Ma Wing Wah Beneficial owner 772,691 1.02%
BKERE BEREAA
Pine Active Care Mr. Yim Ting Kwok Interest held by controlled corporations 100 100%
BREB LA R EERE R ER
Ms. Cho Wing Yin Interest held by controlled corporation 90 90%
Bkt R EERF AN ER
Interest of spouse 10 10%
IRk o
100 100%
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Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the associated

Name of associated Number of corporation
corporation Name of director Capacity/nature of interest shares {HIEEEERERN
HEEE SRS EsgA 51, EmitE RO #E R S v
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei Interest held by controlled corporation 90 90%
BOmE A R EERE N ER
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin  Interest held by controlled corporation 90 90%
BomEF A4 R EERFANER
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex  Interest held by controlled corporations 100 100%

Note: Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Ms. Cho Wing Yin (spouse of Mr. Yim Ting Kwok), Mr.

RE=LE

EEEERS AR

MaE

Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty (spouse of Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex),
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King (senior
management of the Company) held an aggregate of 74.25% of the issued
share capital of Silverage Pine Care, which in turn held 90% of the issued
share capital of Pine Active Care. The remaining 10% of the issued share
capital of Pine Active Care are held by Silverage Pillar, which in turn owned
as to an aggregate of 93.58% by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu
Alex.

As Pine Active Care holds more than 50% of the issued share capital of
the Company and Silverage Pine Care holds more than 50% of the issued
share capital of Pine Active Care, Pine Active Care and Silverage Pine
Care are the associated corporations of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO.

The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares involved divided
by the number of issued shares of the associated corporation as at 31
March 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, none of the directors or chief
executives of the Company had registered an interest or a short position in the
shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which

B EXXREEE SN -
EEYTHERR AR RS EEMBE AR (EER
B MAERMEXVED) 2B - BRERORES
o BREAARER S M HE 5% 3652165 E

were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the

register maintained by the Company referred to therein, or which were B97¢-0

required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange.

BEBRLLE Bkt (BREBRLERNER
B) REEX4E  HEBXRT(REEXE
KIECLB) « BOBE LA - BUTE kA RARBIR
ZE(ARRERERE) A X556 Siverage
Pine Caref)74.25% 2, % 17 &R & MM
Silverage Pine Care#¥ 7 Pine Active Care #)
90% B 17 & AN ° Pine Active Care H & T
10% B ¥ 77 i% 7= |3 Silverage Pillar§ & +
Silverage Pillar BEEBI L E R RBEE St EH
HEH 93.58% XA °

7 Pine Active Care B AN BB #H1THRA
2 3850% ' i Siverage Pine Care$¥ & Pine
Active Care B 8 17 I% 7N #8 #850% + # Pine
Active Care & Silverage Pine Care &7~ A AH)
HEER (TR RES RBAEIEAIEXVER)
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ER2017 63 A31 HMBEITIRNDEE -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2017, the following person (other than the directors or chief
executive of the Company) has interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRAROREBERD 2EER

NP
=)

R2017 3 A31 B - RIEFEH LI E 1555 336 15
ZHREFEZERECMAER AR KRR
R RESOAR AL (RRRERHITRAER
BROM AT

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company RAEAFEBERNETAE
Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Number of shares EARA T RER
RERHA B RmitE REE BYES
Pine Active Care Beneficial owner 604,800,000 66.99%
EmAA (Note 1) (FfisE1)
Silverage Pine Care Interest held by controlled corporation 604,800,000 66.99%
R AR AR (Note 1) (Fff5E1)
Silverage Pillar Interest held by controlled corporation 604,800,000 66.99%
R AR AR ER (Note 1) (PH&E1)
Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty Interest held by controlled corporation 604,800,000 66.99%
REBL L R EERANER (Note 1) (BffzE1)
Ms. Chu Lai King Interest held by controlled corporation 604,800,000 66.99%
KERZ L R EERAENER (Note 1) (BffzE1)
Mr. Cheung Hung Leung Interest of spouse 604,800,000 66.99%
RIER & BoiB s (Note 2) (FffzE2)
Ms. Cheung Sui Wa Scarlett Interest of spouse 604,800,000 66.99%
RIMEL LT BoiB s (Note 3) (FffzE3)
Ms. Lock Hiu Yan Crystal Interest of spouse 604,800,000 66.99%
SRR A+ foiBiEs (Note 4) (PM&E4)
Yada International (HK) Limited Beneficial owner 85,536,000 9.47%
BERlAA
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Notes:

1. These shares are held by Pine Active Care, which is owned as to 90% by
Silverage Pine Care and 10% by Silverage Pillar. Silverage Pine Care is in turn
owned as to an aggregate of 74.25% by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Ms. Cho Wing Yin,
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty (spouse of Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex),
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King (senior
management of the Company); whereas Silverage Pillar is in turn owned as to an
aggregate of 93.58% by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex.
Accordingly, Silverage Pine Care, Silverage Pillar, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty and Ms.
Chu Lai King are deemed to be interested in these shares pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO.

2. Mr. Cheung Hung Leung is deemed to be interested in these shares of the
Company through the interest of his spouse, Ms. Chu Lai King.

3. Ms. Cheung Sui Wa Scarlett is deemed to be interested in these shares of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei. The relevant
interest of Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei was disclosed in the above section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”.

4. Ms. Lock Hiu Yan Crystal is deemed to be interested in these shares of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin. The relevant
interest of Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin was disclosed in the above section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”.

N The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares involved divided by the
number of the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, no person, other than the
directors whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares” above, had registered an interest or a short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 38 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. These related party transactions constitute de minimis continuing
connected transactions of the Company that are exempt from the reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval

requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

MEEE -
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Care f Silverage Pine Care & Silverage Pillar 73 Bl 3
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

World Pine Elderly Care Services Limited (“World Pine”), a limited liability
company established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), is owned
as to 50% by each of Pine Care China Limited (a company incorporated in
Hong Kong and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Pine Active Care
Limited, one of the controlling shareholders of the Company) and an
independent third party (the “JV Partner”).

The board of directors of World Pine comprises four directors. Each of Pine
Care China Limited and the JV Partner has the right to nominate two directors.
The chairman of the board of directors of World Pine shall be jointly nominated
by Pine Care China Limited and the JV Partner. Currently, the directors of
World Pine include Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei and Mr. Chan Yip Keung (being
directors of the Company).

The scope of business of World Pine as allowed under its business licence
covers investment consulting service, elderly care consulting service,
organisation of cultural programmes and activities for the elderly, health
consulting service (excluding medical practice), leasing, wholesaling, import
and export of household appliances, computers, electrical appliances,
household sundries and related business (excluding financial leasing,
commodities subject to quota and licensing regulated by the relevant national
regulations), and computer software development. World Pine was established
for the purposes of exploration of opportunities in the elderly care business in
Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Shanghai in the PRC. World Pine is still in the
process of identifying business opportunities and has not commenced
business operations.

The business of the Group covers residential care home operation for elderly
in Hong Kong offering accommodation, meal provision, social work, nursing,
personal care, physiotherapy and medical services, while the business of
World Pine shall be based in the PRC and it is currently intended that World
Pine shall focus on the PRC residents for provision of residential care services
for elderly in the PRC. Though the suppliers of World Pine shall be of similar
nature, it is unlikely to have any material competition of suppliers available in
the market with the Group, due to the fact that (i) the Group does not rely on
any single supplier and is free to source supplies from a number of
comparable suppliers; and (i) common consumables and food ingredients of
the Group are normally sourced from suppliers in Hong Kong in order to
improve efficiency and monitor quality.

The directors of the Company therefore considered that there shall be a clear
delineation between the base of operation and target customers of the Group
and that of World Pine, competition between the two businesses will be
remote. For details, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.
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Save as disclosed above, during the year under review, no director was
interested in any business apart from the Group’s business, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Non-
Competition Undertakings”) dated 26 January 2017 (the “Deed”), each of
the Company’s controlling shareholders (i.e. Pine Active Care Limited,
Silverage Pine Care Limited, Silverage Pillar Limited, Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Mr.
Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Cho Wing Yin, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty, Mr. Yim Billy Pui
Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King) and their respective
associates have undertaken to and covenanted with the Company that, each
of them would not, and would procure none of their associates to engage in
any business that is or is likely to be in competition with that of the Group. For
details of the Deed, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus. If the controlling shareholders
become aware of any business opportunities, they will notify the Company of
such opportunities and will procure that such business opportunities are first
offered to the Group upon terms which are fair and reasonable.

Each of the above-mentioned controlling shareholders, and their respective
associates have confirmed to the Company of their compliance with the Non-
Competition Undertakings provided to the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date up to the date of this report, the
controlling shareholders did not take up and did not offer or make available to
the Company any opportunity to invest, participate, be engaged in and/or
operate with a third party any Restricted Business (as defined in the Deed) and
declared that they had complied with the requirements on the Non-
Competition Undertakings as set out in the Deed.

At a meeting of the Audit Committee held on 20 June 2017, all the
independent non-executive directors reviewed the confirmations from the
controlling shareholders in respect of the Non-Competition Undertakings
which were submitted to the Company on 20 June 2017 and confirmed
compliance with the Non-Competition Undertakings by the controlling
shareholders.
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PEEENEAEEERERRERBEREF R
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or in
existence during the year under review.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the period from the Listing Date
up to the date of this report.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Net proceeds from the initial public offering and the issue of the Over-allotment
Shares were HK$137.5 million after deducting all the direct costs associated
with the Listing.

In FY2017, approximately HK$10.4 million of the net proceeds was used to
fund the renovation works of Pine Care Place (representing approximately
9.3% of the net proceeds). The Company intends to use the remaining of the
net proceeds from the initial public offering in the manner consistent with that
disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the
Prospectus.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained a sufficient prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the Company and its associated
companies is currently in force and was in force throughout the year under
review.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 3 April 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
independent third parties to acquire the entire equity interest of a private
company operating an existing care and attention home situated in Hong
Kong. The consideration of HK$15,880,000 for the acquisition was in the form
of cash. The transaction was completed on 5 April 2017. Further details of the
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5 April 2017.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

On 25 April 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
an independent third party to dispose of its entire equity interest in a wholly-
owned subsidiary, Pine Care Centre Limited, which is engaged in the provision
of elderly home care services, at a consideration of HK$6,640,000. The
transaction is subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions precedent and has
not been completed up to the date of this report. Further details of the
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 25 April 2017.

On 20 June 2017, the directors resolved to declare an interim dividend of
HK1.68 cents per ordinary share to the Company’s shareholders, representing
a total of approximately HK$15,168,000, for the year ending 31 March 2018.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with written terms of reference,
in accordance with Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, on 23 January 2017. The
primary duties of the audit committee are, amongst other things, to review and
supervise the financial reporting processes and risk management and internal
control systems of the Company.

The audit committee (consisting of the four independent non-executive
directors) has reviewed with management the principal accounting policies
adopted by the Group and discussed risk management, internal controls and
financial reporting matters including a review of the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2017.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company, will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the 2017 AGM. A resolution will be
submitted to the 2017 AGM to seek shareholders’ approval on the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s auditor until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Pine Care Group Limited

Yim Ting Kwok

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 20 June 2017

MR2017F 4250 AEBE-—BBIE=FF]L
—IHEEHE  WHEER2EEEME QRN
EELTERBBRAR(HERHZERERE) W2
EZORRHE - 1B 56,640,0008 7T - R HEFERE T
TRIGHERFEE - BEEAREBHERTAK
AR ZHE—THBHNARRBEA2017F
4 25 HRRE -

R2017F6 200  EFRBRAARLAIRRTIREL
Z2018F3 A3 HIEFEFHR BB LM 1.68
AL - B1A ££4915,168,000 7T ©

BREES

RAREBREB EMHRAMEE14502017 41 A 23 H
BRUBZEEE® UHTEMBESE - ZREE
EMEERER(EHPEE) EHREBEARAQFMNHG
BERREFREREE RN RS -

ERZEG(MMNEBIFRTESENR) BERE
EHAREEPTRAN T ESHBER LT HERER -
NAEZENMBRREE  BFEEHNNEBE2017F
3ABBILFENFEMBERE

M
ZXEFMEBABRARR 2017 FRFAFRE
FERRFEERGE THEESBRENKE - —1BE
BEREZKETMEEMARARGEMEZTE
BHRBEFRG ZRERGR201T7TFRRBEFRE
LAS SRR BLAE ©

"2

REESFE
NEEZEEERAT
BEE
FERMITESE

a4 2017F6 A20H

201748 NEKREELEEERAT 77



Independent Auditor’s Report

B3 % S EMER &

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Pine Care Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pine Care Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out
on pages 84 to 172, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are matter that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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IndependéntAudﬁoWsRepoﬂ(Conﬁnued)

B SETER & (45)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
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IR - ARG AMISRENERE RIREER -

address the matter below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2017, the Group carried goodwill of
approximately HK$33.8 million in the consolidated statement of
financial position, which arose from the acquisition of controlling
interests in companies principally engaged in the provision of
elderly home care services.

Management is required to perform a goodwill impairment test
at least on an annual basis. The impairment test involves
complex and subjective management judgements, a high
degree of management estimation and the use of assumptions
to determine the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated, including estimates about the
future market or economic conditions and future cash flows.
Management is also required to determine a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows.

Related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BREXER

Our audit procedures included evaluating the key assumptions,
which included those related to forecast future cash flows, future
growth rates and the discount rates applied. We evaluated the
sensitivity of a reasonably possible change in the growth rate of the
cash flow of the cash-generating units and the discount rate. We
also assessed the disclosures on the impairment testing, specifically
the key assumptions that had the most significant effect on the
determination of the recoverable amount of the goodwill, such as
the discount rate and growth rates.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BB AR E ()

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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IndependéntAudﬁoWsRepoﬂ(Conﬁnued)

B SETER & (45)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B SETER & (45)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matter communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine that
matter that was of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and is therefore the key audit matter. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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IndependghtAudﬂoﬂsRepoﬂ(Conﬁnued)

B SEHR & (4)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chow Chi Chung.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

20 June 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
PN =
FelEuR
Year ended 31 March 2017 B2 20174#3 A 31 HILF/E
2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iEEd FHERT FHT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEREEK
REVENUE =3 6 177,286 172,749
Other income and gains L O 6 6 9,401 5,353
Depreciation e (8,414) (8,721)
Staff costs 8T A (78,264) (76,190)
Property rental and related expenses MERS RARERAX (18,775) (16,573)
Food and beverage costs R &R (8,318) (8,518)
Utility expenses UNZEE:57 (6,946) (7,0571)
Supplies and consumables e MRS (5,496) (5,630)
Repair and maintenance HIERIRE (2,361) (1,344)
Other operating expenses g (17,299) (11,909
Other expenses HbFA (907) (4,593)
Listing expenses WX (18,656) (1,648)
Finance costs BT AR 8 (3,864) (4,820)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING REBFELCLEEBHRBARR
OPERATIONS 7 17,387 31,105
Income tax expense FrisfiAx 11 (4,956) (6,285)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING 3% B #3458 & 2 7 I F BE %A
OPERATIONS 25,820
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BARILREER
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued REBRIEREEBNEE
operations (F518) % F 12(a) 1,435
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO &R E#EH#EE ABGEERR
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 27,255
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO #RAFE BRI EAELERER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY 14
Basic and diluted E-DAWNE: 3
— For profit for the year — FERH HK1.8 cents HK4.2 cents
— For profit from continuing operations — BEREEERT HK1.8 cents HK4.0 cents
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Con@ Statement of Comprehensive Income

HAEEkEAR

Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z2017 4331 HIFFZF

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET THTT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEF 12,409 27,255

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hih2@EUA, (E5E)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified SR EZHBEEHH BT BHFNEMEE

to profit or loss in subsequent periods: WA (E58)
Available-for-sale investments: AR ERE
Changes in fair value NEEZE 2,350
Reclassification adjustments for gains and losses AT AGRRBERNKE REEERN
included in the consolidated statement of profit DR
or loss
— losses on disposal — HERE (1,100)
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to  #§REZ IR EF D ETIBTH
profit or loss in subsequent periods HEib2ERAFE 1,250
Other comprehensive income/(loss) not to be REZBEATSENHEEBEN
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: HEibz2mk A (EE)
Actuarial losses on retirement benefit obligation RINEFEEZBEER .
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME EEHMET (BA) BA
FOR THE YEAR 1,250
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR AAT#ERZIFEEAEEEE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE ZHIMAHLE
COMPANY 28,505

201748 HNEEEEEARAT 85



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBIRRFR

31 March 2017 201743/ 31H

i,.

il

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Goodwill

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets classified as
held for sale

Investment properties classified as
held for sale

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Trade receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Due from directors

Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets of disposal groups classified as
held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Due to directors

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Tax payable

Liabilities directly associated with the

assets of disposal groups classified as

held for sale

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FRBEE

W B KRR

BE=SUES
BATEFABRRNSRERE
FENRE - 2E R EAMRIKRIR

R
EERIEARE

FERBEEMRE

REEE
DEARERENIERBEE

DERFEHENRENME
FENRIE - e R EARIKRIA

B 5 YRR
BAFEFAEENEREE
eI E TR

AU EIFIE
RekReEEY

DRARRFRENHERRNEE

MENE AR

REEE

B RNFR
HAbENREREER
JENEE IR
FHEERIT R EAREK

e IR
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16
22
19

20
29

15
16

19
18

22
21

23

24
25
21

26

2017
HK$’000
FET

195,733

2,854

5,025
33,833
3,543

240,988

175,182

184,308

52,128

132,180

373,168

2016
HK$’000
FTAT

193,381

2,755
4,395

33,833
3,351

237,715

3,263
14,050

4,223
913

4,861
2,481
2,101
17,268

49,160

27,252

76,412

2,241
13,892
4,583

38,573
4,605

63,894

7,895

71,789

4,623

242,338

§
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g Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Provision for long service payments

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Total equity

* Less than HK$1,000

Yim Billy Pui Kei
BHE
Director

2F

Notes

Lk
FRBEE
FTEERIT REMER

26

REARRIG T E o8
REFIEEE 29
BB ERTE
BEFE
=
RATERISEAELER
BT 30
] 32
e AEER

* 451,000 7T

2017
HK$’000
FTET

145,759
4,416
14,784
164,959

208,209

9,029
199,180

208,209

Chan Yip Keung

BR3E5

Director

B7F

2016
HK$’000
TET

160,023
3,713
14,683
178,419

63,919

63,919

63,919
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEEGEHR

Year ended 31 March 2017 & ZE 201743531 HiFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRREEAER
Available-
Share- for-sale
Share based  investment Non-
Issued  premium Merger  payment revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital  account reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
DR WEE
BET Rt RERAT  RAER FER
BR BER  AUEE WG fE  REER &t Ba  ERAE
Note  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$O00  HK$'000
s THL TAL  TEn Th TEL TAL ThL ThL TEL
(Note 30) (Note 32)
(Ft3t30) (Kix32)
At 1 April 2015 1201554 A1A N N 33,793 1,691 (1,250) 53,379 87,618 2,925 90,543
Profit for the year FEER - - - - - 255 2125 - 2255
Other comprehensive income - £E £t 2EMA :
for the year:
Change infairvalug of A HERENT(E
avalable-for-sale 28
investments - - - 2,350 - 2,350 - 2,350
Reclassification T ARABERD
adustments for gains Wiz REEER
andlossesincluded i~ HFEAE
the consolidated
statement of profit or
loss 5 s - (1,100 - (1,100 - (1,100
Total comprehensive income & 2 AN A&
for the year - - - 1,250 27,255 28,506 - 28,505
Dividends e 13 L = = - (2204 (52,204) - (52204
Dividends paid to a B2 EERERY
non-controlling shareholder R & 13 - - - - - - (2,885) (2,885)
Acquisition of a non-controling 4t8 — R EHE R
interest - - - - - - (40) (40)
At 31 March 2016 R201653A31F - 3379 160 o 28430 63919 - 63919
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
FEEREHFTR(E)

Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z20174F 3 A 31 HIFFZF

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARER AR

Share-
Share based Non-
Issued  premium Merger  payment Other  Retained controlling
capital  account  reserve reserve  reserve profits Total interests
DY
BRT ) RERMR FER
Bx  EER AHEE  OEE  HtRE  RERN &t B
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
TARL THx THRL TARL ThR THx THRL TARL

(Note 30) (Note 32)
(K& 30) (H&E32)
A1 Aprl 2016 Ho01654 718 33,798
Profit for the year FEER
Other comprehensive loss B HM 2 HEE :
for the year:
Actuarial losses on BREFERCRE
retirement benefit 5]
obligation

Total comprehensive income/  EEEM2EMA,/

(loss) for the year (BR) - 12,409 12,052 12,052
Special dividend ERRE = (25,561)  (25,561) (25,561)
Capitalisation issue of shares R B AL E4T (6,480) = = =
Issuance of new shares BH RN 173,319 - 175868 175,868
Share issue expenses BE 5 (18,069) (18,069) (18,069)
At 31 March 2017 12017E3A318 148,770 33,798* 1,691* 357+  15278* 208,209 208,209
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$199,180,000  * ZERBBREREER 20173 A31 BELEE BRI

(2016: HK$63,919,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3 /1 199,180,000 7T (2016 4F : 63,919,0005% 7T )
31 March 2017. 2T -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEBHERER

Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 20174331 HIFFZF

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax:
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Dividend income
Depreciation

Fair value loss on investment properties, net
Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss, net

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Gain on disposal of non-current assets
classified as held for sale

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant
and equipment

Loss on disposal of investment properties,
net

Fair value gain on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, net

Provision for long service payments, net

Impairment loss on a disposal group
classified as held for sale

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations

Decrease in trade receivables

Increase in inventories

Increase in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accruals

Decrease in amounts due to related
companies

Cash generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Interest received

Interest paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

RETHFAERERE
BRAEATE R -
REFESE R
REACKRILREXED
T SIS IREL P
BT R AN

FEBUA

P S A

e

REMERFEBRFHE

HERATEFARSNSRERE

w18 () 38
HEAIHHEREBIR

HESBAFEHEIERBEE

Yezs

HEME - BB RRERR K

HEREMEBHRFH

BATEFARSNESRERE

NFEWREFEE
RHRBN TR

DEAFIEHENHEARN

REEE
HE&E—RKE QR
HEDRIEEEEBER

B 5 RAFORR D
FEIEN

BNFOR - B REMEKRIA

s
RSB (i)
B3R RIBEH R AN
A B A R RORRLD

REMBRE
ENEBMEHR
BUFLE
ERFLE

REEHERSREFHE
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2017
HK$’000
FTHET

(8,643)

(112)

(34)
1,190

22,537

640
(10)

(5,943)
(651)
3,290

19,863
(5,780)

9
(3,864)

10,228

2016
HK$'000
TR

195

(107)
37

46,436
(5,845)

(4,820)

35,772



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

ZERERER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z20174F 3 A 31 HIFFZF

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Dividends received

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
classified as held for sale

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties

Deposits for renovation works refunded

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Disposal of a subsidiary

Disposal of discontinued operations

Decrease in amounts due from shareholders

Decrease in amounts due from directors

Net cash flows from investing activities

RETHFBHERE

BEDE B

[REEEESE

HEME - BiELREREB FAE

HEDEABEHENIERBEE

PRSF0R
HERTHHE

F5 Kz tiIA B

REMBRA

HEREMEMSTOR

B TRIE S
HERATEFABRNSREE

PSR

RAE

HE—BRELR

HEDRIEE

JRE U R AR IR
e E = RIA

RERBME

BET
WD
W

SREmEFE

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FieE TR TAT

15 (10,728) (14,136)
= 519

13,812
25,255

6,215

33
33

86,977
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

ZEBHERER(H)

Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z 20174331 HIFFZF

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FieE TR TAT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES Bt&SEBIFTSEHRERE

New bank loans FIRTTE K 4,000 -
Repayment of bank loans BEIRITER (19,302) (62,070)
Proceeds from issue of shares BRI PTG 5RIE 30 175,868 -
Share issue expenses RN EEITHZ (18,069) -
Capital element of finance lease rental mERERESMRERLY

payments ()] (140
Acaquisition of a non-controliing interest W iE —TEFF IR M - (40)
Decrease in amounts due to shareholders JE ST R% B R IE R > - (711)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to FENEEZE CRd) /HEm

directors (6,094) 1,824
Dividends paid BB = (54,563)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling shareholder 21— JE12E AR IR 58 K9 A% &, 13 - (2,885)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BEEBG, (FTA)

activities Remne T 136,343 (118,585)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH HERBESEEYIEMER

EQUIVALENTS 154,280 4,164
Cash and cash equivalents FUHReRBEEEEY

at beginning of year 20,902 16,738
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FARRERRESEEY

AT END OF YEAR 175,182 20,902

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRBESEEYEHRIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R KIRTTHEER 23 175,182 17,268

Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe & BBERNKRATIIR S RIESEEY

consolidated statement of financial position 175,182 17,268
Cash and bank balances attributable to HEERIFELIES RIRTTEHS

disposal groups 12(c) 3,634
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe ~ 4AIREREXMIIRE R

consolidated statement of cash flows REZEY 175,182 20,902
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Notes to thancial Statements

AA 5 R R aE

31 March 2017 201743/ 31 H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Pine Care Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY 1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is G/F, 1 Koon Wah Lane, 68-72 Yuk Wah Street, Tsz
Wan Shan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of elderly home care services.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15
February 2017.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), Mr. Yim
Ting Kwok, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Cho Wing Yin, Mr. Yim Billy Pui
Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin, Ms. Chu Lai King and Ms. Suen Mi Lai
Betty are considered as the controlling shareholders of the Company
(the “Controlling Shareholder(s)”), and the immediate holding
company and ultimate holding company are Pine Active Care Limited
(“Pine Active Care”) and Silverage Pine Care Limited, respectively,
which are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI").

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

ARER
MREREZEBAERQFD(EAT) A —HBR
HERSHAMKINBERDRF - ARAANT
fit ¥ = B #b 4k A Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands ° KA A1) E B2 ¥
BREBNEAZILGEGS-T2EFER1
RS ©

ARFRRERERRAR - FA - AEBRE
MEAE(GEAEE]) TE2RERHELE
B IR

RRARBRMN2017F2 15 HEF BB AR
SARAR ([BRA]) TR

ARElER((EB)RA BEBHLEE R
BELE Bokfigt BHELLE - &
BAA KABBAXTREEZBXTIEREAXR
NEIEIEIRAR R (TR R ) - mEEER
A R ERAEE IR A B9 B A Pine Active Care
Limited ([ Pine Active Care]) X Silverage
Pine Care Limited * RE AR KB R X EHE
((EEBEZEE])AMKIH AT -

ERHEATNEN
ARRMBARMENT -

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to

incorporation/ Issued the Company

business ordinary share AATEEEET DL
Company name B3ty capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
AR ERE B ERTEBREX HiE EiE XTEEK
Pine Care Health Initiative Limited  BVI US$1 100 — Investment holding
Pine Care Health Initiative Limited =~ EEBERELEE 15575 100 - BREER
Prime Health Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$98,418,468 - 100 Investment holding
BRARIZEIR AR AR B 98,418,468/ 7T - 100 AR
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Notes to Financial Statements

AA 5 R R =

31 March 2017 2017 4#3H31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. ATEE @
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEMBATINER &)

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to
incorporation/ Issued the Company
business ordinary share AATEEEET DL
Company name SR capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
NEEH =E 00 SRTEBERE HE BiE FEEK
Pine Care Elderly Home Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 100 Investment holding and
Development Limited provision of
management services
iR ERBR AR BB 40,000,000/ 7T - 100 BEEBR KL
RHEIERY
Pine Care Centre Limited (“PCCL”) Hong Kong HK$107,000 S 100 Investment holding and
provision of elderly
home care services
BRI R B R AR BB 107,000/ 7T - 100 BEEBRKE
( fpeeL] ) Rt R 2= RS
Pacific First Limited Hong Kong HK$1,070 = 100 Provision of elderly
home care services
KEFBRARTA] e 1,070/ 7T - 100 fefteEl&R%
Besting Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$120,000 - 100 Investment holding and
provision of elderly
home care services
BEEEERAR] ) 120,000/7T - 100 WEERRIRMHZE
b & AR
Hinta Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of elderly
(“Hinta Enterprises”) home care services
BAREEBRAR([RAREE]) FE 10,000 7T - 100 R#ZELR &R
Fitbest Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 — 100 Investment holding and
provision of elderly
home care services
BIEAR AT B 500,000 % 7T - 100 REZR K

Rt ZhER%
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Notes to Fihancial Statements

AA 5 R R aE

31 March 2017 201743/ 31 H

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

YNCIE-¢53¢)

FRMBARNER @)

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to
incorporation/ Issued the Company
business ordinary share AATEEEET DL
Company name &L capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
NEER R SRTEBERA HE EE XEEK
Masswell Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of elderly
home care services
BEERRARANA B 10,0007 - 100 #RMH L ERE RS
Gericare Centre Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Provision of elderly
(“Gericare Centre”) home care services
RiEFEZPLOBRAA BB 1007 7T - 100 MR ER SRS
(TREEEHRL])
Fitgarden Limited Hong Kong HK$2,500,000 = 100 Property investment
ZES =21 :YN] BB 2,500,000 7 7T - 100 MHEKRE
Mainfield Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Property investment
HIEFR A A O 2% T - 100 MEKRE
Chun Fai Development Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 = 100 Property investment
REZERBRAF B 100,000 7T - 100 MHEKRE
Grant Smart Development Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Property investment
EHRERARLNF B 10,0007 7T - 100 MEKRE
Wellfield Properties Development ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100 Property investment
Limited
HEEZERBR QA B 10,000 % 7T - 100 MEFRE
Ruby International Investment Hong Kong HK$5 - 100 Property investment
Limited (“Ruby International”)
AEABRBRIKRERRAA s 58T - 100 MHEKRE
(TAAEABEE])
Manchester Rehabilitation Services Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of rehabilitation
Limited and physiotherapy
services
SHETFERRBER DA BB 1787 - 100 REER KR
IR R B AR
Witmart Design & Construction Co. Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of repair and
Limited maintenance Services
SRR TIRERAT i 2% T - 100 REHERRERSE
Fully Trend Limited (“Fully Trend”) Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Property investment
MARERAR ([FmR]) BB 10,0004 7T - 100 MERE
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2017 2017 4#3H31H

2.1

96

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

1.

YNCIE-¢ 53¢ )
ERMBATNER (&)

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to

incorporation/ Issued the Company

business ordinary share AATEEEET DL
Company name SR capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
NCIECE =E$ 0k ERITEBRE B EiE XTEEK
Pine Care Elite Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of elderly

home care services

B EE G RN A B 10,000 77T - 100 $RMHLERE RS
Pine Care Elegance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Dormant
HRER HEFE B PR A 7] BB 10,000 7T - 100 &S
Grand Prosper (BVI) Limited BVI USs$3 S 100 Investment holding
Grand Prosper (BVI) Limited ey opegicd= 3ETT - 100 ®EERKR
BASIS OF PRESENTATION 21 Z2H|E*%E

To rationalise the corporate structure in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange, the Company underwent a
group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), further details of which
are set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 27 January 2017.
Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding
company of the companies then comprising the Group on 24 May
2016. As the Reorganisation involved inserting new holding entities at
the top of an existing company and has not resulted in any change of
economic substance, the consolidated financial statements for the
years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017 have been presented as a
continuation of the existing company using the pooling of interests
method. Accordingly, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of
cash flows of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017
are prepared as if the then group structure had been in existence
throughout the year ended 31 March 2016 and up to the date of
completion of the Reorganisation on 24 May 2016. The consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016 presents the assets
and liabilities of the companies then comprising the Group, as if the
then group structure had been in existence at that date.

Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2017
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Notes to Fihancial Statements

AA 5 R R aE

31 March 2017 201743/ 31 H

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.2 fmHIEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. All HKFRSs
effective for accounting period commencing from 1 April 2016 have
been early adopted by the Group in the preparation of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2016. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, investment properties classified as held for sale, available-
for-sale investments and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value. Non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 3 to the financial statements. The financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2017.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an

investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

M EMBREDBRESESHMAS(ES
BHEAR] ] MERZ EETBHREEN(E
B BmEER]) (EPREMEEEMB®R
SR FELER(EBEFEL]) K
#218) BBLAREHRAUREE R RIEEZ
BERTMAER - HEFEEEZ2016F3 A 31
ALEEZVHHRE  AEECRERARN
B2016F 4 A1 ARG ST HBERZ AT
EBRBMEHREEL - WEHBRERTIIBE
BLRAERE  HIEARBETEZRE
ME - DEABELENREDE - ATHT
ERERIBEAFEFABENSREERID ©
DEARBEHENERBEERNEHBE
EREEEERAABAERBEEKNAZEE
HETE - BOHISARNESE—SRE - K
SHEERIN BB BHRETET((BT])
2% MBS EYRAEEREI T -

mER%E
BRAVHBEMARRARIREWBRARE
F2017F3ANBILEFEMNMBHRE - WE
ARHEARREEKEEEHOBE (BIEE
BHEE) EASEBASHEKKEHHH
EE AR B R AR R A EE A A
Bk - B AR N IEREEIRE e (B
REAEEBAARNEIEHIEE VAR
TEEM IR RER) F 2 S B R - BIER/SIE
il o
EAAREERBEREELOREREF XS
HORANIELUER  ETHERSHEY
WIREROENRE  AEESEEMBHERE
EEMBR  BIF

(@) HEFERENHEMRREFEENSGOLR
B

b) HOEORHELENEN : &

© AEENRRESEERRE -
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2017 2017 4#3H31H

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.2 REIE%E @)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and
(i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Fﬁiancial Statements

AA 5 R R aE

31 March 2017 201743/ 31 H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15
Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 40
Amendments to HKFRS 12 included in
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 included in
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 28 included in
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions?

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts?

Financial Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers?

Leases®

Disclosure Initiative'

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses'

Transfers of Investment Property?

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

First-time adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards?

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

r Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
G No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 BHEMGEBERERZEBUBER

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs which are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments project to
replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS
9 from 1 April 2018. The Group performed high-level assessment of the
impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. This preliminary assessment is
based on current available information and may be subject to changes
arising from future detailed analysis or additional reasonable and
supportable information being made available to the Group in the future.
The Group’s expected impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 9

are summarised as follows:

(@) Classification and measurement
The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will
have a significant impact on the classification and measurement
of its financial assets. It expects to continue measuring at fair
value all financial assets currently held at fair value.

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded
at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts that are not accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on
an expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis or
a lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply the simplified
approach and record lifetime expected losses that are estimated
based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the
remaining life of all of its trade and other receivables. The Group
will perform a more detailed analysis which considers all
reasonable and supportable information, including forward-
looking elements, for estimation of expected credit losses on its
trade and other receivables upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 CHEMGEBERERZEBYER

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 might have an impact on the Group’s
financial performance and financial position, including the measurement
of financial assets and disclosures. In particular, the adoption of an
expected credit losses impairment model might result in earlier
recognition of credit losses of the Group’s trade receivables.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 provide requirements on the accounting for
the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement
of cash-settled share-based payments; share-based payment
transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations;
and a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based
payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-
settled to equity-settled. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
on 1 April 2018 and is currently assessing the impact upon adoption.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28
(2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be
determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for application now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 BHEMGEBERERZEBUBER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS SR )

(Continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key judgements
and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under HKFRSs. In June 2016, the HKICPA
issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation
issues on identifying performance obligations, application guidance on
principal versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a more
consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the
cost and complexity of applying the standard. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018.

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “’control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in
HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the potential
impact of the application of HKFRS 15 and it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until a detailed
review is performed by the Group. The impact to the Group is expected
to include more comprehensive disclosure as requested by the new
standard. In addition, contract that contains two or more performance
obligations would be accounted for separately and this might have an
impact on the pattern of revenue and profit recognition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 CHEMGEBERERZEBYER

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
(i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in HKAS 40. The lease liability is subsequently increased to
reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest
expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-
of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will
generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating
leases and finance leases. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 on 1
April 2019 and is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon
adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 7 require entities to provide disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from
cash flows and non-cash changes. The amendments will result in
additional disclosure to be provided in the financial statements. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2017.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 BHEMGEBERERZEBUBER

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 were issued with the purpose of addressing
the recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses related to
debt instruments measured at fair value, although they also have a
broader application for other situations. The amendments clarify that an
entity, when assessing whether taxable profits will be available against
which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference, needs to consider
whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits against which it
may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary
difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an
entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the
circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some
assets for more than their carrying amount. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 April 2017.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEBE®w)
POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued) EKXEHEBEE)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for

goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEE#BE )
POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement AFEFE

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If such an indication
exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the assets. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss

whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit

to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. The impairment

loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates

used to determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of the impairment

loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. The

reversal of the impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or

loss in the year in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family

and that person

U

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the same

third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

3.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)
(V) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(viy  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vij)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
ltems of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Leasehold land under Over the lease terms
finance leases
Buildings Over the shorter of 50 years and the
remaining lease term of the
underlying leasehold land
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease term and
14%—-20%
Furniture, fixtures and other ~ 14%-30%
equipment
Motor vehicles 30%-33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents renovation under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FE®HEEHSEw®

POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties REWE

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the BREMEDIN T REFEHE 2R (BER
leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which would BE-—MEJKREHENEMARTEEER
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn METEZHERZ)  BURRES KA
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the R/SKERAE - MIEARERIRE 24
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative ESHEXITHALZ SR AEEKEEF

purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent

HE - REMETRERR(R
T8 - VIRRERRE  REWEN

BRHHA)
~TES IR

to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which =R R4 AR A TS AR ©
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment BREVMENTEEEAZBENEELESF

properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of
the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for the sale of such assets of disposal groups and its sale must be
highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a
disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held
for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

110 Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2017

EzBmiRp AR -

RAEEMEREILEMEL 2 EFABER
BERHEFEZBaRNER -

FELEZFRBEER HEAR

HEAEIZBBHER S MIBRBRER
AmfKE - BEsBRBELEZERDE
EREEMERN - ERERT  BERLEAR
VAR REATHREHE  BEXHE
ZEEESIHEENZ —RIEBETRR -
URHETRELEES - BERAKERZERH
%féﬂ% KA B AR 2 Rz - D88
ARHEANZMBRARZEHEERAES
HMOBAIERE -

DERFHELREZIRBEER L EAR (KR
EMEREBEERIN) NERAERRFE
BMHERAR (UBREERE)FE - D BERE
EHEZYME BERRBARELEES
HEITYTE S



Notes to Fihancial Statements

AA 5 R R aE

31 March 2017 201743/ 31 H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEEXEME#®)
POLICIES (Continued)
Leases HE

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as
finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments
and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to the
statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of
charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature
are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Financial instruments

The Company classifies its financial instruments into the following
categories at inception, depending on the purpose for which the assets
were acquired or the liabilities were incurred. Regular way purchases
and sales of the financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

@

(b)

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or
loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if it is held for
trading, or upon initial recognition, the asset is designated as at
fair value through profit or loss and it meets any of the following
criteria: () the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the
inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring
the financial asset or recognising the gains and losses on it on a
different basis; or (i) the asset is part of a group of financial
assets that are managed and their performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management strategy; or (iii) the financial asset contains an
embedded derivative that would be separately recorded.

Financial assets so designated are recognised initially at fair
value, with transaction costs taken directly to the statement of
profit or loss, and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. This
designation, once made, is irrevocable in respect of the financial
asset to which it is made.

Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of such financial
assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as they
arise, together with the related interest income and expenses
and dividends.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less

impairment allowances.

The Company recognises losses for impaired loans promptly
where there is objective evidence that impairment of a loan or a
portfolio of loans has occurred. Impairment allowances are
assessed either individually for individually significant loans or
collectively for loan portfolios with similar credit risk
characteristics including those individually assessed balances for
which no impairment provision is made on an individual basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Loans and receivables (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are
those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments are initially measured at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are remeasured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment valuation reserve until the securities
are either sold or impaired. On disposal of available-for-sale
securities, cumulative gains or losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and removed from the available-for-
sale investment valuation reserve.

If an available-for-sale financial asset measured at fair value is
impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost
and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of
profit or loss. Increases in their fair values after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income. Impairment
losses on debt instruments are reversed through the statement
of profit or loss, if the increase in the fair value of the instrument
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

(©

(d

(e)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

When the fair value of unquoted equity securities cannot be
reliably measured because (i) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (i) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating the fair
value, such securities are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on such unquoted equity securities, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as
a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
each reporting period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities include bank and other borrowings, trade
payables, accruals and other monetary liabilities. All other
financial liabilities are initially recognised at the fair value of the
consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.
After initial recognition, they are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEBE®w)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EWMIEE)

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets EERTEES AT ARNTFEDZERR

is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price
quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial
instruments where there is no active market, the fair value is determined
using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques include using
recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the same and
a discounted cash flow analysis.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the assets have expired; or where the Company has transferred its
contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial assets and

WMBERIARITRERET - THRE
ARZGHA - HREERMIS &M IE -
ATERAEEHERITETE - ZERME
BERAEBHATMISRS  2ERBERZ
S—IAZRMERBRBESRENIN

HiteREERDRSRENENT B
FARNREHEEDMEREERSRENA
WENEBRLE BERRNBAEYRER K

has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership; or ElERER . W HMIRBIEHIE - GEERE
where control is not retained. Financial liabilities are derecognised when EBRIIER - 2o BERNEER (BNEETHR

they are extinguished, i.e., when the obligation is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

PR e RE S S R R ) AR L RERR

Revenue recognition Wz mE R

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits EEERN R A ANEE LR FihETE

will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured reliably, WSk - 1R T EERE RS

on the following bases:

(@  from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of @ SHEEMAMEREIREEREZERE
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the fex % B3R t’j;@;%f‘a‘f%&$’$ o ®EmRE

Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of services when the relevant services have
been rendered;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(dl) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated

—REFAEABECEERLYHEESR
a2 B AR B {R T AT HERR

b) SRR A0 a0 1R (AR B AR A B

© HSRAREEEBARISRIL IR

d FBWARABEE T A G R
WoIR & 42 TR AT AT 6 R 4 B sk 08 i R

future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial (ER) 22 R E SR EAERETFE
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net AR IREEEFAERFR LR
carrying amount of the financial asset; and N

(e)  dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive (e B A AR R MR BR A 3R 2 8 I e ST B
payment has been established. E?f 7 °
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of each of the Track Record Period between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEEXEME#®)
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued) 8% &)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and
the same taxation authority.

BEERBAEBETIRAAAMRERZEAL
ARYBBRAE R RER RS BREERZE
BY MR - BERBEETINE ERVE
MATS A IAR AT MR G B ZRAR AR A
BIER e R APARABR 2 EEZBERT
TIARER. - HE N IUESBRSID -

. FBHEAMBE R ZRBMAEERAER
ETEREB A HHAINZ STV SHER
BENBEMEL  BRRZBLT
BertafsERTER - &

. HEMBARKRERR IR TR E
BmE  EEHBREEEREREZEN
] 58 2R T A E B A e AR TR A AT
PRNEHERZENERT - 7 T

e ©
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. XESHBEEHSEw@
POLICIES (continued)
Government grants BT By

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is presented as a deduction from the related expenses on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an

BT B A IE R A A B A R 7S &
FTB M A R 1% - IR AP ETER - i Bh iR
FMXBERAER AR ERAREENRA
HifR R R E L2558 BRI ST -

EBEEF

BAKERE

AEBREEGIMEABESHAIEINRE B
BERBEBHERNESRAKE NGB (58
BEF8 DHEE R IERARTAESHE -
REGBESFERTE  HHABAEREENE
AHELLE  UEEKBEMNFERF QRS
KPR - BESHENEELEAEENE
EOR BBUEENESRKE - AEEK
BEIHFERARESHIRTZEBNE

independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions 8o
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
Provision for long service payments REBRBE S KB

The Group’s net obligation in respect of amounts payable on cessation
of employment in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.
Long service payments are assessed using the projected unit credit
method. Long service payments are discounted to determine the
present value of obligation and reduced by entitlement accrued under
the Group’s defined contribution plans that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group. Actuarial gains and losses arising
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they arise. Past service costs are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the statement of profit or loss in the
year in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FE®HEEHSE@®

POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends BE

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by KREAR BN R AR EAD FHE ERFEDR A
the shareholders in a general meeting. BfE-

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because FRHIRERFEZZENTIR 0 AAAKNAD T8
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the ERAMEMERFESERTPHRKRED
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, EF o Bt REAIIRE RN EE T IR
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are EREBE-

proposed and declared.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4, EXSTHHERMGT

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 March 2017 was
HK$33,833,000 (2016: HK$33,833,000). Further details are given in
note 20 to the financial statements.

RAEAEHPBRRE - ERERELSH
By RX AERAEBENRESERE
R ERRARAERE 2 A - At R
FeoaEMBERMATNIEERER  AJLE
BYRRAHITE 2 EERABEREEE
HEARFE -

s T RERE
REREHRBEARRER T AN RFE
EENBBEROEAEERAZRMERKE
BZEIEBRARGATRERZZEMEE
FRIAT ©

BmERE
rEEZVBFETHERGHERE - A
HESREENRNSECEMNEREEED
5t o BRHEAEAER - AEEABTRER
SELBMMNBHARRSRE  WREEE
MR EUNEZERSRENIE - K 2017
F3A31H  EHEMNKEIES 33,833,000 T
(20164 : 33,833,000 7T) ° #E —FFFHEEHRN
WISIRFMFE20 -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for accelerated depreciation on
property, plant and equipment, unrealised fair value changes on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The carrying
amount of deferred tax assets at 31 March 2017 was HK$3,543,000
(2016: HK$3,351,000).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable
operating segment, which is the provision of elderly home care services.
Since this is the only operating segment of the Group, no further
operating segment analysis thereof is presented.

The Group’s revenue was derived solely from its operations in Hong
Kong during the year and the non-current assets of the Group were
located in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2017 and 2016.

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately HK$88,797,000 (2016: HK$86,461,000) was
derived from the Hong Kong Government under the Enhanced Bought
Place Scheme, which amounted to more than 10% of the Group’s

revenue.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the value of elderly home care services rendered

and the net invoiced value of goods sold during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains from continuing

operations is as follows:

Revenue

Rendering of elderly home care services

Sale of elderly home related goods and provision
of health care services

Other income
Interest income
Dividend income
Rental income
Others

Gains

Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net

Gain on disposal of non-current assets classified
as held for sale

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and
equipment

Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net

s

REZEHR SRS

HEREZRBEBEER M
TR B B IR AR

HAWA
FBHA
XN
He A
Hitp

Wz

HERAFEFARGEREERS

HE

HENBAFHERERIERB B E WS

HEYE - BFE MR FERE W

BAVEFABRSREREEAFERS

BER

6. W - HBWARKE
W R F R RBZ ER & RENEER
EERRUTEE -

REFHLEEBO KR - AmlA kKR
DT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TAT

151,816 146,919

25,470 25,830

177,286 172,749

519
909
75

1,504

3,742

107

3,849

5,353
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g

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING 7.

OPERATIONS

The Group’s profit before tax from continuing operations is arrived at

after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Depreciation
Auditor’s remuneration

Staff costs (excluding directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration (note 9)):
Wages and salaries
Pension scheme contributions
Provision for long service payments

Health care referral service charges***/#

Minimum lease payments under operating
leases of land and buildings

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments™*

Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, net*”

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant
and equipment*

Gain on disposal of non-current assets
classified as held for sale*

Fair value loss on investment properties,
net**

Fair value gain on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, net*

Loss on disposal of investment properties,
net

Bank interest income*

Impairment loss on a disposal group
classified as held for sale**

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary**

Dividend income*

Government grants*™*#
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2017
Notes HK$’000
B=E TH&xT

13,814
8,414
1,280

28
(112)
(8,643)

16
33 (34)
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2016
HK$'000
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524

79,396
3,511
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83,335
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING
OPERAT'ONS (Continued)

*k

Fokkk

##

Included in “Other income and gains” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss

Included in “Other expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss

Included in “Staff costs” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss

Included in “Other operating expenses” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss

Various government grants have been received for the welfare of the
elderly in the Group’s elderly home care centres. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

Included in the other operating expenses are the service charges of nil
(2016: HK$433,000) paid by the Group to Well Mount Limited (“Well
Mount”) for the provision of health care referral services. Well Mount is a
company wholly owned by Ms. Leu Sou Jon, the mother of Mr. Yim Ting
Kwok, the mother-in-law of Ms. Cho Wing Yin, and the grand-mother of
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei and Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin. Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Ms.
Cho Wing Yin, Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei and Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin are
directors of the Company.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as follows:

Interest on bank loans RITERFE
Interest on bank overdrafts RITEZFE
Interest on finance leases RUETRER S

m

REFELEEBERB AR (@)

MNRERER [EMURA R

MNERERER [ EmEx ]

MR BRR [HMLEmx]

. EAEEZERERERBINERZ ARG
) o BLEA B S B ROm R R ks
BEHE-

ke MAEMK LR BERYEET (20165 -
433,00087T) * JymA KB IEHERERE
BOREXNTFEABRART(EAD - &
THRERER IR EER  BER LR
EEEENTR - BT R LR REH
ErRAERBONSFLEMAR - BREBLE
Bkt BOTEEERBDEHLES R
KABES -

3 RS
RABESEEBOMBEREH DT -

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT THET

3,843 4,729
8 82
13 9

4,820

2017%% NREEEEERAT 123



Notes to Financial Statements

ke = )
AAF5ER R M aE |
31 March 2017 20174 3A31H
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EERTETHABHH

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:

Fees we

Other emoluments: Hibfia -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions RIRESFEIEK

(@) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
year were as follows:

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang® BREE L Ee
Mr. Wong Ping Shan® ERlibaay
Mr. Liu Yuk Shing® BAEKEEe
Mr. Liu Walter Joseph® 2FEgLEe
g Appointed as independent non-executive director on 23 January

2017

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2016: Nil).
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EBERFETHAEHM=)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) HITES  FBTESERETE
and the chief executive TBAER
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
¥e - REER EBiRe
we BEYEF FT &R st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET FET FERT
2017 20174
Executive directors: WITESE
Mr. Yim Ting Kwok B B S A
Ms. Cho Wing Yin Bkt L
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei# BOm R A
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin BOmEF
Dr. Ho Chi Tim* A RES A
Ms. Chu Lai King** REBIE A+
Mr. Chan Yip Keung PBREo8 &
Non-executive directors: IEMITES -
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex REELE
Mr. Lam Yat Hon MIRE T4
Mr. Ma Wing Wah BKELE
Mr. Shek Kam Ming* AIRRA A
# Appointed as chief executive officer on 7 September 2016 # R2016 9 A7 AEZ T AITHRER
# Resigned on 30 April 2016 i 2016 F 4 A 30 BHEHT
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9.

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive (Continued)

2016

Directors:
Mr. Yim Ting Kwok*
Ms. Cho Wing Yin*
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei*
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin*
Dr. Ho Chi Tim*/#
Ms. Chu Lai King*/#

Mr.
Mr.
. Lam Yat Hon*
. Ma Wing Wah*
. Shek Kam Ming*/#*

Chan Yip Keung**
Ng Kwok Fu Alex*

BEERFTETHRAETFM @)

(b) BTEE: FHTEERETE
THRAE#E)

Salaries,

allowances Pension

and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contributions Total

e EZMR RRE
ik BYEA PRI 1t
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET FET

20164F
B

BEB A 48 - - 48
it 48 - - 48
BOmEL A 48 - - 48
BOmE S 48 - - 48
Gl e 48 629 31 708
PN b 48 491 18 557
PREsREAE" - 353 14 367
REERE 48 - - 48
MRESE 48 - - 48
BoKELE 48 - = 48
R SRE s 48 - i .
480 1,473 63 2,016

Appointed as director on 18 August 2015
Appointed as director on 30 April 2016

Resigned on 30 April 2016

The Group did not have any independent non-executive directors

at any time during the prior year.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief

executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the

year.
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive (Continued)
The remuneration paid by the subsidiaries being classified as
discontinued operations for the year to two executive directors,
Dr. Ho Chi Tim and Ms. Chu Lai King, was HK$91,000 (2016:
HK$2,113,000) and HK$4,000 (2016: HK$45,000), respectively.

The remuneration of Dr. Ho Chi Tim included the service fee paid
by the Group to him for acting as a visiting medical officer.
Further details are disclosed in note 38(a) to the financial
statements.

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year did not include any
director (2016: two directors), details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 9 above. For the purpose of the analysis of the five highest paid
individuals, the remuneration paid by the subsidiaries being classified as
discontinued operations has not been taken into account. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the non-director, highest paid employees
are as follows:

e RREREWMREN
RREFHEIHER

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions

The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £T%1,000,000% 7T

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
or any of the non-director, highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office nor
has any director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

10.

EERIFETRAEHM @

HITES FHITESRTE
THRAB#)

FR - BHEABKRILLEERHNE
REIZNMERTEE(AEREER
KREBIBZ L) F M R 491,000 % T
(20164 : 2,113,0005% 7T ) % 4,000
7T (2016 4 : 45,0008 7T) ©

(b)

MEREENFIHERAREREEE
FPELERMESNOREE - £—FF
BB 15 2R M 51 38(a) AR ©

LEREHFMES

ENAABBHMES TREETES (2016
& AEE)  EFMEERR T -
AEBRBHMA LN AL R RBDES
BRI EREIEHIE A TN - &
N EENRETIEBNFMFBOT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
3,412 2,067
89 54

2,121

FHBRTIREZFEERSFHREAY
LUl

2016

FAAEEABERNEESREMNFREREERS
HoES NSRRI IMAAREE K
MARE R HAERRERE  TREME
ERELAREREEME -
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11. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2016:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during

the year.

Current — Hong Kong BIHER — BHF
Charge for the year FARXZ

Deferred IEE

Total tax charge for the year FARIBEFAL B

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates,
and a reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e. the statutory tax rate) to

11. FiBH
ERERNESBEEOGTERREFIE
16.5% (2016 fF : 16.5%) 2 Ft K& 2 BB F
BB -

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT TAET

7,376
(2,091)

5,285

BARBREWMBARMUENREEERER
B TE Bt 3R B BB A A B B A M O A5 2R
X ERERBEFHEORBEBRIOER
AR E (ANAER ) BB R H IR

the effective tax rates, are as follows: HHlaT -
2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000 %
FH T FAT %
Profit before tax from continuing 38 [ #4848 & %2 1554 5
operations A& A 17,387 31,105
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMEFTENTIE 2,869 5,132 16.5
Income not subject to tax BERBUA (1,442) (165) (0.9)
Expenses not deductible for tax ~ “RAJ0EE B2 4,070 1,496 4.8
Tax losses not recognised RIERNIEEE - 151 0.5
Tax loss utilised from previous FERIBASR 2B EE
periods (153) 0.5)
Adjustments in respect of deferred Ft 8%+ HAfE 2 IEEF I8
tax of previous periods LEEEES (915) (2.9
Tax reduction R (280) 0.9)
Others Hitb 19 0.0
Tax charge at the effective rate IR EEM R EMNFHIBER S 5,285 17.0
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL GROUPS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(a)

Discontinued operations

As part of the Reorganisation, the Group disposed of the entire
interests in Best Luck Enterprises Limited (“Best Luck”) and
Added Twist Limited (“Added Twist”) to Pine Care River Bright
Limited (“Pine Care River”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company
owned by Pine Active Care. Best Luck was principally engaged
in the operation and management of a general medical clinic
whereas Added Twist was principally engaged in the operation
and management of a Chinese medical clinic. The reason for the
disposal is to delineate other businesses operated by the Group
prior to the Reorganisation from its principal business. The
disposal of Best Luck and Added Twist was completed in August
2016. Further details of the disposal are given in notes 33 to the
financial statements. As at 31 March 2016, Best Luck and Added
Twist were classified as a disposal group held for sale and as
discontinued operations. With Best Luck and Added Twist being
classified as discontinued operations, the clinical businesses are
no longer included in the note for operating segment information.

The results of Best Luck and Added Twist for the year and up to
the date of the disposal are presented below:

Revenue s
Expenses M

Profit before tax from the discontinued
operations

Income tax FrigHi

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations
(note 33)

Profit for the year from the discontinued
operations

12. ERLERERRR D BRFHFEL

ENHEARNEERERS

(a)

KB B LR E E R HBRI ADE

HESRIEEEBEE (MEE33)

KB R IREEBOFERN

2017 3]

DRIEREER
EREHEN—H5  REEHEM T
¥EBER QAT ) RAdded Twist
Limited ([Added Twist]) K 2 0 # 2 T
Pine Care River Bright Limited ([ Pine
Care River]) * Pine Care River £ Pine
Active Care#E B 2 N A AR RK B A
Al MFFERE—HEBBEREDLAN
ZBEREE  fAdded Twist EFEH =
—FEZANEERER - HEEMH
BEDAEENEHEAMKCENERERE
FEEH o HERT R Added Twist 7
2016 8 ATTA ° HEME —HeFiEEH
B 5 R M 5E 33 - 7R 20164 3 A 31
B B ¥ kAdded Twist 2 $8 B EH
EZHEEMNRERIELEETR - BT
K Added Twist 75 %8 /5 B 4% L 48 & 3 7%
& PHEBTBIANGEESBERZ
BT o

Bi= KR Added Twist RER R BEEHE
AEMZEETIRIT -

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FHT
2,542 6,692
(1,189) (5,013)
1,353 1,679
(185) (244)
(1,190) -
1,435
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL GROUPS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

(@) Discontinued operations (Continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Best Luck and
Added Twist classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2016 are

12. BRLERKEER R BEAEBFEH
ENHEANEERER®)

(a) CRILEEEK @)
R2016F3A31H  DEAFEHE
BRI Z K Added Twist F BEER B E

as follows: BRI -
31 March 2016
201653 HA31H
HK$’000
FHIT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 7
Deferred tax assets RIERRIBE E 44
Trade receivables B S WA 258
Inventories "rE 177
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERRIE - RS RE M EUGRIE 136
Tax recoverable BIEEErE 28
Cash and cash equivalents RERBELEED 3,501
Assets classified as held for sale DEABELENEE 4,151
Liabilities BE
Other payables and accruals E b ERT IR R IEETE R (93)
Due to a director B —RESFHIE (1,511)
Trade payables 2 ZENFIE (106)
Tax payable FERIBi1E (23)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets classified B ASIEHENEEEERBHAE
as held for sale (1,733)
Net assets directly associated with the disposal group — HH E4H R HEZABBNE EFE 2,418
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS 12. BERUEREER RS BAFEL

AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL GROUPS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continueq)
(a) Discontinued operations (Continued)
The net cash flows incurred by Best Luck and Added Twist for
the year and up to the date of the disposal are as follows:

(a)

ENHEANEERERE®)
CRIEREERK #)

R M Added Twist RFREHEZEHE
AYELEMRSREFHLT ¢

Operating activities KR
Investing activities TEEE
Net cash inflow BEMAFRE
Earnings per share: gRAN -
Basic and diluted, from the discontinued BERRES - RECKRIEKEED
operations
& Less than HK0.01 cent #

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share from the
discontinued operations are based on:

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity ARREBERFEABGERLE
holders of the Company from the KEERy (BB 57

discontinued operations

Weighted average number of ordinary shares &+ & &R E A Z FI8F AT 2 F R

in issue during the year used in the basic BT T BARINE T
earnings per share calculation (note 14) (FsE14)

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TAT

2,340 2,195
= (1)

2,194

(HK0.00 cent)* HK0.22 cent
(0.007&l)* 0.22%4l

2R 0.013#A

RECRIEREEB 2 BRERREE
BRI T EERE

2017 3]

2016

GLEPPNON  HKS$1,435,000
[PPXNESRN 1,435,000 7T

678,890,959 648,000,000
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL GROUPS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

(b) Assets and liabilities of a disposal group b) PEABELHENHEERNE

12. ERLEREERR P BABHEE
ENHEANEERERE 2

classified as held for sale

As part of the Reorganisation, the Group disposed of the entire
interest in Giant Success International Holdings Limited (“Giant
Success”) to Pine Active Care. The principal business of Giant
Success is property investment. The reason for the disposal is
that the properties held by Giant Success are not principal assets
of the Group and do not form part of and are not crucial to the
Group’s principal operations. The disposal of Giant Success was
completed in August 2016. Further details of the disposal are
given in note 33 to the financial statements. As at 31 March

EREE

EREHEN—ID AEBLERER
BEBBRAB(RE]D 2 EET
Pine Active Care ° RIEMTEBEK AW
¥BE - HEBHAREBMITBIWE
WHALEENETBEE  WTBKAEE
EXrEZLEN—HD  NIEHAEE
MNEELEMEBEN - HELRBR
201648 ATTAK ° MEMME — L HIEH
WA BA R R B 5E 33 © 7201643 A 31

2016, Giant Success was classified as a disposal group held for A ZESBEARFELEZHEARR -

sale.
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Giant Success F2016F3A31H  DHEARIELE
classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2016 are as follows: NREBFEEENBEERNMT :
31 March 2016
201643 A31H

HK$’000
FET
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB RERAE 7,149
Investment properties WEYE 15,810
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFIR - ke READEREIR 9
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEED 133
Assets classified as held for sale DEARBELENEE 23,101
Liabilities BE
Other payables and accruals HAb N FIEREFER (100)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER (6,062)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets of disposal B2 IE AR IEHER HEHREEEE
group classified as held for sale HENaE (6,162)
Net assets directly associated with the disposal group B H & 48 R AR S E S E 16,939
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL GROUPS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

(c) The major classes of assets and liabilities of

the disposal groups classified as held for sale
as at 31 March 2016 are as follows:

Assets BE

Property, plant and equipment VI~ RE KR

Investment properties BB

Deferred tax assets REFRIEE E

Trade receivables B 5 W IE

Inventories wE

Prepayments, deposits and other ~ JBAFXIE ~ 4 &
receivables HAb EGRIE

Tax recoverable AT IR

Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY

Assets classified as held for sale DA ASIEHENEE

Liabilities i=§-

Other payables and accruals
Due to a director

HRANFUARESER
N —REERIA

Trade payables B SR E
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5T 2 R1TERK
Tax payable FERTFRIR

Liabilities directly associated with
the assets classified as held for
sale

Net assets directly associated with
the disposal groups

HOBARIFHENEE
BEEABNER

S S4B R B ARRE A
BEFE

12. &1t

re

EBERDBRFEL

ENHELANEERERE 2

(c) M20165%F3HA31H ' 7 EAF

EFHEZHEARNINETEEE
REEERNT :
Best Luck and
Added Twist Giant Success Total
BEFR
Added Twist =8 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FHET FAT
7 7,149 7,156
- 15,810 15,810
44 = 44
258 - 258
177 - 177
136 9 145
28 - 28
3,501 133 3,634
4,151 23,101 27,252
(93) (100) (193)
(1,511) o (1,511)
(1086) - (106)
- (6,062) (6,062)
(23) - (23)
(1,733) (6,162) (7,895)
2,418 16,939 19,357

2017 3]
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13.

14,

DIVIDENDS

Special dividend (2016: Nil)

During the year ended 31 March 2016, one of the Company’s
subsidiaries declared interim dividend of HK$52,204,000 to its then
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, Fully Trend, one of the
Company’s subsidiaries, declared interim dividend of HK$2,885,000 to
its non-controlling shareholder, before the remaining 40% equity interest
of Fully Trend was acquired by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2016.

On 6 September 2016, the Company declared a special dividend of
HK$25,561,000 per share amounting to HK$25,561,000 in aggregate
to its then shareholder.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic eamnings per share amounts for profit for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company is based
on the profit for the year attributable to the ordinary equity holders of
the Company of HK$12,409,000 (2016: HK$27,255,000), and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 678,890,959 (2016:
648,000,000) in issue during the year, on the assumption that the
Reorganisation and the capitalisation issue in connection with the listing
of the Company had been completed on 1 April 2015.
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BRI E (2016 : &)

13.

14.

3=\
2017 2016
HK$000 HK$'000
FTET THTT

25,561 -

BHZE2016F3 AN HILEE  AArHp —
FHRBRARMEAZRRRT RS HRS
52,204,000 87T °

HZE2016F3AB1IALEFE  MAR(AKRAF]
Hh—RNBAR) EAREFEREZ 201643
A 31 B IEFE U R R AR T 40% AR AERT - 7]
HIERAR AR R E R 4 HA A% 8. 2,885,000 7T ©

20169 A6 A © ARG AE IR E IR %
Rl % B F A%25,561,000%8 T A
25,561,000/ 7T °

EETEEREE2017FE3 A3 HILFEIR
BRI B (2016 4F + ) -

ARAEBRERRAARGLER

27

AEEBRERBN SR DIEARQ A EiEE
WA AL FE T 12,409,000% 7T (2016
& : 27,255,000 ) REFERE EHITEBRM
# F 5 #678,890,9590% (20164 :
648,000,000 %) 5+ & (REFEA DR LTTEST
MEBEAREAEITEN2015F4 187
%) °
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14.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts for profit from
continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company is based on the profit from continuing operations for the year
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company of
HK$12,431,000 (2016: HK$25,820,000), and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 678,890,959 (2016: 648,000,000) in issue
during the year, on the assumption that the Reorganisation and the
capitalisation issue in connection with the listing of the Company had
been completed on 1 April 2015.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate the
basic earnings per share amount for the year ended 31 March 2017
included 1 issued ordinary share of the Company upon completion of
the Reorganisation and 647,999,999 ordinary shares of the Company
issued by capitalisation issue, on the assumption that these shares had
been in issue throughout the year ended 31 March 2017, and the
weighted average number of 26,630,137 ordinary shares of the
Company and 4,260,822 ordinary shares of the Company issued upon
the completion of the listing of the Company and the exercise of the
over-allotment option in full by the sole global coordinator of the
Company’s initial public offering, respectively, as further detailed in note
30 to the financial statements.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate the
basic earnings per share amount for the year ended 31 March 2016
included 1 issued ordinary share of the Company upon completion of
the Reorganisation and 647,999,999 ordinary shares of the Company
issued by capitalisation issue, on the assumption that these shares had
been in issue throughout the year ended 31 March 2016.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earmnings per share amount
presented for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 as the Group
had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during these years.

14.

APAEBEEREEAELER
B )

AEEEREXABFNCEIRAATLBE
wmIF A ARG IF B ¥ 5% 712,431,000
77 (2016 4F : 25,820,000 7T ) K F A E %
1T A DNHE 15 1678,890,959/% (2016 4F -
648,000,000 %) 5+ & (REFEA R T LT
MEAREACETER2015F4A18%
) ©

ARFEEE2017F3 A1 ALEEERE
REF| &AL BN I E FER TR
BHEEBEITHNIREBITEBRRAE AR
1775 B 1T #9 647,999,990 P% 18 AT (R 3R 3%
EWRMHREE2017F3A31 BILFEC KSR
TIUARRARAB TR EWEBETH
26,630,137 RA QR EBBR E AR ERA
FEERBRERBAATELBREES
RETETHY 4,260,822 IR AN A 7] & 3B AR A0 N F
BE - S HBHNI B REMEI0 ©

ARETEEHZE2016F3A31 AL FEERE
RAFSEHLBRINEFHEB2ER T
BHEBIBRARREETL BB RIABA(LEE
1777 B 1TH 647,999,999 A% & 378 A% (1R & 5%
EWRMNEE2016F3 A31 AL FECES
TR INAETFHE -

AR AREERE £2017F ;201643 A 31

ALEFETSECRTEASETEREK B
B2 NERERBFSRIELAE -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 March 2017

At 31 March 2016 and
1 April 2016:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2016, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Depreciation provided
during the year

Disposals

At 31 March 2017, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 March 2017:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

201743A31H

R20165F3A31H K
2016F4A18 :
s
ZitirE
REFE

1201654818
B ZEE

RE

FRRERE

HE

R201743A31H
R EETE

R201743A318 ¢
R
ZHITE

REHE

Land and
buildings
TR
&
HK$'000
TiEw

228,725
(41,960)

186,765

186,765

(5,354)

181,411

228,725
(47,314)

181,411
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ot

15. Y% - MERRE

Leasehold

improvements

BEXE
HK$'000
TR

45,064
(43,128)

1,936

45,145
(43,704)

1,441

Furniture,
fixtures
and other
equipment
i RE
REMRE
HK$'000
TR

37,773
(33,152

4,621

4,621
269

2,387)

38,042
(35,539)

2,503

Motor
vehicles

A
HK$'000
7

Construction
in progress

ERIR
HK$'000
TEL

N
li]

Total
@

HK$'000
TEL

312,160
(118,779)

193,381

193,381

10,728

(8,347)

(29)

195,733

322,290

(126,557)

195,733



Notes to Fihancial Statements

AA 5 R R aE

31 March 2017 201743/ 31 H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

15. ¥ BERRE @)

Furniture,
fixtures
Land and Leasehold and other Motor
buildings  improvements equipment vehicles Total
R KB
T REF HERE  REMSEE A& w@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FHET FAT FAT
31 March 2016 201653831H
At 1 April 2015: 201564 /18 :
Cost AR 227,891 44,996 38,389 934 312,210
Accumulated depreciation 2EME (37,663) (42,703) (31,327) (695) (112,388)
Net carrying amount REFE 190,228 2,293 7,062 239 199,822
At 1 April 2015, net of 20154818 -
accumulated depreciation Nk R:HE 190,228 2,293 7,062 239 199,822
Additions NE 13,651 279 206 = 14,136
Assets included in assets of DEAEBEREZHE
disposal groups classified HRBEEE
as held for sale (note 12(c)) (MIEE12(c)) (7,121) - (35) - (7,156)
Depreciation provided FRTERE
during the year (5,300) (636) (2,612) (180) (8,728)
Impairment TE (1,430) - - - (1,430)
Transfer to non-current assets ~ EEAE NI ARELE
classified as held for sale ZIEREBEE (3,263) - - - (3,263)
At 31 March 2016, net of M2016F3H318 -
accumulated depreciation Mk 25HTE 186,765 1,936 4,621 59 193,381
At 31 March 2016: M2016F3A318 :
Cost AR 228,725 45,064 37,773 598 312,160
Accumulated depreciation ZEHME (41,960) (43,128) (33,152) (539) (118,779)
Net carrying amount HRMEFE 186,765 1,936 4,621 59 193,381

At 31 March 2016, the net carrying amount of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment held under finance leases included in the total
amount of motor vehicles was HK$59,000.

MR2016F3A31H ' AEBIRBERERER
Bt ARBRBEZVE  BEREERDF

{B7359,000 /7T °
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15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
At 31 March 2017, the Group’s land and buildings with a total carrying
amount of HK$181,411,000 (2016: HK$190,028,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26(b)).

During the year ended 31 March 2016, certain land and buildings of the
Group with a total carrying amount of HK$3,263,000 were reclassified
as non-current assets held for sale as the carrying amount of the land
and buildings would be recovered principally through a sales transaction
and the Group was committed to a plan to dispose of the land and
buildings and the sale was considered to be highly probable in the
forthcoming year. Land and buildings classified as held for sale are not
depreciated. The sales transaction was completed in May 2016.

An impairment loss of HK$1,430,000 has been provided during the
year ended 31 March 2016 in relation to a property included in the
assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale. The impairment
loss arose as a result of the fair value less cost to sell being lower than
the carrying amount of the property.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Carrying amount at beginning of year FHRREE
Disposal HE
Fair value loss ~NTHEEE

Assets included in assets of disposal groups
classified as held for sale (note 12(c))

Transfer to investment properties classified as
held for sale

FRERHEE

Carrying amount at end of year

During the year ended 31 March 2016, certain investment properties of
the Group were reclassified as investment properties classified as held
for sale as the carrying amount of the properties would be recovered
principally through a sales transaction as part of the Reorganisation.
The sales transaction was completed in October 2016.
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15.

16.

FEADBAREREMNHEAR
BEMEE (ME12()
BRENERFEHENREDE

WM BERSE®
R2017F3A31H AEBEEDREAR
181,411,000 7T (20164F : 190,028,000 %
) Z LM REFE FIKE - ERR T AL
B —RERITEE (5E26(b)) °

HZE2016F3A31HILFE AEEREE
/3,263,000 L2 BT REFEHH
HMARBIELEIRRDEE  THRZRS L
REFHNEAESIEEBRHERS KD -
REBFIHEZSELHRET  MAFZ
HERSHERARS HBEARELENL
HMREREFRTIE - ZHEXHER20164F
5 A5ERK °

BZE2016F3A3NBLEEE  CRit AN
AREHENHEAREENDEERNE
E51E B85 1,430,000 7T o A F1EIR 85 &R A
EEMREBBERNDENERE -

2017
HK$’000
FExT

2016
HK$’000
THEL

36,900
(5,200)
(1,840)

(15,810)

(14,050)

REZE2016F3A31TALLEE  AEEET
REMECEN OB RFIELEREME -
THRZENEZFHESIEEBERAE
HE—FHH 2 HERXZHWE - ZHEXRHE
20164 10 A5k °
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16.

17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The investment properties of the Group were revalued on 31 March
2016 based on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited, independent firm of professionally
qualified valuers.

At 31 March 2016, the Group’s investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$29,860,000 were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26(c)).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s investment properties (including investment properties
included in the disposal groups and investment properties classified as
held for sale):

16.

REWME »)
AEBMMLEMECN2016F3 A31 HEE
MiEERMPERITEEFEREAEGTR AR
LREEEER -

M2016F3A3TAN  AEBKEEALER
29,860,000/ B THIREMEED THEM - UE
BT AREEN—RIRITEE (M 26(0) -

DR EER
FRAFARBRANE (RIFH AL E@5)
RIANE R RR R B RANE) 2
AFERER -

Fair value measurement using

ARATEFEZZE

Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
TERM IS

#E

(&)

At 31 March 2017 R201743A31H

Recurring fair value BEHEATERE
measurement for:
Investment properties REME

At 31 March 2016 K201653H31H

Recurring fair value BEEATERNE
measurement for:
Investment properties REWE

HK$'000
T

Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EXTEE EBEATTERE
BWABE BABE
(B=%) (B=4) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET FET

29,860 = 29,860

The fair value of investment properties was measured using the direct
comparison method based on market observable transactions of similar
properties without any significant adjustments and hence the investment
properties were classified as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the fair value gain in respect of
the Group’s available-for-sale investments recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to HK$2,350,000.

17.

BEMEZ A TEEHBEUYMEZ ATHRT
BRSGERABELERETE  REEW
BAAR HBREMEZATESRESHE
BEZL -

AHHERE
REE2016F3A3TALFE  EREAM
PR AEEHEEREZA
B 25 42,350,000 7T °

K
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally one month. Each customer has
a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing. They are stated net of provision.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within one month
One to two months
Two to three months
Over three months

B 5 URIA

—fEAR

—Z=MEA
mZE=1EA
HiB=1EA
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18.

B2 RWRIR
2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT TR

913

AEERERFPZESBRREIERTE E
MEP—RARANR - GEH KRR —(E
H-B2EPRABEFEELR - ANEEHEK
Wm 2z USRS B BT - B AR A
BAAEEEE SRR o ER Ll ERAREE
BHRWKIESRRETRES - AT
EEREEETRAR - BHREFIEE /T
FHE - AR REHRIIER -

RBERR - EHREFRIZERASNE
BROMWT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET THTT

246 675
121 140
65 57
22 41

913
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

19.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are neither individually

nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired
Less than one month past due
One to three months past due
Over three months past due

REHIARBUE
BROR—EA
BH—-==EA
BHER={EA

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number

of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of

independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the Directors are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as

there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the

balances are still considered fully recoverable.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

Prepayments
Deposits
Other receivables

Current portion included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Non-current portion

AR IR
Be
H AU RIA

BNEIER D (GHATERRUR -

Be R EAREKRIR)

SERNEER >

18. ESEWFIE &)
T AR RIS e RE B 5 el R B
BT :

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
T THET

675
140
78
20

913

REBTARRENEEFRES ZIREP
B REIMITEELE -

EBHERRENEERIBLES ZBIEP
AR REFRAKEARFERLE - RE
BELR  EERRBANZFTERTIRR
BERE RAEEERIYBERET  Mx
SEBNER AN 2HRE -

19. FAMARIE RERHMERKIA

2017 2016
HK$°000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
3,649 1,461

8,814 6,769
1,234 388

13,697 8,618

(8,672) (4,223)

5,025 4,395

2017568 NEEZEEARAT 141



Notes to Financial Statements

AT 4R R =

31 March 2017 2017 4#3H31H

19.

20.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. Financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, deposits for renovation works of

HK$6,215,000 were refunded by Well Mount to the Group upon
termination of the relevant renovation contract.

GOODWILL

At 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017:

Cost B AR
Accumulated impairment REHRE
Net carrying amount REFE

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired through
business combinations is allocated to the cash-generating unit of elderly
care services operated by Gericare Centre and Ruby International with
a carrying amount of goodwill of HK$31,300,000 and to the cash-
generating unit of elderly care services operated by Hinta Enterprises
with a carrying amount of goodwill of HK$2,533,000 as at 31 March
2017 and 31 March 2016.

The recoverable amount of the elderly home care service cash-
generating units has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections of the two cash-generating units is 13%
(2016: 13%). The cash flows of the cash-generating unit of Gericare
Centre and Ruby International, and Hinta Enterprises are projected
using an annual growth rate of 12% (2016: 12%) and 13% (2016: 13%),
respectively, during the five-year period. The cash flows of the two
cash-generating units beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a growth rate of 3%, which was below the long term average
growth rate of the industry. The recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units estimated from the cash flow forecast exceeds the
carrying amount.
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BANFRIE - e R E A ERRKE
(4)
ERAERMOMRAE - LREBAES
B E SRR VRS R R

REZE2016 F3A31 HILEE » BIF LRI
$6,215,000/8 L EREBBH & MR L&A
EFRETALE® -

[

T

HK$’000
THET

M2016%F3A31H K201743A318 :

33,833

33,833

BERENR

BURERIEM S - R201743 A 31 B %2016
F3A31H  BREBEHMEBSZEES
REREEEZERLRABOEBRMEERE
RIS & ER A E /531,300,008 TR EEL
B URBACEMCELERBEER
A 42,533,000 8 THIR S EL BN - U
ITRERE -

ZEGRBRCEELESUHIKESREHE
REAEE FASREEABSMILERSF
HNRERETERNET - MERSEEEM
MBS REERNFEANBATEIRE AB13%
(20164 : 13%) » IR{EEZP L - L BELEH
BEEACENREEFENRNATHARY
WERETERDBIRFLRE12% (2016 F -
12%) K% 13% (2016 4F : 13%) - A F Hi% W
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20.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the cash-
generating units for 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the gross margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

If the annual growth rate of the cash flows of the cash-generating unit
of Gericare Centre and Ruby International during the five-year period
had decreased to 6.96% with all other variables held constant, the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit would have been
approximately equal to the carrying amount. If the annual growth rate of
the cash flows of the cash-generating unit of Gericare Centre and Ruby
International during the five-year period had decreased to 6.00% with
all other variables held constant, the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit would have exceeded the recoverable amount by
approximately HK$4,657,000.

If the pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections of the
cash-generating unit of Gericare Centre and Ruby International had
increased to 14.7% with all other variables held constant, the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit would have been
approximately equal to the carrying amount. If the pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections of the cash-generating unit of
Gericare Centre and Ruby International had increased to 15% with all
other variables held constant, the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit would have exceeded the recoverable amount by
approximately HK$2,804,000.

20. BE®)

AR AR )
f£ 5 201743 A31H &2016F3HA31H
ReEL e REERRABRR - ATA
EREREARS RERAHHBETHE
AHNEEEBER :

BEEMNX - ARNEEREENEEBENE
ERNERREFEN —FMERNENX -
EIEF R R R AT ISR E MRS -

BERE — FIRAMBERERBAIRERE - &
T BB ERRE -

MREEER O RABEABRBENRSEELS
URhEHAZReEREFERERLZE
6.96% ' MAEAMEHERTE - AIIREGE
BRI E @GR EEREREE © ¥
REZEERORABABRBRORSEESN
REFHAZRSREFERERILE
6.00% ' MPABEEMEEHERITE - AIREE
ABUNNEEHESBRETKRESED
4,657,000 7T °

HREEERORABEOABEENREELSE
2830 & 7 £ TEBI P A O BE A BE 3R R IR N
14.7%  MABHBEBERTE  ARSE
EBEMNTRESEBOBESRIREE - i
RiEEEZPORANELBERNEGELEN
MREREFRAMAOBA MR RIE NS
15% @ MAAEMESGHTE  RSE
FEUNEEESEETRESRN
2,804,000 7T °
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21. BALANCES WITH DIRECTORS
The balances with directors are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the amounts due from directors are as follows:

31 March 2017

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok

31 March 2016

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex
Dr. Ho Chi Tim

21. EHEEWER
HEENEHAIEESH D -
BEETEERSE -

BREEFARFBOT

2017%3H31H

1 April
2016
20165
4R81H
HK$’000
THET

BRE B AE 2,481

Maximum

amount

outstanding

during the year
FRER
BeEH
HK$’000

TR

2,481

2016 F3 A31H

Maximum
amount
outstanding

EER 2B

31 March
2017
20174
3H31H
HK$’000
THET

1 April  during the prior 31 March

2015 year 2016

2015  BEFEHR 20164

4H1H EaeiE 3H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET

BB ST AE 11,897 11,897 2,481
BOTESLE 226 226 =
REE A 204 204 -
SRR E 322 322 -
12,649 2,481
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

23.

Insurance asset (note (a))
Structured financial products (note (b)) wEEES

Current portion

Non-current portion

Notes:

RIREE (FH5E@)

BIEAER

SERNEER >

The Group entered into a life insurance policy with an insurance company
to insure an executive director. Under the policy, the Group is the
beneficiary and the policy holder. The above insurance asset was, upon
initial recognition, designated by the Group as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss. The fair value of the insurance asset is determined
based on the cash surrender value less the surrender charge at the end of
each reporting period.

The above structured financial products which contain an embedded
derivative were, upon initial recognition, designated by the Group as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with a
carrying amount of HK$2,854,000 (2016: HK$7,616,000) were pledged as
security for the Group’s bank loans as at 31 March 2017, as further
detailed in note 26(d) to the financial statements.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

R RIRTTHER

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy

banks with no recent history of default.

mEmS (Biskb)

22, RATFEFABENEMEE

2017
HK$’000
T

2016
HK$’000
TETT

2,755
4,861

7,616
(4,861)

2,755

@ AEBEE-FHREBAFTLERRE  UR
—ERITEE - REZRE - ARERX
BARREFAA - LRBREER DL E
RERAEEARER/EATEFARENE
MEE -RBEEZAFEDEREIREHNK
BHERERRERETE

b  bRAERUEERERASITETR  ROF
RERAEERE/EAF TE'.:H\%EﬁnS’J
SREE -

©) 7N £ E BR T (& 42,854,000 7T (2016 4F ¢
7,616,000 7T) 2 KA FE ABEO SR
BECR2017E3 A31 BIEAREBBRTE
RZER EZHBHARYHERM

26(d) °
ReERkATEEY
2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
175,182 17,268
FRRRITHRSKREARITERAERNTF

B RBEA R - RITERTFRNEBRIT
BT BB WO R0 SR A ERTT

201758 HEEEEEERAT 145



Notes to Financial Statements

AAF5ER R e

31 March 2017 201743/ 31H

24.

25.

TRADE PAYABLES 24,
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within one month —(EAA

One to two months —ZEMIEA
Two to three months MZE=1{E A
Over three months wim=1EA

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and generally have
payment terms of 30 days.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25.

Other payables E b R RIE
Accruals EEtEA

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have average payment
terms of one to three months.
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B 7 EANREA
RBEWHR - BHENRAREEASHE

EVEREC AT

2017
HK$’000
T

1,669

s

2016
HK$000
TAET

2,143
17
70
11

2,241

BHRNFIBTFHAE - ANRE—REB30

B e

Htt B REREE R

2017
HK$’000
FET

8,304
8,296

16,600

2016
HK$’000
THET

6,826
7,066

13,892

Hip N FRETFHFE  FONFHRAE—=

=fanR -
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26.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26.
BORROWINGS

Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity
BRFIE(%) £
Current bk
Finance lease payables (note 27)  RtETAEREN A
(Kizx7)
Bank loans — secured BITER — BEA On demand
REXER
Non-current FRE
Bank loans — secured RITER — BHA

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured by a mortgage over the
Group’s land and buildings, which had an aggregate carrying amount as
at 31 March 2017 of approximately HK$181,411,000 (2016:
HK$190,028,000) (note 15).

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured by a mortgage over the
Group’s investment properties, which had an aggregate carrying amount
as at 31 March 2016 of approximately HK$29,860,000 (note 16).

HK$000

FEL

145,759

177,767

2016
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BIRFI%E(%) g FEL
7.38 2016 60
On demand
104 REXEE
-324 38,513
38,573
1.04 2017
-3.24 -2035 160,023
198,596
(a) AEBEBIRITERABITEHE ©
& FARREI42(E 7 2017 £ 3 A 31

b AEERIRTTS

H#77%181,411,0007% 7T (2016 6F : 190,028,000
PEIT) 2 AR L i AR FEIR AR (i 15) ©

() AEBARITERABEEEERR 201663
A 31 B#)/529,860,000/8 T2 NEBHEY)
FEEEAR (MiEE16) ©
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26.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@

Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by a pledge over the
Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with a carrying
amount as at 31 March 2017 of HK$2,854,000 (2016: HK$7,616,000)
(note 22).

Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are jointly guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

At 31 March 2016, all of the Group’s bank borrowings were secured by
personal guarantees of the Company’s directors, Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Mr.
Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Cho Wing Yin, Mr. Lam Yat Hon and Mr. Shek Kam
Ming. Such personal guarantees were released during the year.

The amounts payable based on the maturity terms of the bank and other
borrowings are analysed as follows:

Bank loans: RITE
Within one year or on demand —FRFIREREE
In the second year E-F

In the third to fifth years, inclusive
Beyond five years

BBREF
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26.

E-=1F (BEEREMF)

STERITREMER 2

Bt - ()

@

REBNE TIRITERARMAER 2017 F
3A31H 42,854,000/ 7T(2016%F : 7,616,000
BIL) ZAEBRATFEFARENERERE
PRI (Pt E22) -

AEENETRITEFHARANE THE
RAEFKREER o

M20164F 3 A31H  REEMMABRITER
HARARBANESETHLEE  REFE

BRI L MRESRERARBALE
KEABRER ZEBAABRERFAE
FRBR o

MRIRIRTT B R E W PR A9 FE A BROE R E A
ROMMT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TR
32,008 31,301
54,379 22,908
42,674 81,444
48,706 62,943
177,767 198,596

-
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27. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 27.
The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles for business use. These
leases are classified as finance leases and have a remaining lease term
of three years.

At 31 March 2017, the total future minimum lease payments under
finance leases and their present values were as follows:

MEHEREMNKIEA
AEEAELETASEEEAR - %5H
ENFARANE  HTAHA=F -

R2017F3A31 08 ALEEREMEAEN
FREEASNREBRLEBEDT ¢

Present value of minimum

Minimum lease payments lease payments
BEESAR BEESAREERE
2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$°000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHxT FAT
Amounts payable: FEATFROE -
Within one year —FR
Total minimum finance lease HIEREHENZKERE
payments
Future finance charges RAREEEH

Total net finance lease payables Bl &THEfEN FIB &

Portion classified as current NEATBEETSS
liabilities (note 26) (20
Non-current portion FERNERER 7>
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28. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 28. REIBRBEASIREE

The Group provides for future long service payments expected to be NEBREESSERBEIIREHBZARRE
made to employees under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The EXMHREARSSIELRE - FRNRER
movements of provision for long service payments during the year are BT -

as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHT
At beginning of year REH) 3,713 3,676
Retirement benefit costs charged to profit or loss 1825 K 80 :3RR3E FIIBK 2N
(current service cost) (BREE RIS ACAR) 870 428
Retirement benefit costs charged to other R E 2 E U A BR AR IR A& R AR

comprehensive income (actuarial loss — (FBEEE — UEERR
financial assumptions)
Benefits paid directly by the employer EEFAEEZNHOEF

during the year (391)
At end of year RER 3,713
The principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows: TRz TEREREZNT :

2016

%

Discount rate ALIE & 1 1
Expected rate of future salary increases RIRFEN 2 FEHAE R R 2.6
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28. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 28. REIBRBE(SRIBE @)

(Continued)
The sensitivity of the long service payments to changes in the weighted EHRENZEEBREAMNBEESNHXE
principal assumptions is as follows: T
Effect on
Change to defined benefit
Assumption adopted rate plan obligation
(EE4 HEBEBEFE
Rt =28 BREZRE
2017 20174
Discount rate BLIA
Expected rate of future salary increases SRR B 2 FE HR I R R
2016 20164
Discount rate BhIR +0.1% -3.0%
-0.1% +3.1%
Expected rate of future salary increases RGN 2 TEEAIE R =R +0.1% +2.2%
-0.1% -2.3%
29. DEFERRED TAX 29, EZEBIIE
2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Deferred tax assets recognised in the RGBT AR RIERARIEFIBE &
consolidated statement of financial position 3,543 3,351
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REETBARRREREEREEE
consolidated statement of financial position (14,784) (14,683)
Deferred tax assets included in the disposal HEARIRMIELERIEE E
groups (note 12(c)) (BtaE12(c)) 44
(11,241) (11,288)
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29. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

29, IEFEFIIE (&)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are

as follows:

At 1 April 2015

Deferred tax credited to the
consolidated statement of profit
or loss during the year

At 31 March 2016 and
1 April 2016

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to
the consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year

At 31 March 2017

R2015F4A1H
FRNELZEEBER
HAHEERE

201653 A31A K
201644 A1H
FRNEGABRER
A (F0BR) B
EIETA

R2017493A31H

RERN  EERBEENRBBNEZBHNOT

Unrealised
fair value
(gain)/loss on

Depreciation
in excess
of related

depreciation

Tax losses investments allowance Total
REZKR

BEAVE BHERTE
BESE (k&) BE  BRENFE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FAT FAT
19 (803) (12,591) (13,375)
611 803 673 2,087
630 - (11,918) (11,288)
155 - (108) 47
785 = (12,026) (11,241)

Certain subsidiaries of the Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong in
total of HK$345,000 (2016: HK$1,154,000) as at 31 March 2017 that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against their future taxable profits

of those companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have

not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is not considered

probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax

losses can be utilised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of

dividends by the Company to its shart

eholders.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
5,000,000,000 (2016: 38,000,000) ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each

Issued and fully paid:
902,880,000 (2016: 1) ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each

The Company was incorporated on 18 August 2015 with an authorised
share capital of HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each. On the same day, one share was allotted and issued to
the initial subscriber at par and such share was subsequently
transferred to Pine Active Care on the same day.

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

30. A&

SERE
5,000,000,0008% (20164 :
38,000,0000% )
F0.01B TR

BEITRET
902,880,0008% (20164 : 1A%)
FA%0.01/8 T A%

2017
HK$’000
T

50,000

2016
HK$’000
TETT

380

RAFR2015%€8 A18 At ML @ A EMK
7K £ 380,000/8 7T * 9 4 38,000,000 A% &A%
EO.O1 BTG - BA - —RBRMIEEE
RERETTNHERBEA  HEZBRBRON
[7 B ¥ Pine Active Care °

RARBEBITRAES 2 #MmT

Nominal

Number of value of

ordinary ordinary

shares shares

ZEREAE ZEREE

Notes HK$'000

ks FHT

On incorporation and as at 31 March 2016 Rtk 2B X R20164E3831H 1 =

Capitalisation issue of shares W E A 31T (a) 647,999,999 6,480

Issuance of new shares ITEI D (o) 216,000,000 2,160

Over-allotment B E (© 38,880,000 389

As at 31 March 2017 20173 H31H 902,880,000 9,029
. Less than HK$1,000 ¥ A1 1,000 7T
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

31.

Notes:

(@) Pursuant to a written resolution passed on 23 January 2017, 647,999,999
shares of HK$0.01 each were allotted and issued, credited as fully paid at
par, by way of capitalisation from the share premium account to the
holders of shares whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on 23 January 2017 in proportion to
their respective shareholdings. These allotment and capitalisation issues
were conditional on the share premium account being credited as a result
of the issue of new shares to the public in connection with the Company’s
initial public offering as detailed in note (b) below.

(b) In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, 216,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$0.69 per share for a
total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$149,040,000. Dealings
in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange commenced on 15
February 2017.

(c) In connection with the exercise of the over-allotment option in full by the
sole global coordinator of the Company’s initial public offering, 38,880,000
shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$0.69 per share for a
total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$26,827,200.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of motivating eligible participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract and retain or
otherwise maintain an on-going business relationship with such eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include
the directors, including independent non-executive directors, executives
or officers of the Group, full-time or part-time employees of the Group,
and advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who in the sole opinion of the directors will contribute or
have contributed to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 23
January 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in issue of the Company immediately following
completion of the Company’s initial public offering, i.e. 86,400,000
shares. The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the Company’s issued
shares from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable
under the share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of
this 1% limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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31.

BT

(@) RBIEN 201761 A23 BRBNEFERER
ARARAEARR R E RN S ERZR
2017 %1 A 23 B4 ¥R BARIE LT A DT
MR E ARG E A S B KRR L iR 5
% it 3% K 217 647,999,999 B £ A% H {E 0.01
B BREEINEREHRNG - BXEE R
BACBITEFROZERARANRREX
ARBEERDABEITHRO MESERE S
AYER - SFEHEA TSI (o) »

(b) BRARRBERAFAEEMS  AARRER
% 1% 0.69 % 7T 3 17 216,000,000 % & A% & &
001 B ITMR - aREGIRFEXA) A
149,040,000 7T © AR &) % 7 722017 &2
R15 BRERBREE -

© RARARERRAARENBRERBAAL
FITEBELRRENS @ A2 RRERRM
0.69 7% JT K {815 %517 38,880,000 i AX E (&
0.01 BITH AR - BIRSNRE IR AT
26,827,200 7T °

BRESE
ApmRABRETE (58] EESD
SERZEERAEBNGERABEARER
MK FEURSIREBRRELEERAEE
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31.

32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance

in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Directors, and commences after a
certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than 10
years from the date of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Directors, but
must be at least of the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; (i) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, no options
have been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.

RESERVES

(@) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

(b) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the reserve arising from the
reorganisation of the Group in the prior years.

31.

32.

BRAEE (2

MES ARAETBTHRABXETERES
HTMBEARLBRE  BEECBIIE
BITESRME - 1IN BEARARREE
REKBIIFATETHHEMBEARLY
WERE  RNEMT@EASRBRERAT
FEHEEZEITRMHNA%REAEEELE
AARR BRI ERETE)mH 5,000,000 7T -
AR RA G F R ER A -

RARAXNE I BTZRBARER - &
HERENZOTTREREZEHEA21IAR
B REMBERETESHESET I
RETHEBHERL  ERENRLBRE
RHEF T2 RER -

EEMETBRETEE  EETBERT
JmEENRARRO N E2BRER R
B PTINTE « () A ARRNNREERER
M2 I AAER 5 B 2 B3P F U (B ¢+ Baii)
AABBRMDEOEE °

BRI BT TI5A A ERR SN ARR
RELRRARER -

BEZEMBHREL S - BIEB KNG
BN PARER BB AR o

R

(a) ~£KH
AEBEREARBTFENRESER
HEHNTBRERNGAEERZERF

25 -

(b) EOHEME
AP EEATE AR R BB (4 EARRS
7 B -
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. HEMEAFE

Best Luck and

Added Twist Giant Success Total
2017 2017 2017
BEFR
Added Twist =18 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT Fix FHT
Net assets disposed of: PR EEEFR
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB KRR
Investment properties EYE
Deferred tax assets EERIRA E 43
Trade receivables B SR EIE 7
Inventories cass 187

Prepayments, deposits and other

BNFR - e RED

receivables PN FRIE (] 350
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBeEFEY 178 1,727
Other payables and accruals H b e FE R ERTE A (120) (130)
Trade payables B S ENRIE = (12)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHERITE R (5,969) (5,969)
Tax payable FEITRIR (18) (116)

17,037 19,059
Loss on disposal of discontinued HEBRIEEEEBEE
operations (note 12(a)) (FzE12(@)) (1,190) (1,190)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

6 — R B B A B ke

(note 7) (HIE7) 34
Satisfied by: ATFIF LA
Cash B& 832
Consideration offset against RABEIHERAR B
dividend payable (note 34) (FfzE34) 17,071 17,071
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33.

34.

35.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

Cash consideration RerE

Cash and bank balances disposed of ~ FriH &I & RiR1T4E

Net outflow of cash and cash HEHBARNES KRS
equivalents in respect of the ZLEMRFRE

disposal of subsidiaries

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transaction

During the year, the Company declared a special dividend of
HK$25,561,000 to its then shareholder, which was settled by offsetting
the consideration receivable for the disposal of Giant Success by the
Group to Pine Active Care of HK$17,071,000 and the net consideration
receivable for the disposal of certain investment properties classified as
held for sale by the Group to Giant Success of HK$8,490,000 (after
netting off the related outstanding mortgage loan of HK$5,560,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2016, the Group provided guarantees to banks in
connection with facilities of approximately HK$19,016,000 granted to a
related company jointly owned by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok and Ms. Cho
Wing Yin, directors of the Company, which were utilised to the extent of
approximately HK$18,016,000. Such guarantee was released upon the
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange in February
2017.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of
a bank guarantee in lieu of a deposit in favour of a landlord amounting
to HK$682,000.

33.

HEMB AR (@)
HEHBATNESRASZEMIR LS
MR -

Best Luck and

Added Twist Giant Success Total
B=F Rk

Added Twist PN wEt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FAT

832 - 832

(1,549) (178) (1,727)

(717) (178) (895)

34. REHESRERMEE

35.

BEAFRERS

FR AR MEERRRERSHRE
25,561,000 7C - AR EALHHEHAER
M Pine Active Care it & =18 2 E R &
17,071,000 TR A EBMAEBLES T
PHEARBFELENREME L BRHREFE
8,490,000 8 7t (RN HE R E B IRIBE R
5,560,000 8 L&) M) 5 AT ©

RAREE

R2016F3A31 A AEBMPARREER
TREEERERF L L ERBEENEH AR
ERBBLE 419,016,000 st MR 1T IR AL 4
R ZEMACEHAL18,016,0008 T F
BERENRAQRRMNE2017F2 AEHR
BT ET {8 R R -

R2016F3A31H ' AEEFB—EHRXE
EEMBRTERRBEZSENKNAEBESR
682,000 7T °
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its car parking spaces and residential units
under operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms ranging from one to two years.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its elderly centres under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for these properties are negotiated
for terms ranging from two to six years. At 31 March 2017, the
Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

hFR

After five years

In addition, the operating lease rentals for certain elderly centres
are based on the higher of a fixed rental and a contingent rent
depending on the revenue of these elderly centres pursuant to
the terms and conditions as set out in the respective rental
agreements. As the future revenue of these elderly centres could
not be reliably determined, the relevant contingent rent has not
been included above and only the minimum lease commitments
have been included in the above table.
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36. REHEZH

(a)

F_E=F0F (BEREEMSF)

(b)

F_E=F0F (BEEEMSF)

ERHBEA
FEERBEEHELHALEESR
EEEL FEFNEANTF =W
& o

R2017E3A31H  AREEREAT
BUHEERER AT B EAORRK
SEMAEMFREENT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
449

24

473

EREBA
AEERBESEHELHFHAERERR
S0 - ZEMELERNESMNF =
ZRFR2017F3A31H - A5 E
RBETAHEEEEHAERIATRIE A fE
M RRFERENFBRENT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT THT
11,201 11,696
24,672 16,219
3,459 =
39,332 27,915

SN - ARYRAR FE A £ 155 8 PR EUIGR 16k
o REREDPONKEHERE IR
EEHSEBRNZEFLER ST LK
HHIAEE RS EET - BRZE
22 e & D B R SR UK B R BE 2 i T
EMABERAHSYESEELR L
REFASZERERSE -
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37. COMMITMENTS
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 36(b)
above, the Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

EETAMB R -
THREF

Contracted, but not provided for:
Land and buildings

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions

with related parties:

AR AR PR 2 A ]
Mt zEERx

Rental expenses paid to a company
controlled by the Controlling
Shareholders

R B IR ER AT 2 A A
ZHBHA

Rental income from a company
controlled by the Controlling
Shareholders

Visiting medical service fees paid toa Xt FARA & FHIB A A

director of certain subsidiaries of the

Company and a former director of BEZIGHBERBE

the Company

Sl N e /NG|

Purchases of medicines from a
company controlled by the
Controlling Shareholders

Notes:

(i) The rentals were determined at rates mutually agreed by the
relevant parties.

The service fees were determined at rates in accordance with the
terms and conditions set out in the contracts entered into between

(i)

the relevant parties.

The purchases were conducted at prices mutually agreed between
the relevant parties.

—REERART G

37. &iE
M b SR 5 36(b) BT 5 it Y 45 & FH E AR HE S -
RIMEHR - REBBEAE T EANRIE :

2017 2016
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT THET

38. BEEARS
(a) BHBREREMIDFFLROZHIN -
AEBEHEHBEHRHETATRS -

2017
HK$’000
T

2016
HK$’000
TR

Notes

Bt

(i) 660

(i)

0} SRS ERHENLEETE -

PR BIRRIBARRE T AT SLZ B KIFAHL
R R RTRAZ L R EEE ©

(i) BB BB 7 G AR E M BAR#ETT ©
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Other transactions with related parties

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2016, Mr. Yim Ting
Kwok, a director of the Company, has guaranteed to a
landlord in respect of the due performance of the
obligations under an operating lease arrangement of a
subsidiary of the Group, under which the annual rental
expense was HK$528,000.

(ii) During the year, the Group disposed of its entire interests
in Best Luck and Added Twist to Pine Care River, a
company controlled by the Controlling Shareholders, as
part of the Reorganisation, for a consideration of
HK$675,000 and HK$157,000, respectively. These
transactions were completed on 19 August 2016.

(iii) During the year, the Group disposed of its entire interest in
Giant Success to Pine Active Care, a company controlled
by the Controlling Shareholders, as part of the
Reorganisation, for a consideration of HK$17,071,000.
This transaction was completed on 19 August 2016.

(ivy  Upon the completion of the transaction in (jii) above, during
the year, the Group disposed of certain investment
properties to Giant Success for an aggregate
consideration of HK$14,050,000. These transactions were
completed in October 2016.

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties
Details of the Group’s balances with the Company’s directors as
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 21 to the
financial statements.

(d) The compensation of key management personnel of the Group

for the year represented the directors’ emoluments as disclosed
in note 9 to the financial statements.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

38. BEARS (@)

HEBSNEMRS
() REBZE2016FE3 A31BILFE -
AAREERTETHEER—BE
I?fﬁ%i%;?‘gﬁakﬁl—ﬁﬁﬁfﬁ?“
RS ERHETERIED
ﬁ%’f%v BHFEAEHE XA
528,000/8 7T °

i) FA AEEEHEERBZTE
Added Twist B 2 3B # 75 T 12 /%
fi% B #22 5l #9 2 B] Pine Care River
EREHAN—HD  REDHA
675,000 7T & 157,000 JT °
FZERPH20165F8 A 19H =R °

(i) FA AEBHEEREZENSE
s TR RGN A A
Pine Care River £ & E 42 &) — &8
2 REBAE17,071,0008 T ° 3%
£ 5120168 A19HFEK °

(iv)  REX(i)BRFTHIE - REH
REALEETFTREVET R
18 8 {85 14,050,000 T °
ZEXHN20164F 10 A% -

SRS HARRERER
RBEHR - AEBEAD R EENE
BRI BRI 21 P -

REEFZEEABNFERNFMEY
BRRMEOMBEEZEEME
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

39. BEoWELTMEMTA
REHR SR T A ENERERENT :

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 March 2017 2017%3H31H

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

EEMEE

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

Designated as

such upon
initial
recognition
RAFEFA
BENSREE
R SRR
fBE

HK$’000
THET

B 5 R HR
BAFEFABRSNEREE

FEABNRIE - ZE R
HiRBFENEREE

ReLREEED

EEEE

B RENFE

Loans and
receivables

BERK WA
HK$’000
TR

454

13,697
175,182

189,333

At
HK$’000
FET

454

2,854

13,697
175,182

192,187

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBHRATTE
HEREaEs
HK$’000

THET

1,684

SEARMENFIEREAERNSRAE
FHERIT R EARER

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 16,600

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 177,767

196,051
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
31 March 2016

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Due from directors

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

Due to directors

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

B 5 RHIR
BATEFABRRNEREE

FPATRNRUR - BE K
HRUWENEREE

FEREETRIA
RE MRS EEY

39. B EETHNEMIE )

20163 431 H

TREE

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

B ENTR

FENEEFIA
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sHRRTT R E A EK

Designated
as such upon Loans and

initial recognition receivables Total
BRATFERA
BafemEE
RIS HERES

BE ERRERGIEA st

HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FET

- 913 913

7,616 - 7,616

= 8,618 8,618

- 2,481 2,481

- 17,268 17,268

7,616 29,280 36,896
A=A

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

RS ANET

ENeRARE

HK$’000

FHET

2,241

AR MENKIBERESERNSRAE 13,892

4,583

198,596

219,312
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts

AREE [FE

Note HK$’000

FiEE
Financial liabilities: SRAEME:
Interest-bearing bank and £t 88877 R E b &%
other borrowings 26 177,767

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in deposits and
other receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables, balances
with the directors and the current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer. The finance department
analyses the measurements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation, which is reviewed
and approved by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own
non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as
at 31 March 2017 and 2016 was assessed to be insignificant. The fair
values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings approximated to their carrying amounts as at 31 March
2017 and 2016.

40. RITENATFERATFEER

AEENSRIA(TEEROESBEEQT
BEeEBEEENSR TR NREERATEN
T

Fair values
2016 2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET THET

198,596 177,767 198,596

ERECHEREMNASEEY BEHEK
FOR AT ARE REMBKRTIRNEREE -
FPARMENRENESRAE REENE
BUARGT BRI REMERNNHLL 22

FEEEREERS -
REINEIE -

TEARZEFLAR

AEBMPBEEIENYBHEERTS
BTARFEFENBRERER - BI5KRE
BERAMBRERS - UBHEOMERBMTA
MEEFETHEELETMERANIEGA
B ZAEHTIEEER R -

EREENBBENATFEAZTARAR
7 (MIFRARBFREE) EMNRS TE’]T
RHEEAR -

TR REAMERIERARSHAFER
FAKR  FERBREBTFHEENTIA
B AMS R R BET AR AR REFTH ©
KA - R2017 5 KX 20165E3 A 318 - ZKE
EEHmst S RITREMEBERZENRR

TERX - 120176 KX20165F3 A31H - aJrE'\
RITREAMERGENPBOHAFERELR
EEEE -
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
The fair value of structured financial products has been estimated using
discounted cash flow valuation models based on observable inputs
such as specified stock prices, foreign exchange rates and discount
rates. The investments are classified as level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

The fair value of the insurance asset measured at fair value through
profit or loss is based on the cash surrender value less the surrender
charge calculated and provided by the insurance company at the end
of each reporting period. The Group paid an upfront premium for the
policy and may surrender the policy at any time by making a request in
written form to the insurance company and receive cash based on the
then surrender value less the surrender charge of the policy. In the
opinion of the Directors, the surrender value less the surrender charge
of the policy provided by the insurance company is the best
approximation of the fair value, which is categorised as level 3.

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2017:

g

40. TWMITENATFERLAFLEER

(%)
EEMERERNATEDERBERESR
EHEERITERATERE AR (R ER
B IMEEXRRERRE) HEHEH - ZRED
RFEEFEDBRE M -

BRATEFABSENRBREEZATEES
HEMRBOSRHRBRARFERREHOR
RERFE - AEEERZREAREER
E - RNMERRRAERRAREEHE@EX
BERRE TRERNBEOHSERRERR
REE - BERR BHODRRBRABRM
MEREBARAFENSKEAUE  ®OK
RE=ZR -

TRINAEESRTANAFEFESH :
BEATEFENEE
MA2017E3831 8 :

Fair value measurement using

ARAFEFEZZH

Quoted prices  Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EATEE BEATATHE

SERTISRE BARE BABE

(B—&) (B=&) (B=4) st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Financial assets at fair value BATEFTABEDN
through profit or loss ERMEE
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. ¢RI TEWATFERAFEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (Continued)
As at 31 March 2016:

]

Financial assets at fair value RAFEFTABEN
through profit or loss ERMEE

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 March 2017:

Interest-bearing bank and other 5t B4R1T R E b E R

borrowings

(%)
RAVERENEE | (@)
72016438310 :

Fair value measurement using

RARAFEFEZ 28

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BRABE BEATAEE
TERTISRE AR SR
(B—H) (B=#) (B=#) Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
S 4,861 2,755 7,616
BEAFEZAE:

A2017E38318 :

Fair value measurement using
ARATEFEZSH
Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)
EXRTAEER
BWABE
(B=#)

HK$’000
THET

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)

inputs
(Level 2)
BEARAHE
BABE
(=%
HK$’000
FTHET

&R 5 R E
(E—#&)

HK$°000

TERT

At
HK$’000
FEx

177,767 177,767
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2016:

ERMIANAFERAIFESR
()
KEATEZEHE: @

7201653 A 31 H

Fair value measurement using

RATEF 2228

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERAEBE BEATAEHE

R TIS B ARUE B ABUE
(-4 (B=) (B=) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET TET TET

Interest-bearing bank and other  HER1T R EABERR

borrowings = 198,596 = 198,596

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  41.

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise trade and other
receivables, cash and bank balances, trade and other payables,
balances with the directors and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations.

Management meets periodically to analyse and formulate measures to
manage the Group’s exposure to financial risks, including principally
credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group has no
significant exposure to foreign currency risk. Generally, the Group
employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk management.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise
cash and bank balances, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

There is no significant concentration of credit risk in relation to the
Group’s financial assets. Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates principally to the
Group’s bank loans which are based on the Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate. The Group mitigates the risk by monitoring closely the
movements in interest rates and reviewing its banking facilities regularly.
The Group has not used any interest rate swap to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2017, if the interest rates on borrowings had been 25
basis points higher/lower, which was considered reasonably possible
by management, with all other variables held constant, the profit after
tax for the year then ended would have been decreased/increased by
approximately HK$393,000 (2016: HK$486,000) as a result of higher/
lower interest expenses on bank borrowings.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of

funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans. In addition, banking
facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments,
was as follows:

As at 31 March 2017:

On demand or

within 1 year

RERMEE

H—FR

HK$’000

FET

Trade payables B SEMNFE 1,684
Other payables and accruals HibEFUERETER

Interest-bearing bank and other FTRRTREMER

borrowings

B REREEEERBER @)

2= B
AEBMARZFZRRTERRNEEILZE
BIRITREREFENRITEREM - A%
EERTERTEIN RN EEH MEHER
TRVE KRR o A& B E(E B ERF X
1R EAA S A R @ o

R2017F3A31H  MERFRIZERER
BRI, R 25 EED  MATBH
MEHERFTE  ABEEFIERBEERER
EERITIE A BB A, i L 18
HN#7393,00058 7T (2016 £ : 486,000/87T) °

REBETER
AEENRBREBERRTREREEASTE
S SR I 2 BB T - BeSh - A
ERTRTRENBESZA -

RB|ERR - AEBERFTORBIRA KD
CRBENHAMENT

M201753A31H

In the
second year

B
HK$'000
FTET

142,454

142,454

3to
5 years

=zn%
HK$'000
FHR

Over
5years

BBEF
HK$'000
TET

Total
@t
HK$'000
FExT

1,684
16,600

182,754

201,038
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
As at 31 March 2016:

Trade payables B SENFE

Other payables and accruals HAENFIERETER

Due to directors ENEEHE

Interest-bearing bank and other TRRITREMER
borrowings

Guarantees given to a bank in AR TEBARE

connection with facilties granted RERITIRAMER
to a related company
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41. BEEREEEERBE ®)

REBESEK#)
A2016 38318 :
On demand or In the 3to Over
within 1 year second year 5 years 5 years Total
REKEE
L—FR FF =EhRF AR w5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
2,241 - - - 2,241
13,892 - - - 13,892
4,583 - - - 4,583
41,352 87,461 72,097 4,470 205,380
18,016 - - - 18,016
80,084 87,461 72,097 4,470 244,112
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

41, BERREEEERBE @)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure
that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group mainly relies on bank and other borrowings for financing its
operations. The Group manages a net gearing ratio being the total
amount of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings less cash and
cash equivalents divided by net assets. The net gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERITRHALE K

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt FaE
Net assets BEFHR
Net gearing ratio FEREABHE

R RREEEY

BXEE
AEMARERNEERBRARREREE
MERLE UXHHEBRBBRABRRK
A -

AEBRARCEEAZHERLABRLER
- RTHBIHBRELREE  AEET
MBI PR - RRRREBE AR
BATHRL - NEE E BERMIBIT REMER
REEBRRES -AEENFEERBLE
N BRRITEEMBETRRE MRS EEY
BUEEFEANE NBEPRNFEER
BT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
177,767 198,596
(175,182) (17,268)
2,585 181,328
208,209 63,919
1.24% 283.68%
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42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

@)

On 3 April 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with independent third parties to acquire the entire
equity interest of a private company operating an existing care
and attention home situated in Hong Kong. The purchase
consideration of HK$15,880,000 for the acquisition was in the
form of cash. The transaction was completed on 5 April 2017.
Further details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 April 2017.

On 25 April 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of its entire
equity interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary, PCCL, which is
engaged in the provision of elderly home care services, at a
consideration of HK$6,640,000. The transaction is subject to the
fulfilment of certain conditions precedent and has not been
completed up to the date of approval of these financial
statements. Further details of the transaction are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 25 April 2017.

On 20 June 2017, the directors resolved to declare an interim
dividend of HK1.68 cents per ordinary share to the Company’s
shareholders, representing a total of approximately HK$15.2
million, for the year ending 31 March 2018.
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42, {EHEZEE

@)

R2017F4A38 AEBMBEBIE=
AR —IHE B AUE — S &L
REBHEEEELERNTLARREZ
B A% AE o Uk B8 1R 18 15,880,000 7% 7T Jb
NE & EAEL - XHER2017 54
RA5BTK - FAZR HME— PG
FRAARIBHAE2017F4B5BHA

==

R2017F4 258 AEEHE—ZB
VEZHRN-HEERZ  UHEE
RE2EMBRRPCCL(RERMHLE
RERBE) MK E REA
6,640,000 70 - X HAFFER S T 5L
SRR AEE - BEEZSHHERER
HEBHAMARTER - BEZSHHE—
SHBHEHNAARBEAB2017F4 A
25BHMRE -

M20174E6 A208 » EFRHBAARRD
AR REIRE £20184E3 A31 A I 4F
EhERE SR RER1.687EL - A
AHMI52AEET
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COMPANY

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investment in a subsidiary

Total non-current asset

CURRENT ASSETS
Due from a subsidiary
Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITY
Due to a director

Total current liability

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITY

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves (note)

Total equity

3 Less than HK$1,000

FRBEE
R—REH B R RNERE

FERBEELRR
RBEE

JEU— I 88 X R IR
RE MIRTTHRERR

BB EAR

REBEE
e —HBEFKIA

RBAEARE

REBEEFHE

REERRBAE

BEFHR

L

BERITHRA
(M)

ey

e iEEE

43.

RAFBMBARRR

ARERRERROPBEARRREHNOT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT TETT

157,799 -

157,799 =

157,799 =

157,799 =

157,799 >

9,029 —

148,770 -

157,799 =

1,000
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. XA R EMRRE @)

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: BT -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RATREEEEOT ¢
Share
premium Retained
account profits Total
BRARER REER st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET FAT
On incorporation and at 1 April 2016 e S k2016554 A1H - - -
Profit and total comprehensive income FEREFEEEBALEE
for the year - 25,561 25,561
Capitalisation issue of shares &P E AL BT (6,480) - (6,480)
Issuance of new shares BATHIRD 173,319 - 173,319
Share issue expenses BRI (18,069) - (18,069)
Special dividend RIS - (25,561) (25,561)
At 31 March 2017 M2017463A31H 148,770 - 148,770

44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44, BRBEHRRK
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the AEHRERN2017F6 A20HEEELEIB
board of directors on 20 June 2017. RIERET)E -
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